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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Welcome to this

          3  hearing on the Parks Committee. My name is Wendell

          4  Foster, and today we will consider several bills. We

          5  have divided it into sections. Intro. Number 323, by

          6  Council Member O'Donovan in relation to Florence

          7  Semple Way, Staten Island.

          8                 Intro. Number 356, by Council Member

          9  Freed, in relation to Commissioner Lin Ze Xu Square,

         10  Manhattan.

         11                 Intro. Number 397, by Council Member

         12  Cruz, in relation to Reverend Wesley G. Janzen

         13  Place, the Bronx.

         14                 In the second part of today's hearing

         15  we will consider two proposed local laws and two

         16  Resolutions all pertaining to the Greenthumb

         17  Community Garden program.

         18                 These items are:

         19                 Intro. Number 519, by Council Members

         20  Carrion, DiBrienza, Eisland, Koslowitz, Michels and

         21  Reed, by request of the Bronx Borough President,

         22  also Council Members Foster, Leffler and Quinn,

         23  would prohibit the City from selling, auctioning,

         24  exchanging, leasing or otherwise alienating any real

         25  property used as a Greenthumb Community Garden.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 Intro. Number 522, by Council Members

          3  Fisher, DiBrienza, Malave-Dilan, Eisland, Koslowitz,

          4  Marshall, Michels, Reed and Rodriguez, by request of

          5  the Brooklyn Borough President, also Council Members

          6  Carrion, Leffler, Robinson, Quinn and Eldridge,

          7  would impose a one-year moratorium on the sale or

          8  transfer of any real property being used as a

          9  Greenthumb Community Garden.

         10                 After this one-year period, real

         11  property being used as a Greenthumb Community Garden

         12  could not be sold without a prior joint review by

         13  the affected Community Board, Borough President and

         14  the City Council.

         15                 Both of these proposed local laws

         16  would require the approval of the voters in a

         17  referendum to take effect.

         18                 Resolution Number 631, by Council

         19  Members Carrion, Fisher, DiBrienza, Eisland, Henry,

         20  Koslowitz, Michels and Rodriguez; also Council

         21  Members Foster, Leffler, Marshall, O'Donovan,

         22  Robinson, Quinn and Eldridge, calls upon the State

         23  Legislature to amend the New York City Charter to

         24  permit the City Council to revisit the ULURP

         25  designations approved by the Board of Estimate on
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          2  Greenthumb Community Garden properties more than a

          3  decade ago.

          4                 Without such state legislation, the

          5  process through which Greenthumb Community Gardens

          6  are scheduled to be auctioned off next month cannot

          7  be affected by this Council. This State legislation

          8  would not require a referendum to take effect.

          9                 Resolution number 686, by Council

         10  Members Boyland, Leffler and Reed; also Council

         11  Members DiBrienza, Fisher, Henry, Marshall, Michels,

         12  Rodriguez, Sabini, Watkins and White, calls upon the

         13  State Legislature to pass A.3669/S.2127, sponsored

         14  by Assemblyman James Brennan and State Senator John

         15  Sampson, which would protect Greenthumb Community

         16  Gardens from being sold by designating them as

         17  parkland.

         18                 There are over 700 Greenthumb

         19  community gardens spread across the City of New

         20  York. They are largely on rubbish strewn abandoned

         21  properties which were converted through hard work,

         22  commitment and love into beautiful productive

         23  community assets. In a city with a great shortage of

         24  open space, with thousands of vacant lots crying out

         25  for development, it is hard to fathom the need to
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          2  bull doze Greenthumb Community Gardens in the name

          3  of progress.

          4                 We will begin by hearing from

          5  witnesses on the three proposed street name changes.

          6  We will begin with the street name by Council Member

          7  Freed, in relation to a street.

          8                 Let me hear, before we hear from

          9  Councilwoman Freed. With these term limits it is

         10  difficult to identify where we are and where we are

         11  going.

         12                 To my immediate left is Councilwoman

         13  Freed, who represents this district, and she is kind

         14  enough to give us passes to come to this hall each

         15  time we meet. It is her district.

         16                 To her immediate left is Council

         17  Member Povman, from Queens. To his left is Council

         18  Member Golden of Brooklyn, and Council Member

         19  Eristoff of Manhattan, and to my right is Council

         20  Member Reed and to his right is Council Member

         21  Pinkett, and between us is our legal counsel, Mr.

         22  Pers.

         23                 Council Member Reed wanted to say a

         24  quick statement because he has to go back next door

         25  for the Public Safety.
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          2                 Council Member Reed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair.

          5                 I have read over all of the pieces

          6  that are here and are in support of them, and of

          7  course I am always aware of the work that has gone

          8  into the community in terms of the street naming, it

          9  is always something that I look at humbly about the

         10  amount of work New Yorkers put in when they are

         11  unrecognized. So, I applaud all of these efforts and

         12  I have signed onto the bills, in terms of the

         13  Greenthumb program, I will attempt to be back in

         14  here, unfortunately I am not sure. I think other

         15  members are both voting members of the Public Safety

         16  Committee and this Committee, so we are torn between

         17  both and I don't want people to think that I am not

         18  interested in your gardens or the street namings if

         19  I am back and forth here today.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         22  Council Member Reed. Now we will hear from Council

         23  Member Freed in reference to Intro. Number 356.

         24                 Council Member Freed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Chair.

          3                 I am very thrilled, and it is a

          4  privilege today to be able to offer this street name

          5  change creating a Commissioner Lin Ze Xu Square,

          6  from East Broadway between Oliver Street and

          7  Catherine Street, all within Chatham Square. And I

          8  particularly want to thank the Lin Ze Xu Foundation

          9  who initially approached me about the street name

         10  changing and who also, by the way, have erected a

         11  statute to Commissioner Lin Ze Xu, which is now in

         12  the traffic island at Chatham Square, and it stands

         13  next to Kimlau Square.

         14                 Just because many people here may not

         15  be aware of the relevance of Commissioner Lin Ze Xu,

         16  maybe I can just give you a general, a little bit of

         17  background.

         18                 Commissioner Lin Ze Xu is considered

         19  a national hero in China, specifically for his fight

         20  against narcotics, which was done during the Ching

         21  Dynasty. He is considered the first person to

         22  literally have declared war against drugs.

         23                 In the 18th century, the British,

         24  after their conquest of India, found that certain

         25  areas of India were especially fertile for the
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          2  growing of poppies from which opium is derived.

          3                 The East Indian company was

          4  established to purchase the Indian poppies and sell

          5  that opium to China. Between 1729 and 1832 the

          6  British sales of opium jumped from about 40,000

          7  pounds to over three and a half million pounds.

          8  Needless to say, this created a huge problem in

          9  China itself, to those who suddenly, so many people

         10  were suddenly subjected to the sale of opium and the

         11  impact that it had on the entire country.

         12                 On December 31st, 1838, Lin Ze Xu was

         13  appointed by the Emperor Guangdong as the Imperial

         14  Commissioner to wipe out the opium addiction in

         15  Guangdong. He confiscated almost two and a half

         16  million, what are called Jin, which are about

         17  1,400,000 kilograms of opium all together. He

         18  supervised the destruction of the opium during the

         19  23-day campaign that was characterized as being, and

         20  I quote, with the power of a thunderbolt and speed

         21  of lightning, beginning on June 3rd of 1839.

         22                 People from the coastal areas, as

         23  well as the foreigners residing in Guangdong were

         24  invited to witness the destruction of the opium so

         25  as to serve as a lesson to them.
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          2                 Commissioner Lin Ze Xu oversaw the

          3  construction of the opium in Canton. In fact, this

          4  was what ignited what came to be known as opium war

          5  with the British. The war lasted for some three

          6  years, China lost. They lost the war and Lin Ze Xu

          7  was ejected from his position, but in the country of

          8  China he became a symbol of more resistance to the

          9  invasion of drugs, whatever its source. And in fact,

         10  the UN has declared June 26th, which is the day

         11  after the completion of the opium destruction as

         12  international anti-narcotic day.

         13                 Again, I can only say that in China

         14  itself, Commissioner Lin Ze Xu remains a hero,

         15  fighting on behalf of not only China, but

         16  particularly fighting against the ravages that drugs

         17  can inflict on a country and a people. And because

         18  of that, as I said, I am proud to sponsor the street

         19  name change.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         22  much, Council Member Freed.

         23                 Let me say we are going to stop

         24  briefly to set up some chairs. Before we do that, we

         25  have a heavy agenda, people are outside trying to
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          2  get in, the Chairman's arbitrary position is that we

          3  cannot hear everyone who is signing up to be heard.

          4  If we do that, we will not be able to vote.

          5                 I am suggesting that instead of all

          6  of you testifying, if you would just like your name

          7  on the record in favor or against, you may come when

          8  you are called and say that.

          9                 If we have more than two people

         10  testifying for each bill, we will be here, like we

         11  were the last time, nine and a half hours and have

         12  nothing done. We would have to come back again.

         13                 Now, I am on the clock, which means I

         14  am being paid to stay here, and I have gotten the

         15  permission of my wife and daughter to spend as much

         16  time as I have to, which means I can stay here. Some

         17  of you may have other places to go. But I want you

         18  to consider the fact that this was not anticipated

         19  of having such a large group to testify, and

         20  therefore we cannot hear everyone, and I know your

         21  testimony is important, so if you can simply say you

         22  are in favor or against, and then we can move on and

         23  get some voting done.

         24                 If you have a written statement, that

         25  will go into the record, all right? If you represent
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          2  more than -- let's say this. Last time we had five,

          3  six, seven -- up to nine people testifying on one

          4  bill, we can't do that today. It is not fair to

          5  other folks.

          6                 Now, if you want to testify, those of

          7  you who insist on testifying, we will place yours

          8  last and then come back to you after we finish the

          9  other schedule.

         10                 We are going to take a two-minute

         11  recess while we try and do this.

         12                 In the meantime, those of you who

         13  must testify, now you may, if you must, but you must

         14  need not (sic).

         15                 (Recess taken.)

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Wong. Mr.

         17  Tam. Mr. Irving YY Lin. Mr. Pchin and Robin Ju. Will

         18  you come up to the table, please. I am sure that

         19  your testimony won't be more than one minute each,

         20  right? So we can hear other people. We will give

         21  others a right to express their yes or no.

         22                 We have been joined by Council Member

         23  Provenzano from the Bronx.

         24                 Gentlemen, we are going to ask if you

         25  could try and limit your testimony.
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          2                 We will start with Mr. Wong, I

          3  believe. I don't want to limit you, but I must.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 MR. WONG: Good afternoon, ladies and

          6  gentlemen. My name is Steven Wong, and I am the

          7  Chairman of Lin Ze Xu Foundation of USA.

          8                 On behalf of the Foundation, I am

          9  here to support the proposal of renaming the area of

         10  East Broadway from Oliver Street to Catherine Street

         11  as Commissioner Lin Ze Xu Square.

         12                 This is only a rename, not a

         13  replacement on Kimlau Square.

         14                 On November 1997, the statue of Lin

         15  Ze Xu was erected on a traffic island in Chatham

         16  Square, next to Kimlau Square. The monument of

         17  Chinese-American veterans. The memorial is a

         18  testament to the fighting spirit of

         19  Chinese-American, to the evil invasion of dictators.

         20  The statue of Commissioner Lin, the first who dared

         21  to say no to the drugs, is a testament to the

         22  fighting spirit of the American citizens and to the

         23  fighting spirits of the human race against all evil

         24  invasion of drugs.

         25                 Two statues in Chatham Square
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          2  complement each other, body and soul.

          3                 Ladies and gentlemen, I am here to

          4  urge you to support to see Chatham Square becoming

          5  the landmark of good against bad, democracies

          6  against dictators, against evil. I urge you to

          7  support the proposal 356.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Next, please.

         10  Whoever is next.

         11                 MR. LIN: As a fifth descendant of

         12  Commissioner Lin, it is a great pleasure for me to

         13  attend the meeting for the proposal of renaming an

         14  area of East Broadway, from Oliver Street.

         15                 First of all, I would like to thank

         16  Ms. Kathryn Freed, the New York City Council, for

         17  her proposal 356, for supporting the proposal.

         18                 As you know, the opium war has past

         19  170 years, 1839 to 1999. The drug situation is more

         20  serious than ever before. It is one of the major

         21  global problems in the world today.

         22                 We have to do something right now.

         23  There can't be any further delays. For this reason,

         24  we hope Lin Ze Xu Foundation here in America can

         25  coordinate with other organizations, such as UN, WHO
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          2  and other organizations to work together

          3  hand-in-hand to launch a nationwide, as well as

          4  worldwide, campaign of the no drug movement for the

          5  benefit of all human beings, for world peace.

          6                 I support proposal 356. Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 MR. JU: My name is Robin Ju, and I am

         11  the attorney for Lin Ze Xu Foundation. I was going

         12  to give a historical perspective on Commissioner

         13  Lin, but since Councilwoman Kathryn Freed has

         14  eloquently done that, I will keep my remarks very

         15  short.

         16                 As Councilwoman Freed has said, China

         17  lost the opium war and paid a heavy price. It lost

         18  Hong Kong in perpetuity, signed a lease for Caldun,

         19  which is on the north of Hong Kong, for 99 years,

         20  paid $6 million for the destruction of the opium in

         21  Canton, and another $12 million for the reparation

         22  of the cost Britain incurred in the war, opened up

         23  five cities, including Canton and Shang Hai foreign

         24  occupation and accepted the legalization of the

         25  invitation of opium in China.
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          2                 Now, as you all know, Hong Kong and

          3  Caldun were returned to China two years ago when the

          4  99-year lease on Caldun expired. The last page of

          5  the opium war is now written and a part of history

          6  has come full circle.

          7                 Commissioner Lin, whose valiant but

          8  futile efforts, cost him his job, is now a member of

          9  the Chinese historical figures, who not only said no

         10  to drugs but did something about it.

         11                 A statue of Commissioner Lin was

         12  erected on the traffic island in Chatham Square in

         13  November 1997. It now stands at the crossroad of

         14  Chinatown as a constant reminder of the fortitude of

         15  China of good against evil and of the ultimate

         16  triumph of rights against might.

         17                 There is no more fitting tribute to

         18  this man of honor than to publicly dedicate a part

         19  of the Chinese-American community as Commissioner

         20  Lin Ze Xu Square. I urge you to support Resolution

         21  356.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Sir.
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          2                 MR. TAM: Mr. Chairman Foster,

          3  honorable Kathryn Freed, my name is Wing Tam, I am

          4  commander of American Legion Kimlau Post 1291.

          5                 The American Legion, Lieutenant

          6  Kimlau, China's memorial post 1291, has not objected

          7  to any effort taken to honor Commissioner Lin, and

          8  does provide another positive image to all people of

          9  Chinese descent.

         10                 In fact, we applaud your continued

         11  support and efforts to further the unity and

         12  advancement of our community.

         13                 However, we do express great concern

         14  over the possible effect this resolution might have

         15  toward Kimlau Square. As you know, the traffic

         16  island at the juncture of East Broadway and Bowery

         17  for dedication and renaming of Lieutenant Kimlau

         18  Square in June of 1959. Subsequently, in April,

         19  1962, a war memorial was built by our post to honor

         20  all veterans of Chinese ancestry who served in the

         21  armed forces of the United States.

         22                 The Lieutenant Kimlau Square and the

         23  war memorial have served as a shining symbol of

         24  China-American's contribution to our great nation.

         25  Therefore, the American Legion Lieutenant Kimlau
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          2  Chinese memorial post 1291, and the rest of the

          3  American Legion organization will not stand by and

          4  allow any attempt to remove or rename our Square.

          5                 Unfortunately, due to the lateness of

          6  the information, it was impossible for us to obtain

          7  any additional information concerning details of

          8  said resolution prior to this hearing.

          9                 We hope this resolution does not

         10  impact Lieutenant Kimlau Square, and Governor Lin

         11  Square is in fact going to be on the other side or

         12  next to our Square, we must go on record to express

         13  our great concern of these resolutions that will

         14  result in any changes to Lieutenant Kimlau Square.

         15                 In such case, we would like to

         16  reserve our rights to appear before any hearing to

         17  express our opinions with further requests that a

         18  hearing must be scheduled far in advance and that we

         19  be properly notified.

         20                 Thank you for your consideration.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for

         23  your testimony, Mr. Wong.

         24                 May I say that what we are doing, if

         25  it is passed, does not in any way interfere with
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          2  what you have there. We do not change what is there,

          3  we simply add to. So, you have no fear that this

          4  legislation in any way will diminish the importance

          5  of Lieutenant Kimlau Square. That is not the purpose

          6  of this.

          7                 MR. TAM: That is our concern.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That was a

          9  consideration taken by the Committee as well, and by

         10  the chief sponsor, that that would not happen.

         11                 May I thank the four of you for

         12  coming. And may I say, Mr. Lin, that you can be

         13  proud of your ancestry, that you can reach back and

         14  say that you had a relative that had the courage to

         15  stand up to the most powerful nation in the world to

         16  try to insulate China, enrich themselves, with

         17  opium. I commend you and I commend your ancestors of

         18  the past.

         19                 Thank you, gentlemen.

         20                 Now, if there are other people here

         21  for or against this resolution, I would like if you

         22  could simply, if you have something printed, I would

         23  like to have it, please, for the record.

         24                 Anyone that is for this resolution, I

         25  will give you the privilege of coming to the
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          2  microphone, identify yourself and say that you are

          3  for it, as well as those who may be here who is

          4  against it.

          5                 Is there anyone here desirous of

          6  having that name on the record? All right, thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 Thank you. We shall vote shortly.

          9                 Any questions from our Council

         10  members?

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 We have been joined by Council

         13  Members Carrion and Rodriguez.

         14                 Thank you very much. We will hear

         15  them all and then we will vote.

         16                 Intro. 397, by Council Member Cruz,

         17  who is not here. There are those of us who speak on

         18  her behalf.

         19                 Wouldn't it be wonderful if we could

         20  always command and demand that our bodies would be

         21  healthy? Council Member Cruz has been suffering from

         22  illness for some time and struggling to get here,

         23  and I applaud her for her doing her work in her

         24  district and here when she can't come.

         25                 At this time we shall hear from the
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          2  Borough President's Office on 397, and then Council

          3  Member Colon, would you come, please. Raphael Colon,

          4  one of our former colleagues. We are very happy to

          5  have you here. You look at home.

          6                 Timothy W. Janzen, Beth Thompson.

          7  Mike, you are here as well, right? Who else would

          8  like to put their names here? Is there anyone else?

          9  Make sure that you sign one of these please, so we

         10  will know who you are.

         11                 Council Member Colon, why don't you

         12  -- if they can call a former president the

         13  president, then I guess we can call you Council

         14  Member.

         15                 Why don't you introduce yourself, as

         16  though we don't know you, and tell us what is on

         17  your mind.

         18                 MR. COLON: Thank you very much, Mr.

         19  Chairman, it is a pleasure being here before you. I

         20  was accustomed to being on the other side of this

         21  table, but now I have the pleasure of coming before

         22  you to honor a person that you will be very

         23  comfortable with, Mr. Chairman, because you have

         24  been what is called the "good shepherd," as you are

         25  a Pastor of a church in the Bronx, this person that
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          2  we are about to honor today is also a Good Shepherd,

          3  and he was named to be the good shepherd of the

          4  Revelation Church in the Bronx, and I met him in

          5  1986, when I was the representative of that

          6  district, and he was a tireless person that came in

          7  to work and performed the duties of God.

          8                 As you know, a good shepherd always

          9  takes care of the sheep, that is what Jesus asked

         10  Peter to do, and he came in there and he worked very

         11  hard, and many times as an elected official he came

         12  upon me to help him in certain issues, as well as

         13  the Borough President and other elected officials of

         14  that district.

         15                 Mr. Chairman, I know that my other

         16  representatives here from the church will speak to

         17  you. I would like to say to you and to this

         18  Committee that the name of Reverend Wesley G. Janzen

         19  Place in the Bronx is fitting. And I know that he is

         20  looking down on us and he is telling us, and all of

         21  us here, especially you, Mr. Chairman, you being a

         22  Pastor, that we must keep an eye on our sheep. And

         23  you are the good shepherd, so was he. He was so holy

         24  that I was told by members of the church and his

         25  son, who is to my left here, that he wanted to go
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          2  with the Lord on Easter Sunday, and that is exactly

          3  the day that the Lord raised him. The Lord picked

          4  him up on Easter Sunday, just what he wanted to do,

          5  and he is blessing us and I ask this Committee, as

          6  you have always done, to reconsider this naming of

          7  this street.

          8                 I know that this is an earthly award

          9  for him, he already has the Heavenly award up in

         10  Heaven. So, I thank you very much. He has his wife

         11  Elizabeth and his son Timothy, who is also a

         12  reverend, and the sister named Kimberly.

         13                 So, Mr. Chairman, I thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 MR. COLON: And I thank the rest of

         17  this Committee for your assistance. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, thank

         19  you.

         20                 Who is next?

         21                 REVEREND CARABALLO: Good afternoon,

         22  Chairman Foster. I am here on behalf of the Borough

         23  President Fernando Ferrer, and I am just going to

         24  read his statement and it reads as follows.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Tell us who you

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  are first. I know who you are but I want everyone

          3  else to know.

          4                 REVEREND CARABALLO: My name is

          5  Reverend Hermes Caraballo. I work for the Community

          6  Affairs Office of the Borough President's Office.

          7                 Good afternoon, Chairman Foster. I am

          8  Fernando Ferrer, President of the Borough of the

          9  Bronx.

         10                 Reverend Wesley G. Janzen was a vital

         11  figure in the Bronx, not only in the spiritual life

         12  of a single congregation, mainly the Church of the

         13  Revelation on White Plains Road, but also in the

         14  well-being of an entire neighborhood.

         15                 The care and successful growth of

         16  young people and families was a centerpoint of his

         17  inspiring ministry.

         18                 In 1997, Reverend Johnson established

         19  family ministries for youth and initiated a

         20  Christian Life Center. In 1988, he established a

         21  college fund. That same year, he created an outreach

         22  program that literally went out into the streets to

         23  provide spiritual and material assistance for those

         24  in need. In 1989, a marriage assistance program was

         25  established.
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          2                 Remarkably, while maintaining an

          3  active presence in the Bronx, Reverend Janzen

          4  extended his message of concern and love by

          5  providing missionary service overseas. He increased

          6  the church's international program five-fold. Sites

          7  in Paraguay, Bulgaria and South Africa were

          8  included.

          9                 This wonderful legacy must be

         10  preserved. I appreciate your support, Chairman

         11  Foster, as well as that of Council Member Cruz, who

         12  sponsored this measure, and Council Member Rivera in

         13  introducing this legislation to rename the Northeast

         14  corner at the intersection of White Plains Road and

         15  Gelason Avenue in honor of Reverend Janzen.

         16                 I urge the Committee to support

         17  Intro. 397.

         18                 And if I may, as a colleague, I have

         19  known Pastor Janzen since he came to the Bronx and

         20  throughout his ministry he set one goal, and that

         21  was to seek peace of the City and as a pastor he did

         22  that for many years, and presided over that church

         23  and the history of that church. So, as a colleague,

         24  I ask you to consider this motion and thank you for

         25  this time.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. And

          3  thank you for the great work you are doing.

          4                 All right, Ma'am, would you speak?

          5                 MS. THOMPSON: Yes. Good afternoon,

          6  Chairman Foster and members. I thank you for this

          7  opportunity to speak on behalf of and in favor of

          8  Intro. 397.

          9                 When Brother Timothy Janzen asked me

         10  last night to say a few words at this ceremony

         11  today, I didn't hesitate because his father was one

         12  of the most precious people I have known. In 1989,

         13  when I first walked through the sanctuary doors of

         14  the Church of the Revelation, I knew that my long

         15  search for a church home had ended. Upon seeing the

         16  ethnic diversity of the loving congregation, my

         17  heart warmed and I thought this must be what Heaven

         18  will be like.

         19                 I remember being blessed by the

         20  messages the Pastor gave that first Sunday and was

         21  eager to return week after week.

         22                 Now, ten years later I can say it was

         23  a wonderful privilege to have known and worked with

         24  Pastor Wesley Janzen. He was a most gentle and

         25  humble man of God. He deeply loved the Lord and
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          2  dedicated his life to spreading the gospel of

          3  Christ.

          4                 He poured out his life sacrificially

          5  for the ministry. He was deeply loved by his family,

          6  friends and church and is sorely missed.

          7                 Like this words of his favorite hymm,

          8  "it is well with my soul" Pastor Janzen's life

          9  exemplified those words.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Son, would you identify yourself.

         14                 MR. JANZEN: Good afternoon. My name

         15  is Timothy Janzen and I am here on behalf of

         16  speaking upon renaming the street to Reverend Wesley

         17  G. Janzen Place. Thank you very much for hearing me,

         18  Chairman Foster and Committee.

         19                 My father came to New York City 12

         20  years ago from Pennsylvania and prior to that he was

         21  from Canada. And he knew that God had called him to

         22  New York City. He knew that God had called him

         23  specifically to the Bronx, to the Church of

         24  Revelation. And I have seen through his life, this

         25  dedication to the word of God and in reaching out to
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          2  those around him. We came to the Bronx, the church

          3  had roughly about 250 members, upon his passing we

          4  had on that Easter Sunday service over 2,000 hearing

          5  the word of God.

          6                 As you heard before, he was taken

          7  home on his favorite day, he was taken home on

          8  Easter.

          9                 He went home to be with the Lord, and

         10  one of the honors that has been for myself is I can

         11  honestly say my greatest hero was my father.

         12                 I have been pleased and honored to

         13  have him as my father, and the memory in which he

         14  has left with me. I know that I strive to follow in

         15  his footsteps to be a minister in reaching out to

         16  those who are lost and hurt and restoring them, the

         17  Church has been founded upon the word of God in

         18  reaching out to families, we desire to restore what

         19  Satan has tried to destroy.

         20                 And when we reach out to the

         21  families, we realize that it is beyond our walls, it

         22  reaches the very heart of the City and the nation,

         23  for when the family is strong, the nation and the

         24  city is strong.

         25                 So, I encourage you, in memory of my
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          2  father, and in memory of his work and in memory of

          3  what he stood for, to give this honor to him in

          4  renaming to Reverend Wesley G. Janzen Place. I am in

          5  support of Intro. 397. Thank you very much, Chairman

          6  and Committee.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You have a right

          8  to be proud. The toughest job in the world is being

          9  a faithful pastor. I have tried it for 46 years.

         10  There is a very famous television and movie actor

         11  that said to me some years ago, when he heard I was

         12  in the Bronx, these exact words, "the damn Bronx".

         13  And that is what many people thought of the Bronx.

         14  They did not know that we were not burning the

         15  community down, but greedy landlords paid kids to

         16  burn it down. In an amazing effort the City changed

         17  the law, we stopped having so many fires. You can be

         18  proud of your pastor, and as I am. It was one of the

         19  strongest congregations in this City or in any city,

         20  committed people, and his influence is being felt

         21  and will be.

         22                 It reminds me of what was said "I

         23  shall not die, but I shall live and declare the

         24  works of the Lord." I thank you for coming.

         25                 Is there anyone here that would just
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          2  like to have your name identified on behalf of this

          3  bill? For Reverend Janzen Place, anyone else? This

          4  is Reverend Janzen Place now. All I need to do is

          5  have you just go on record as saying you are for it

          6  or you are against it, for the Reverend Janzen

          7  Place. If not, we will move on.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 Our next is 323, by Council Member

         10  O'Donovan. In relation to Florence Semple Way,

         11  Staten Island. We have one witness.

         12                 Mr. Doyle. George Doyle. Thank you.

         13                 MR. DOYLE: Chairman Foster, members

         14  of the Council, good afternoon. My name is George

         15  Doyle. I am a friend of Florence Semple, who passed

         16  on just recently. I am here to speak in favor of

         17  renaming or the naming of Florence Semple Way

         18  because of her tireless efforts to the community and

         19  its children.

         20                 Florence Semple was also a past

         21  president of the 120th Precinct Community Council on

         22  Staten Island, and through her efforts there has

         23  been a communication between the police and the

         24  residents of the North Shore of Staten Island, and

         25  it is these efforts that have led to some of the
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          2  model programs that the New York City Police

          3  Department has now, such as their sensitivity

          4  training, and I, as well as others in the community,

          5  are looking forward to seeing a sign on Bowen Street

          6  where she lived for over 20 years, being named

          7  Florence Semple Way.

          8                 I can go on for days talking about

          9  Florence, she was a mentor and a friend and when she

         10  got sick and she moved to Long Island she continued

         11  her relationships with the community, and she got a

         12  PAL started for children on the street where the PAL

         13  would never come because of the community in the

         14  area in Park Hill, and it is because of these

         15  efforts that I speak in favor of Ms. Semple,

         16  Florence Semple Way.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 I am going to ask if our Counsel, Mr.

         19  Pers, now will find for us how we are going to

         20  proceed after Frank has spoken.

         21                 Frank, why don't you give your

         22  testimony now. Is this for Reverend Janzen?

         23                 MR. VERNUCCIO: No, it is for

         24  Community Gardens.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, we
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          2  will do this first then. I am sorry.

          3                 All right, Mr. Pers, our counsel,

          4  will explain how we are going to proceed in this

          5  hearing and in the vote.

          6                 Let me say that when some of you

          7  contacted me, I wondered why I was not with you in

          8  your demonstrations. To me it didn't make sense for

          9  me to demonstrate for the right to come before the

         10  Committee, our Chair, but I knew all along we were

         11  going to hear you. By not being out there I did not

         12  indicate, and it should not be interpreted that I

         13  was not in favor of what you are doing. I saw no

         14  need to petition myself.

         15                 Mr. Pers. I want everyone to listen

         16  carefully, because we want you to understand how we

         17  are going to proceed.

         18                 MR. PERS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 There are four items presently before

         20  the Committee dealing with the Greenthumb Community

         21  Gardens, Intro. 519, Intro. 522, Resolution 631 and

         22  Resolution 686.

         23                 The two Intros both affect the

         24  Mayor's ability to sell the community gardens. These

         25  properties have already been ULURP'd, some of them
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          2  15 and 20 years ago, to effectuate these local laws

          3  would require a referendum, therefore, they could

          4  not take effect prior to the planned auction.

          5                 There are two resolutions pending,

          6  one supporting a specific piece of legislation,

          7  A.3669. S.2127, which would designate the gardens as

          8  parkland. That is before the State Legislation

          9  Committee in the form of an SLR.

         10                 The other resolution simply calls

         11  upon the legislature to amend the New York City

         12  Charter to allow this Council on an individual

         13  case-by-case basis to reopen those ULURPs and

         14  consider whether the garden should be sold. That is

         15  the resolution that is going to be coupled with the

         16  three street name changes that are before us and

         17  which we just heard the testimony.

         18                 Since the State Legislature would be

         19  amending the City Charter, there is no referendum

         20  requirement. And it is our hope that that will be

         21  done very quickly.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Are there any

         23  questions from our Council members to our attorney?

         24                 Resolution 631, the three street name

         25  changes we are going to vote on at this time.
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          2                 Mr. Carrion is not here.

          3                 Mr. Fisher.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman. Thank you for adding this item on to the

          6  agenda today, and I would encourage all of my

          7  colleagues to vote aye and I want to express our

          8  appreciation to all of the people who are down here

          9  that testified. The reason that we are going to be

         10  taking the roll call before some of the testimony is

         11  that at our last hearing there were in excess of 67

         12  witnesses, the case was clearly made, but most

         13  importantly, we have a limited amount of time in

         14  which we can act before the auction is scheduled.

         15  The Council is holding a meeting this week, we don't

         16  have another meeting of the Parks Committee

         17  scheduled, so this was our window of opportunity and

         18  I wanted to thank the Chair for adding the item onto

         19  the agenda.

         20                 Very simply, my colleagues, green

         21  space, as we all know, is in short supply in New

         22  York, volunteerism is an even shorter supply, and

         23  people have spent thousands of hours improving these

         24  vacant lots in their neighborhoods, not just because

         25  they enjoy going out and planting, but because they
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          2  are creating something wonderful for all of the

          3  neighborhoods of New York, and before we go in and

          4  rip them up, we ought to give it a little more

          5  thought, save as many of these gardens as we

          6  absolutely can.

          7                 I think the Borough President would

          8  be the first one to say that when some of these

          9  approvals were given 15, 20 years ago, no one

         10  expected that it was going to take the City of New

         11  York so long to make up their minds what to do with

         12  these properties and I think that is one of the sad

         13  things is that people become heavily vested in these

         14  properties.

         15                 So, thank you, again, Mr. Chairman.

         16  And I urge all of my colleagues to vote aye on these

         17  items.

         18                 Also, I wanted to thank our Borough

         19  President Howard Golden and also the President of

         20  the Bronx for their leadership on this issue.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Steve, did you

         22  wish to speak before we vote? We are going to vote

         23  now and then we are going to have testimony, because

         24  some people have to leave and I want to make sure we

         25  got the vote through.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Council Members, if we can, I would

          6  rather we vote on the three street items now and on

          7  this Resolution Number 631, as some of our

          8  colleagues indicated, they are going back and forth.

          9                 If that is by common consent let us

         10  have the roll call, and then we will hear from our

         11  Council Members, our Borough Presidents, et cetera.

         12                 Roll call, please.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Foster.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Povman.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Fisher.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Aye on all.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Reed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Linares.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: May I be

         23  excused to explain my vote?

         24                 I vote aye on the two items, and on

         25  Resolution 631 I would like to have my name as a
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          2  prime sponsor added to this resolution. I vote aye

          3  on all three.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Eristoff.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: No on 631;

          6  aye on all others.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Make sure you

          8  know what you are applauding now.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Golden.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: No on

         11  Resolution 631; aye on all others.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I am not

         13  suggesting you don't applaud, I am simply suggesting

         14  you should know what you are applauding for.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 We will hold the roll call open for

         17  Council Member Provenzano who stepped out briefly.

         18  She will be back. By common consent we will do that.

         19                 We will hear from our Borough

         20  Presidents and others.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Mr.

         22  Chairman, I just wanted to point out that whether it

         23  is by Intro. 519, which would prohibit the sale, or

         24  whether it by Intro. 522, which would put a

         25  moratorium on the sale, or whether it by Resolution

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  686, which would add our support to the efforts of

          3  Senator Sampson and Assemblyman Brennan, or whether

          4  it be by 631, the Resolution you just spoke to,

          5  which would give us, if passed, the ability to

          6  intervene -- in other words, regardless of which

          7  method, some of them are inconsistent, some of them

          8  are broader, some are narrower, it speaks, the fact

          9  that there are two intros and two resos, I have

         10  co-sponsored all four, and as have many of my

         11  colleagues, speaks to the importance of this issue

         12  to a growing number of the citizens of our city in

         13  all five boroughs.

         14                 This Administration forgets often

         15  that it is here to govern the people who live here

         16  and should talk to and listen to the people who live

         17  here. It often appears they govern for those that do

         18  not live here.

         19                 In any event, I just want to point

         20  out that the diverse approach speaks to I think how

         21  important this issue is becoming for so many people.

         22                 So, thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Mr. Borough President, may we hear
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          2  from you and then our other colleagues who are

          3  inclined to make statements.

          4                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT GOLDEN: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chairman, and members of the City Council. I

          6  want to thank you for the opportunity to testify on

          7  legislation regarding community gardens that has

          8  been introduced by Council Member Kenneth Fisher at

          9  my request.

         10                 If adopted by the Council --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Borough

         12  President, since this is being electronically

         13  recorded, would you mind identifying yourself?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT GOLDEN: Howard

         15  Golden, Borough President of Brooklyn.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         17  much, I will not interrupt you again.

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT GOLDEN: If adopted

         19  by the Council, a moratorium would be placed on the

         20  sale of City-owned properties utilized as community

         21  gardens.

         22                 We are all aware that the community

         23  gardens began as interim uses of vacant lots at a

         24  time when the City was unable to advance development

         25  in certain neighborhoods.
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          2                 For as long as two decades, community

          3  gardeners have worked to maintain these sites, which

          4  were once trash filled vacant lots. They turned them

          5  into garden oases, educational centers, sitting

          6  parks, meeting places and flower and vegetable

          7  gardens.

          8                 These community gardens serve as

          9  valuable, open space assets to their communities

         10  which are often underserved.

         11                 As often echoed by the community

         12  gardeners, these are not vacant lots. They are

         13  gardens. It has always been my position that these

         14  sites are not needed for housing or economic

         15  development, then the gardens should either be

         16  transferred to the Department of Parks and

         17  Recreation, or to a non-for profit corporation for

         18  management.

         19                 The Haddie Carthan (phonetic)

         20  Memorial Garden in Brooklyn is an excellent example

         21  of this approach.

         22                 This community garden was transferred

         23  to the Department of Parks and Recreation and is now

         24  a permanent garden.

         25                 The Administration's inclusion of
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          2  community gardens in its May 12th, 1999 auction sale

          3  is unacceptable. It has been my belief that many

          4  vacant City-owned lots remain a blight to

          5  neighborhoods even after they are sold to private

          6  owners.

          7                 Recently I directed my staff to

          8  conduct an in-depth analysis to determine the status

          9  of City-owned properties after they are sold through

         10  the City's auction process. The results of this

         11  study demonstrate that many properties sold through

         12  auction are dirty, underutilized, unproductive and

         13  are in violation of the zoning resolution.

         14                 Out of the 440 parcels of vacant land

         15  in Brooklyn, auctioned by the City in the last five

         16  years, only six percent have been utilized for

         17  housing and economic development.

         18                 Over 60 percent of the vacant lots

         19  remain underdeveloped dumping grounds for abandoned

         20  vehicles and garbage.

         21                 Based on a study, there is no

         22  question that the sale of community gardens would

         23  result in the loss of valuable community facilities

         24  which will most likely become eyesores.

         25                 City-owned property should be
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          2  developed to provide housing, passive and active

          3  recreation space, to foster neighborhood economic

          4  development, to build schools and to establish

          5  community facilities.

          6                 Therefore, I believe that new

          7  policies and procedures for the disposition of

          8  City-owned property should be established.

          9                 A new City Land Review Board should

         10  be created to review and recommend such procedures

         11  and to allow qualified not-for-profit corporations

         12  to manage and purchase these properties. Recognizing

         13  that the inventory of City-owned properties will be

         14  dwindling, I trust that the City Administration and

         15  the City Council will review my recommendations

         16  outlined in the study and take immediate action to

         17  ensure coordination and proper planning for the use

         18  of all City-owned property.

         19                 Recently the Administration visited

         20  the Gill Hodges Memorial Garden in Brooklyn and

         21  realized that it is an asset to its community. It

         22  was then withdrawn from the auction. I would welcome

         23  the opportunity to give the Administration a tour of

         24  the 51 Brooklyn Community Gardens that are scheduled

         25  to be auctioned in May so that their special values
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          2  can be seen.

          3                 I urge all Council Members to call on

          4  Mayor Giuliani to request that the gardens be

          5  withdrawn from the auction.

          6                 I also trust that you will move

          7  forward with legislation that Council Member Fisher

          8  introduced at my request, and support the other

          9  local laws and state legislation to save the future

         10  of community gardens. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for

         12  coming. Thank you for coming, sir.

         13                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT GOLDEN: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Carrion, if

         15  you will wait just one minute I will call on you. I

         16  know you were out of the room when we started this.

         17                 A policeman prevented one witness

         18  from coming up and she just got herself liberated.

         19  Linda Eskenas. Ms. Eskenas, are you here?

         20                 MS. ESKENAS: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Would you come,

         22  please. Tell us why you are here. Push the red

         23  button if it is not on.

         24                 MS. ESKENAS: Hello. Thank you. I am

         25  here, I was here. Thank you so much for hearing me.
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          2  I was here on time but they wouldn't let us into the

          3  room downstairs. So thank you.

          4                 I am here to speak for the street

          5  name change of Bowen Street to honor Florence

          6  Semple.

          7                 Florence Semple is one of New York's

          8  great humanitarians. Her grace, she seemed to live

          9  in a state of grace. Her intelligence and her

         10  kindness, you knew just by her presence, one learned

         11  how to do the things that would bring us peace and

         12  brotherhood in this City.

         13                 At this time, when these things are

         14  so important, the naming of this street after

         15  Florence Semple is very important to all of us.

         16                 She was the president of the

         17  Community Council which brought the police and the

         18  community together, and I can't tell you what it was

         19  like being in that room, we were all like a family.

         20  It hasn't been that way in a long time.

         21                 She also, in Park Hill, children were

         22  very, very important to her and she was determined

         23  to have a room with computers and teachers for the

         24  children to come to every day and she achieved this.

         25  Even as she was in a coma as she was dying, she
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          2  would talk about my programs, the children, to make

          3  sure everything kept going, and of course everyone

          4  loved her. And little children would look up at the

          5  police in Park Hill at that time and say I want to

          6  be like you. She lit the way for everybody, and we

          7  hope and we speak for her and we hope to carry her

          8  message, and the naming of this street after her

          9  will make a tremendous difference.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MS. ESKENAS: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We are sorry you

         14  were detained.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Hopefully we will

         16  carry it on for the next generation.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I am sure you

         19  will.

         20                 Frank, would you come now, and would

         21  you speak after the Council Member.

         22                 Ms. Bowers, from the Manhattan

         23  Borough President, would you come, please.

         24                 Adolpho, would you like to speak now?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And then after

          4  these two Borough President representatives speak,

          5  other Council Members may be heard.

          6                 Council Member.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Mr. Chairman,

          8  thank you. Thank you, colleagues. I think that this

          9  is, these two intros and these two resolutions can

         10  be reduced to an attempt by reasonable people in our

         11  City to look at, or try to create a sound policy

         12  about community gardens. We have no policy right

         13  now. The only policy that we do have, which is by

         14  default is that these are temporary uses, that the

         15  new defunct Board of Estimate decided that the

         16  hundreds of properties across our City would be in a

         17  temporary state and when we found a use or when we

         18  found a buyer we would get rid of these properties

         19  and pull them into the marketplace and allow the

         20  market forces to develop them.

         21                 That decision was made at a time when

         22  many of the neighborhoods where these community

         23  gardens are were in distress, were undeveloped.

         24                 We have no sound policy for community

         25  gardens and what these two intros and these two
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          2  resolutions simply attempt to do is to reopen that

          3  discussion.

          4                 We are talking about Intro. 519

          5  simple saying, wherever possible, if we can develop

          6  housing, if there is a compelling public need and

          7  housing is a compelling public need, let us do that.

          8  But for the most part, we should maintain our

          9  community gardens because they are stabilizing

         10  forces.

         11                 The other Intro. Calls for a City

         12  Council review and a partnership between the

         13  Executive and the Legislative, and really having a

         14  discussion about this and not just blanketly saying

         15  let's get rid of these community gardens.

         16                 The resolution calls for an

         17  authorization to reopen the ULURP process, that

         18  these were decisions that were made 20 years ago,

         19  they are old, they are outdated, they are irrelevant

         20  in many cases, and in some cases the right decision

         21  will be development.

         22                 Let me just close by saying that this

         23  morning as I was driving into City Hall I heard on

         24  1010 Wins said that simply that people should

         25  understand that this is going to create jobs and
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          2  economic development activity and there is going to

          3  be commercial development. The truth of the matter,

          4  the fact of the matter is, that most of these

          5  community gardens are in residential neighborhoods,

          6  that there is not going to be this tremendous influx

          7  of private dollars coming into these communities

          8  creating hundreds, possibly thousands of jobs. These

          9  are stabilizing forces in our community. These are

         10  places where civic pride and civic involvement plays

         11  itself out.

         12                 I think it is a good thing for our

         13  City and I would urge my colleagues, and I would

         14  urge the public to keep the pressure on because it

         15  would eventually make sound public policy.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 We will hear from the Borough

         20  President's Office at this time, followed by the

         21  Manhattan Borough President.

         22                 Oh, I am sorry. Council Member

         23  Provenzano, we voted already on the items.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I vote yes

         25  on all.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 All right, Frank.

          5                 MR. VERNUCCIO: Thank you, Chairman

          6  Foster.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me.

          8                 Would you mind announcing the vote?

          9  They just don't want you to speak today, do they,

         10  Frank?

         11                 Would you please?

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Sure.

         13                 By a vote of nine in the affirmative,

         14  none in the negative and no abstentions, all coupled

         15  items are adopted,  with the exception of Intro.

         16  631, which was adopted by a vote of seven in the

         17  affirmative, two in the negative, no abstentions.

         18                 Please sign the reports.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, I am

         20  going to have Mr. Pers explain this again to you so

         21  that you will understand what we are doing, but

         22  after we hear from Frank, all right?

         23                 I promise you, I won't interrupt you

         24  again.

         25                 MR. VERNUCCIO: Thank you, Chairman
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          2  Foster. On behalf of Bronx Borough President Ferrer,

          3  my name is Frank Vernuccio.

          4                 For several months, New Yorkers

          5  throughout the five boroughs have clearly voiced

          6  their anger and dismay over the Giuliani

          7  Administration's proposed mass sell off of a

          8  substantial percentage of community gardens, under

          9  the jurisdiction of the Department of Housing,

         10  Preservation and Development.

         11                 The harm to our neighborhoods from

         12  this ill-advised threat to scarce open space is

         13  greatly magnified by proposed actions, inexcusable

         14  failure to place appropriate restrictions on the use

         15  of the sites.

         16                 It should be clearly recalled that

         17  many of these gardens began as an important means of

         18  eliminating poorly used lots, many of which were

         19  neglected and trash strewn. In its attempt to

         20  minimize the unusual nature of this extraordinary

         21  divestiture of a vital resource, the Mayor has

         22  completely ignored the rich historical legacy

         23  community gardens have established, both in New York

         24  and indeed throughout the United States.

         25                 For over a century these miniature
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          2  edens which first appeared, by the way, in Detroit,

          3  in 1893, as a means to reduce economic and social

          4  discomfort, have been a cherished American

          5  tradition. Whether called Liberty Gardens early in

          6  the century, Victory Gardens during World War 2, or

          7  by any other term, they have been an irreplaceable

          8  wellspring of local pride and fresh air in areas

          9  that urgently need those assets.

         10                 Borough President Ferrer initiated

         11  the legislation before you, Intro. 519, to safeguard

         12  community gardens in all that they mean to New

         13  Yorkers.

         14                 The measure introduced by Council

         15  Member Carrion amends the property of the City

         16  Charter by adding a new subsection to Section 384,

         17  addressing the disposal of City property.

         18  Specifically 519 prohibits the sale, auction,

         19  exchange, lease, transfer or alienation of City

         20  property used as a Greenthumb Community Garden

         21  maintained by a community non-profit organization.

         22                 This legislation is an appropriate

         23  and necessary response to an unfortunate attempt to

         24  eliminate a successful long established resource

         25  with a proposal that provides no community input and
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          2  no safeguards.

          3                 The Borough President urges the

          4  Committee to strongly support Intro. 519. There is

          5  one additional issue that has to be addressed at

          6  this time.

          7                 The original version of this

          8  legislation did not have a provision for a

          9  referendum because I do not believe this is the type

         10  of situation envisioned by the Charter as requiring

         11  such a referendum.

         12                 I believe we are establishing a

         13  dangerous precedent that any time we attempt to

         14  change an agency action, that we have to go through

         15  the route of referendum. That action paralyzes the

         16  clear authority of this City Council to play the

         17  important role it must in the governing of this

         18  City.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, and

         21  thank the Borough President.

         22                 Ma'am, identify yourself.

         23                 MS. BOWERS: Good afternoon, Chairman,

         24  members of the Committee. My name is Tanya Bowers,

         25  and I will be reading testimony from Manhattan
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          2  Borough President C. Virginia Fields.

          3                 I am testifying today on behalf of

          4  four pieces of legislation that will protect

          5  Greenthumb Community Gardens.

          6                 Calls for removal of the gardens from

          7  the May auction have thus far gone unanswered. Last

          8  April I opposed the request by the Department of

          9  Housing Preservation and Development for the

         10  emergency halls and transfer of 741 City-owned

         11  properties of which most were community gardens.

         12                 Over the last few months I have

         13  testified at the public hearings encouraging that

         14  these community gardens not be put up for auction.

         15                 On these many occasions, I have

         16  stated that while the development of affordable

         17  housing for low and middle income is one of my

         18  highest priorities, I had serious concerns about the

         19  magnitude of this request, and the lack of

         20  information on plans for individual sites.

         21                 I also encouraged that these sites

         22  should be a part of comprehensive planning

         23  initiatives for each neighborhood that include clear

         24  criteria for identifying development sites and

         25  preserving and expanding community garden sites.
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          2                 Members of the Committee, in

          3  Manhattan's neighborhoods, as in Manhattan's closing

          4  stores, one size does not fit all. City policy

          5  should recognize diverse community needs and

          6  interests and incorporate community input.

          7                 Many of these lots went through the

          8  ULURP process ten or 15 years ago. While the law

          9  says that once a property has completed the  ULURP

         10  process, it can be legally disposed of. Common sense

         11  tells us that a community's needs change over a

         12  number of years and these decisions should be

         13  reviewed with community input and representation.

         14                 And now time is running out as our

         15  requests have gone unheeded. The legislation we are

         16  considering appears to be our only alternative to

         17  preventing the wholesale auction of these gardens.

         18                 They send a strong message about our

         19  commitment to preserving these community gardens.

         20                 I applaud the efforts of the

         21  policy-makers who drafted this legislation. I am

         22  pleased that the resolution in question address many

         23  of the issues I have previously raised.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  much.

          3                 Council Member Una Clarke.

          4                 Thank you very much for coming.

          5  Express our gratitude to your Borough President.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 Mr. Chairman, let me thank you and

          9  your Committee for the work that it has already done

         10  on the community gardens. I come to add my voice as

         11  a non-member of the Committee, to say that many of

         12  these gardens have been there for many, many years,

         13  an a lot of labor and love have gone into these

         14  gardens. They serve an important role in the

         15  communities to which they now exist.

         16                 In my own district there are two

         17  gardens, my district has less park space than any

         18  other of my colleagues, and I have already indicated

         19  both through your committee and through the

         20  Commissioner of Parks, that I would like to see both

         21  lots be taken off the auction block, but I am also

         22  here in support of all of the communities and all of

         23  those gardens and gardeners who have spent many,

         24  many years labor of love in producing and looking at

         25  the beautiful gardens that they have created in the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  many, many communities where they now exist.

          3                 So, again I want to add my voice and

          4  to congratulate you for the work you have done on

          5  the legislation that will prevent the willy-nilly

          6  auctioning of these wonderful gardens in all of the

          7  boroughs, in all of our communities, and I stand in

          8  support of the work you have done.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         11                 Council Member Robinson, would you

         12  care to make your comment at this time? Would you

         13  are to make your comment at this time in support of

         14  the gardens?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         16  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 Certainly the garden that Borough

         18  President Golden mentioned, the Haddie Carthan

         19  Garden, is located in my district, and I had the

         20  privilege of knowing Haddie Carthan when we were

         21  just talking about a tree, and then we turned that

         22  tree into a whole environmental project within the

         23  community of Bedford Stuyvesant in Brooklyn. And

         24  then we established a garden, and not only did we

         25  establish that garden but we established others as
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          2  well.

          3                 And I certainly have seen what the

          4  beautification has done in terms of gardening and as

          5  well as learning, for our children have been able to

          6  learn about environmental concerns, how to take care

          7  of the earth, and also how to take care of trees and

          8  what trees do for us. And I have also seen what

          9  happens when pieces of property are auctioned off

         10  and sold to people who do not care and do not live

         11  in the communities, they sit and sit and sit and the

         12  weeds grow up beyond compare to anything you want to

         13  talk about and what you call a rainforest.

         14                 And so, Mr. Chairman, I certainly

         15  applaud the efforts of those who have come to ask

         16  for our support today, but certainly I applaud the

         17  efforts of those who have tilled the soil, who have

         18  brought forth the vegetables and I have had the

         19  privilege of having some of those vegetables and

         20  seeing the beautiful flowers as well.

         21                 And, so, Mr. Chairman, I am just

         22  staying in solidarity with all that I have come to

         23  support the gardens and I think that we need to have

         24  open spaces within our communities. Everything does

         25  not have to be concrete.
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          2                 Where there are circumstances where

          3  there are spaces that are not being taken care of, I

          4  would say let's find a purposeful use for those as

          5  well. But I certainly applaud the use of open spaces

          6  and we need to continue to beautify our communities.

          7                 Finally, I want to say this: There

          8  was a survey done and it had to do with the greening

          9  of public housing, and it found that where there was

         10  more greenery around, that there was less activities

         11  that were non-social so-to-speak, that took place

         12  within those communities.

         13                 So, certainly we want to see as much

         14  green in our communities as we can possibly stand.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Robinson.

         18                 Last year, the last time we had

         19  hearings here we stayed for more than nine hours

         20  because there were many people desirous of speaking

         21  from the same organization. I am going to ask you

         22  this afternoon, if you are here for a particular

         23  garden, why don't you let one person be the speaker

         24  and others come and simply say they are for it or

         25  against it.
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          2                 I don't mind staying here, I will, in

          3  spite of this cold I have, but the longer one group

          4  monopolizes or occupies the table, the less chance

          5  for others to be heard, and we want everyone to be

          6  heard.

          7                 Mr. Ira Pers, our attorney, did

          8  relate to you what we have done. I am going to ask

          9  him and then Council Member Fisher to again relate

         10  to you what we have done and where we are going from

         11  here and then we will try and hear as many of you as

         12  possible. But I am pleading with you, for your sake

         13  and for my sake, not to monopolize by having so many

         14  people from the same organization. They are all here

         15  for the same purpose I believe, and I would hate for

         16  someone to come to me as they did the last time,

         17  after nine hours, saying that I sat there all day

         18  and I couldn't be heard because they kept going on

         19  from the same organization.

         20                 Please be considerate.

         21                 Mr. Pers, will you just explain

         22  briefly again what we have done, and then Council

         23  Member Fisher, as one of the chief sponsors, and

         24  then we will hear from the audience.

         25                 MR. PERS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 The Committee voted and approved

          3  Resolution 631, which calls upon the New York State

          4  Legislature to amend the City Charter to give the

          5  City Council permission on a case-by-case basis to

          6  call up these old ULURP items on the gardens.

          7                 As we said before, many of these

          8  ULURPs are ten, 15, even 20 years old, it goes to

          9  the process by which these gardens can or would not

         10  be sold, and it would give the City Council the

         11  option on a case-by-case basis to decide whether or

         12  not they should be sold.

         13                 Council Member Fisher is the prime

         14  sponsor.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you.

         16  Thank you very much. I just want everyone to

         17  understand that while what we have adopted today is

         18  a vehicle that is legally available to the Council,

         19  what this is really all about, and what you have

         20  heard from all of the members of the Committee and

         21  other members of the Council who were not on the

         22  committee who came here today, was that we want to

         23  send a very clear message to the Administration that

         24  we think that the auctioning off of 115 gardens this

         25  May is the wrong thing to do.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 The people in the gardening community

          3  have been very vocal and active at communicating

          4  that, and we at the Council have heard you, as the

          5  Chair previously stated.

          6                 This resolution will be voted on by

          7  the entire Council tomorrow, and hopefully the Mayor

          8  who has been monitoring this issue through his

          9  representatives very closely will understand the

         10  depth of feelings that people have about this, not

         11  just those who work in the gardens themselves, but

         12  also those whose neighborhoods are impacted by it

         13  and who believe that the City should be supporting

         14  the spirit of volunteerism throughout the City.

         15                 It will be voted on at the Council

         16  meeting on the 28th, next week. So, what we would

         17  ask you to do today is please let us, we have a lot

         18  of work to do on the gardens and other important

         19  issues, and while your testimony is important, as

         20  the Chairman said, we did have nine and a half hours

         21  worth of it, and the argument has been made, the

         22  vote has already that the case has been made, so the

         23  best thing that you can do in order to help us go

         24  out there and actually be successful in this, is

         25  simply to record, if you feel obligated to testify
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          2  at all, simply record your name, the garden that you

          3  work at, if you do, or the organization that you

          4  represent, and whether or not you are in favor or

          5  opposed to the actions we are taking today.

          6                 Extensive testimony at this stage of

          7  the game will not do anything but keep us from

          8  dealing with other issues today, so if you believe

          9  in what we are doing, then please try and work with

         10  us on this today.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Pers and Mr. Fisher.

         14                 As has been stated by all of these

         15  gentlemen, we have already voted in favor.

         16                 Now, I would suggest that instead of

         17  us staying here all night, talking to each other, we

         18  need to go out and continue to organize and

         19  mobilize.

         20                 Having said that, we are going to ask

         21  you to please limit your testimony, and if you are

         22  from the same organization, let one person do the

         23  speaking and just identify yourself as in favor.

         24                 Reverend Lynne West. And Patricia

         25  Conway, are you together? Please take a seat.
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          2                 Reverend West, would you please

          3  introduce yourself and begin your testimony.

          4                 REVEREND WEST: I am Reverend Lynne

          5  West, I am from the Presbytery of New York City, and

          6  I am speaking in favor of proposed actions today,

          7  and I would like to read a resolution of the

          8  Presbytery of New York City, dated March 27th, 1999.

          9  For the preservation of community gardens in New

         10  York City.

         11                 Whereas; God called Adam and Eve to

         12  til and to keep the Garden of Eden, Genesis 2 verse

         13  15, and God calls all of us to be stewards of the

         14  whole creation, Genesis Chapter 1 verse 28.

         15                 Whereas; the Profit Isiah warned us,

         16  "woe to you who at house-to-house and join

         17  field-to-field till no space is left and you live

         18  alone in the land", Isiah 5, verse 8.

         19                 Whereas, the City of New York is

         20  planning a sale in May 1999 of over 100 community

         21  gardens located on lots owned by the City because

         22  the New York City Department of Housing has rejected

         23  these lots as appropriate for housing.

         24                 Whereas; community gardens are an

         25  asset to their communities and have provided events
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          2  and programming to schools, day care and senior

          3  centers, and other community facilities and have

          4  enhanced the community environment.

          5                 Whereas; there are over 10,000 other

          6  vacant lots that are owned by the City of New York

          7  that could be sold instead of the lots which house

          8  community gardens.

          9                 Whereas; the 202nd General Assembly,

         10  1990, the Presbyterian Church USA approved the

         11  report restoring creation for ecology and justice,

         12  which states that the Presbyterian Church USA

         13  affirms the following statement: Earth-keeping today

         14  means insisting on sustainability, the ongoing

         15  capacity of natural and social systems to thrive

         16  together, which requires human beings to practice

         17  wise, humble, responsible stewardship after the

         18  model of servanthood that we have in Jesus.

         19                 Justice today requires participation,

         20  the inclusion of all members of the human family in

         21  obtaining and enjoying the Creator's gifts for

         22  sustenance.

         23                 Be it resolved, that the Presbytery

         24  of New York City calls on the City of New York to

         25  not sell community gardens.
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          2                 Be it further resolved, that the

          3  Presbytery of New York City urges all levels of

          4  government to preserve and support community

          5  gardens.

          6                 Be it further resolved that the

          7  Presbytery of New York City encourages corporate and

          8  government decision-makers to ensure that affected

          9  persons and communities be fully involved in the

         10  decision-making process.

         11                 Be it further resolved, that the

         12  Presbytery of New York City directs its stated clerk

         13  in cooperation with Presbytery Environmental Justice

         14  Advocates, to communicate this resolution to the

         15  appropriate corporate and government decision-makers

         16  and the media on behalf of our 100 congregations.

         17                 Be it further resolved that the

         18  Presbytery of New York City will, through the

         19  Council on Witness to Society in the World take

         20  additional appropriate actions to implement this

         21  resolution.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Madame West, how

         24  many churches are represented in Presbytery?

         25                 REVEREND WEST: One-hundred.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: One-hundred.

          3                 REVEREND WEST: They are represented

          4  from all five boroughs.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Five boroughs,

          6  one-hundred churches.

          7                 Thank you very much. Now, as much as

          8  I appreciate your applause, you know, the more you

          9  applause, the longer you are going to stay here, and

         10  you see there are only two of us left because they

         11  have already voted for you.

         12                 All right, Ms. Conway. Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MS. CONWAY: My name is Patricia

         15  Conway. I am secretary of the Board of Directors of

         16  the Fifth Avenue Committee. I am here to speak in

         17  favor of the four items on the agenda today, and I

         18  would like to leave my prepared testimony as part of

         19  the record.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 Sergeant.

         23                 MS. CONWAY: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much. Can everyone else be that short?
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          2                 I am not demanding, I am just

          3  suggesting. Thank you very much.

          4                 There are three people, are you

          5  representing the same organization?

          6                 Laura Hansen, are you here?

          7                 Richard Kassel?

          8                 Michael Gerard, are you here?

          9                 MS. HANSEN: I am representing Mr.

         10  Gerard.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Mr.

         12  Kassel is not here. All right, I will represent him.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 Please identify yourself.

         15                 MS. HANSEN: My name is Laura Hansen,

         16  I am representing Place Matters, which is a project

         17  of the Municipal Arts Society and City Lure. It is

         18  dedicated to recognizing and protecting places that

         19  strengthen and nurture communities throughout New

         20  York.

         21                 I have written testimony which I will

         22  submit which is in favor of Resolution 631 and the

         23  other intros, and I also am submitting testimony on

         24  behalf of the Municipal Arts Society and Mr. Gerard.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MS. HANSEN: Can I make one

          4  announcement? I would like to invite the Council

          5  members to a panel discussion on comprehensive

          6  planning on this issue this Wednesday at the

          7  Municipal Arts Society at 6:00 with representers

          8  from other cities looking at how they have handled

          9  this issue?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: For those of us

         11  who can't make it, is there some information you can

         12  supply us with after the fact?

         13                 MS. HANSEN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 MS. HANSEN: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ms. Lois Regan,

         18  Lenny Librizzi, Reverend Hava Worley, Irene Van

         19  Slyke. You don't represent the same organizations,

         20  do you? You represent different organizations.

         21                 All right, since I called your name,

         22  would you begin?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Irene, just

         24  mention your name for the record.

         25                 MS. VAN SLYKE: It is Irene Van Slyke,
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          2  representing BANG, the Brooklyn Alliance of

          3  Neighborhood Gardens, and it is an alliance of 42

          4  community gardens which nine are on the May auction

          5  list.

          6                 I am also a board member of the

          7  Neighborhood Open Space Coalition, a group that

          8  advocates for open space and provides insurance for

          9  community gardens. We thank the Council Parks

         10  Committee for holding a hearing.

         11                 We support Intros 519, 522 and

         12  Resolution 631 and 686. We feel that all in

         13  complimentary ways will save the 700 community

         14  gardens. We feel that a city-sponsored community

         15  garden program is vital to keep neighborhoods

         16  strong.

         17                 The main point we want to make today

         18  is that the vast majority of community garden spaces

         19  cannot be developed. Remember that HPD released its

         20  interest in these properties so that they could be

         21  auctioned. Most garden plots are too small or

         22  irregularly shaped or are in areas where there is

         23  plenty of vacant land still waiting to be developed.

         24                 In Downtown Brooklyn, for example, we

         25  have more than four acres of parking lots publicly
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          2  owned, which are a blight to the area.

          3                 Recently Habitat for Humanity was

          4  given the right to develop land where one of our

          5  community gardens is located. Gardeners knew from

          6  the kinds of plants that were growing on the plot

          7  that the water table was high.

          8                 They warned Habitat that it might be

          9  very expensive to develop the plot. Yet, they

         10  persisted only to find that excavation and a high

         11  water table made the site uneconomical to develop

         12  and they are now trying to sell the lot to our

         13  organization.

         14                 Borough President Virginia Fields

         15  testified at one of the DCAS hearings that she

         16  thought that any garden that was less than 4,000

         17  square feet was uneconomical to develop, and there

         18  are at least 72 community gardens for sale that are

         19  less than 4,000 square feet in size.

         20                 The David Fuca Garden on my block has

         21  an open space restriction so whoever buys the garden

         22  will not be able to develop the site. Why then sell?

         23  Certainly it is not to stimulate development, nor to

         24  develop affordable or market rate housing. It

         25  doesn't not even cost the City one cent for the
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          2  community gardens, it is financed with federal

          3  community development funds.

          4                 The real reason is we think that the

          5  present administration does not believe in a

          6  City-run ongoing community gardening program. It's a

          7  political question. Therefore we appeal to the City

          8  Council to remedy the situations where the

          9  Administration decides to take remedial actions

         10  without input from the Council. From what we

         11  understand, the introduction and resolutions will

         12  put the Council and communities back in the

         13  decision-making process, and if it is a political

         14  question, then let's ask the voters what they think,

         15  a referendum on this issue in November as the City

         16  Council introduction calls for is the only way and

         17  we are willing to work for its passage.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Sir.

         22                 MR. LIBRIZZI: Good afternoon. My name

         23  is Lenny Librizzi, and I am a resident of Staten

         24  Island which has four community gardens. One, the

         25  St. George Community Garden is in the May 13th
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          2  auction.

          3                 I am here representing the American

          4  Community Gardening Association, or ACGA, to express

          5  our support for the bills under consideration today.

          6                 ACGA is an organization with almost

          7  600 individual and organizational members that

          8  represent many thousands of community gardeners

          9  throughout the United States, Canada and several

         10  foreign countries. Established in 1979, ACGA's

         11  mission is to promote the growth of community

         12  gardening and greening in urban, suburban and rural

         13  America.

         14                 My role at ACGA has been as a Board

         15  member and a chair of the Publication Committee.

         16  Here with me I have three documents that were

         17  published by this Committee. The first is titled

         18  What Good is Community Greening, and I have copies

         19  to leave for you.

         20                 The second is a National Survey of

         21  Community Gardens, and the third is the 1998 issue

         22  of the Community Greening Review, which focuses on

         23  garden preservation efforts nationally. So, I am

         24  going to speak a little bit about what Laura Hansen

         25  said that will be at this panel on Wednesday night.
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          2                 I would like to highlight some key

          3  points from these documents.

          4                 First, what good is community

          5  greening? To highlight some of the research that has

          6  been done to show the benefits of community

          7  gardening, I won't elaborate on this. This Committee

          8  will hear this testimony from others.

          9                 Second, the Community Gardening

         10  Survey, these figures are from 1996 and 1997. Of the

         11  6,020 gardens that were surveyed in 38 cities, only

         12  an alarming 5.3 percent, only 319 throughout the

         13  whole country, have some kind of permanent status.

         14  Thirty of the 38 responding cities consider site

         15  permanency an important issue. This is not just a

         16  local issue.

         17                 Third, both the community gardening

         18  review report that there are significant open space

         19  initiatives that support community gardening in

         20  cities other than New York.

         21                 In Seattle community gardens are

         22  included in the master plan for the City with a

         23  targeted goal of one community garden for every

         24  2,500 households. The Seattle City Council also

         25  resolved to incur the expansion of their community
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          2  gardening program called P-Patch, and to attempt to

          3  provide budgetary support for P-Patches.

          4                 The Chicago City Council, and there

          5  will be a representative here from the organization

          6  called Neighbor Space, they passed an

          7  intergovernmental agreement creating this non-profit

          8  entity called Neighbor Space, that is funded by

          9  municipal funds.

         10                 Neighbor Space can also raise private

         11  funds to acquire and preserve community gardens and

         12  other open spaces.

         13                 City properties are transferred to

         14  Neighbor Space for one dollar.

         15                 The Intergovernmental agreement and

         16  funding has been reauthorized until 2018, for

         17  another 20 years. The City of Boston has a specific

         18  zoning category that includes community gardens as

         19  an open space subdistrict. This is another method

         20  for preserving community gardens.

         21                 New York City has always been at the

         22  forefront of community greening ideas and programs.

         23  Other cities have followed our lead in creating

         24  community-managed open spaces. Why not borrow from

         25  the concepts of neighbor space planning and zoning?
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          2  The City Council should create a community gardening

          3  initiative that will bring New York City to the

          4  forefront once again.

          5                 I have copied the exact wording from

          6  Seattle's Master Plan, Chicago's Intergovernmental

          7  Agreement and Boston's Zoning Code and I am also

          8  submitting that information to you.

          9                 I encourage the Parks Committee to

         10  pass the two resolutions, you already did one, thank

         11  you very much, out of Committee quickly and craft

         12  the strongest legislation that will halt this

         13  auction and institute a procedure for the review of

         14  existing community gardens and creation of new

         15  gardens. The full Council must approve these bills

         16  as soon as possible.

         17                 We realize that this is the beginning

         18  of an important era for community gardening. We, the

         19  community gardeners, and garden supports, are ready

         20  to work with the City Council, community boards,

         21  Borough Presidents and the Mayor's Office to do

         22  community-based planning and policy making that

         23  includes community gardens as an important component

         24  of permanent neighborhood open space.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          3                 MS. REGAN: Good afternoon. My name is

          4  Lois Regan and I am a program officer with the Mary

          5  flagler Cary Charitable Trust, a private foundation

          6  in New York City.

          7                 I am also a member of Community Board

          8  3 in Lower Manhattan.

          9                 The Cary Trust has been supporting

         10  the community gardeners of New York City for some 13

         11  years now, through cash grants and technical

         12  assistance programs totalling about $3 million.

         13                 The Trust began in this area of the

         14  urban environmental field because we saw it as a

         15  first step which would ultimately lead to

         16  neighborhood people tackling a broader range of

         17  environmental problems in their communities.

         18                 That has certainly happened. But what

         19  we have also seen over the years is that many of the

         20  community gardens have become cultural and

         21  educational institutions, a breeding ground for the

         22  development of volunteerism and leadership in

         23  disenfranchised communities of this City.

         24                 The Cary Trust commitment and support

         25  will continue to be for the people of low-income
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          2  communities, rather than for parks or open space per

          3  se. Our interest is in acknowledging and awarding

          4  the extraordinary efforts and achievements of our

          5  citizens and improving their environment.

          6                 They have pursued this mission over

          7  the past 20 years, a time when the City was unable

          8  to care for the lots that are the sites of community

          9  gardens.

         10                 The issue is not the pitting of

         11  gardeners against housing interests. There should be

         12  a comprehensive planning process to evaluate the

         13  merits of both.

         14                 I strongly urge you to vote in favor

         15  of resolution 631 and 686, Intros. 519, 522, and I

         16  am pleased that you have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 Sir.

         19                 MR. WORLEY: Good afternoon,

         20  distinguished Councilpersons. My name is Haja

         21  Worley, and I am Co-Director of Project Harmony,

         22  Incorporated. I am also a member of Community Board

         23  10.

         24                 In the past hearings you have heard

         25  in detail how residents of this great city have
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          2  worked to established open spaces, public open

          3  spaces which enhance their communities.

          4                 For 14 years my wife and I, with the

          5  help of a variety of groups and individuals, labored

          6  to maintain two community gardens, the Joseph W.

          7  Brown Memorial Garden and the Joseph Daniel Wilson

          8  Memorial Garden. We sought to rid our neighborhood

          9  of all that robbed us of our quality of life,

         10  illegal dump sites, drugs, prostitution and more.

         11                 We were and are grassroots community

         12  developers. We have worked to revitalize our

         13  communities by way of the community gardens and all

         14  that they have become. The George W. Brown Community

         15  Gardens was bulldozed last November and to date

         16  remains a gigantic cavern, a deep, ugly hole

         17  surrounding by piles of garbage, yet is open to the

         18  public. No locked gate. The fence is torn down on

         19  all sides.

         20                 The Joseph Daniel Wilson Garden is in

         21  imminent danger of being bulldozed.

         22                 These gardens have been the center of

         23  our Project Harmony, Incorporated, Self-Help Program

         24  for women and youth. We started a small cottage

         25  industry and a training program. Our trademark
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          2  Harlem Harvest appears on the label of each jar of

          3  preserves, each herbal vinegar or oil, each garden

          4  craft which the doers of Project Harmony have helped

          5  to produce and then sell.

          6                 Proceeds from the sales to the doers

          7  themselves, they have been able to open their own

          8  bank accounts, help out their families, and buy

          9  their own school clothes and supplies. We have

         10  already involved other gardeners in our growing

         11  industry and we hope to involve more.

         12                 It is our experience that there is

         13  nothing more valuable than empowering, than doing

         14  for self. This is what the gardens were all about.

         15  We made something out of something worse than

         16  nothing. And from that effort, young people learned

         17  valuable skills. Women learned their own way,

         18  neighbors breathed cleaner air, children had a safer

         19  haven. Indeed the land is valuable, many, if not all

         20  of us, have a deep connection with the land through

         21  our ancestors. It is still the land that sustains

         22  us. Even though we are crowded into these places we

         23  call cities, without the land cities would not

         24  exist. Our food and our building materials come from

         25  the land. Already we have overburdened our natural
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          2  resources, if we continue on this path of

          3  self-destruction we jeopardize our own existence.

          4                 Eventually nature will force us to

          5  confront the reality that overdevelopment has turned

          6  our habitat into a desert.

          7                 I believe it is also important that

          8  we value the contributions of each individual

          9  person.  In the same way that we harvest from the

         10  land, we must harvest and utilize the positive

         11  energy, the optimistic and hopeful spirit which

         12  essentially holds society together and makes it

         13  stronger. I believe the City of New York has the

         14  grand opportunity to build gateway communities going

         15  into the 21st century, communities which reflect

         16  balance, fairness, good stewardship and a passionate

         17  deep respect for the land, for the value of each

         18  person and of all creation. Let community gardens

         19  and green open spaces stand as legendary examples of

         20  a well-planned future and not bulldoze craters which

         21  testify only to greed and an exploited past.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 I know how important this issue is to

         25  you and it is to us because we have already voted on
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          2  it. Some of us have been here in hearings since 9:00

          3  this morning, the Public Safety Committee, the

          4  Education Committee and now this Committee. If we

          5  are to hear everyone here that has signed up, we

          6  will be here for three hours more. Now, I am not to

          7  determine who is to speak and who is not to speak,

          8  but I am simply saying that you speaking will not

          9  convince us to vote against you, we have already

         10  voted for you.

         11                 So, I would say if you could just

         12  identify yourself, who you are and that you are for

         13  it or you are against it, so we will be able to get

         14  back here on time on the 28th to vote it in the full

         15  Council. We are convinced, we voted for it. So,

         16  therefore, you are not convincing us further.

         17                 Mr. Fisher just said to me he is

         18  going to stay with me as long as his bottom can

         19  last, but it is getting a little sore. So I would

         20  suggest, why don't we just come together and try to

         21  get this over with. I don't need to be here three

         22  additional hours.  I know everyone is desirous of

         23  speaking, and I will stay as long as it takes. If

         24  you want to go against it, you can say so. Grace

         25  Lawrence. Anyone opposed?
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          2                 All right, anyone else opposed? Just

          3  a minute. You are opposed to what we just passed?

          4                 MR. SHENKER: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

          6                 Is anyone here in favor of what we

          7  passed?

          8                 Excuse me, speaking out here will not

          9  make it any stronger, because it was explained to

         10  you by legal counsel and by Mr. Fisher, who is one

         11  of the prime sponsors, also an attorney, and Mr.

         12  DiBrienza, that we are going to do what we are going

         13  to do, and we are going to try to get it through as

         14  quickly as possible. We vote on it again on the

         15  28th.

         16                 Come on and tell us why you are

         17  opposed. Come and tell us who you are and why you

         18  are opposed, and I promise you will not be mauled

         19  before you leave.

         20                 All right, sir, identify yourself.

         21                 MR. SHENKER: Yes, my name is Michael

         22  Shenker, I am from the Lower East Side of Manhattan.

         23  I am affiliated with the Moore Gardens Coalition.

         24                 I deeply, and many of my colleagues,

         25  deeply appreciate the efforts that are being made by
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          2  the City Council and all of the voices that are

          3  being raised here today in support of community

          4  gardenings. However, I personally believe that the

          5  tactics that are being pursued now to ensure the

          6  survival of our community gardens are perhaps too

          7  radical, and that they might not necessarily be

          8  called for.

          9                 It's almost the instance of let's say

         10  where the operation was a success but the patient

         11  died. We propose a more conservative approach to the

         12  maintenance of the community gardens.

         13                 It was expressed here today by one of

         14  the Council people that there hasn't been a coherent

         15  policy and organizing system to be able to cultivate

         16  and to maintain our community gardens and I strongly

         17  disagree with that.

         18                 I personally believe that the

         19  Greenthumb program has been a resounding success for

         20  the City of New York and for community gardening

         21  itself.

         22                 I, as a conservative in this issue,

         23  choose to call for the maintenance of the Greenthumb

         24  program, the reinvestment in the Greenthumb program,

         25  and the strengthening of the Greenthumb program.
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          2                 It had one inherent flaw, the flaw

          3  was that it did not afford permanency to our

          4  community gardens. I, and the Moore Gardens

          5  Coalition, call for some type of legislation to be

          6  crafted where we reinvest our faith in the work that

          7  our forbearers had done over the last 20 years to

          8  reestablish that program, to see to it that it is

          9  properly funded, that its staff is increased with

         10  good paying good union jobs, not the potential of

         11  WEP workers who would be sent into our community

         12  gardens to maintain them if they fall under Parks'

         13  jurisdiction. We hope that by affording permanency

         14  to the Greenthumb leases, we can build upon the

         15  legacy of the people who have been our forbearers.

         16  For that reason, I believe that the legislation is

         17  perhaps potentially too radical and that we should

         18  conserve the things that we have built up to the

         19  present.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Shenker, can

         22  I ask you a question?

         23                 MR. SHENKER: Of course.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think what we

         25  pass is something asking that they be retained. We
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          2  are not making immediate steps to do away with them

          3  one way or the other. I personally don't see what

          4  you are saying differs from what we have done. So,

          5  what I will suggest is this: You live on the Lower

          6  East Side?

          7                 MR. SHENKER: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Get in touch with

          9  your Councilperson, and the two of you may draw up

         10  something to bring before us and I promise you I

         11  will hear it.

         12                 MR. SHENKER: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Identify yourself for the record,

         16  please.

         17                 MR. GREZINGER: Yes, my name is Ingo

         18  Grezinger, and I do live in East Harlem. I am a

         19  home-owner in East Harlem and I am surrounded by

         20  poor Greenthumbs. For all practical purposes the

         21  Greenthumbs have rendered my property worthless

         22  because it is not inhabitable at market rents.

         23                 I have a Greenthumb on one side, they

         24  have electric lights to close their plants, you have

         25  a building there and the music is going on until
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          2  1:00 midnight. Calling the police is absolutely

          3  worthless. The police tell me that until 9:00 people

          4  can make as much noise as they want.

          5                 Now, there is a second Greenthumb

          6  which is operated by a Spanish person, he married a

          7  lady from Cuba. He has no electricity in the garden,

          8  and he has no building in the garden, and he

          9  complains he cannot find any gardener to help him

         10  with the grass cutting, or with the pulling of the

         11  weeds.

         12                 Now, his sole interest in gardening

         13  that he operates a Greenthumb is to maintain a nice

         14  property name next to his home. But he cannot find

         15  any people who want to do gardening in the

         16  neighborhood. There is another Greenthumb that used

         17  to be very noisy but the people moved away, and the

         18  lady who is in charge of the Greenthumb also says

         19  she has a problem finding people who want to garden

         20  and pull weeds and so on, and there is no

         21  electricity and no structure in this garden.

         22                 Now, there is one more Greenthumb

         23  which has electricity, a structure in it, and there

         24  is music in it, drinking in it, it is a pool for

         25  people to go to sell numbers with the yellow slips.
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          2                 Now, I am not opposed to gardening,

          3  but the word Greenthumb and garden is

          4  misrepresented.

          5                 In effect, I am living next to

          6  miniature amusement centers and beer gardens, and I

          7  think there is a conflict of zoning.

          8                 Now, I am a very poor person, I have

          9  grown up with the refugees the way you have seen it

         10  on television the last few days, I have got down

         11  gardening in the field with my father, and it is

         12  very difficult to garden. But the people in my

         13  neighborhood in effect are not interested in

         14  gardening, all they want to do is use the property

         15  as a miniature garden and for amusement purposes.

         16  And I don't see, and I don't know of any plans for

         17  electricity and structure in the garden.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Then what you are

         19  saying is what we have done this afternoon, does

         20  that interfere with your plans for the area?

         21                 MR. GREZINGER: Well, for all

         22  practical purposes, I would prefer these gardens

         23  being sold and then a private owner, if he

         24  misbehaves with the garden, at least he can be

         25  brought to account and the Building Department could
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          2  be sent over. But the way it is now, it is out of

          3  control.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: As a landlord in

          5  this City and as a taxpayer, we are told that the

          6  city is under good control by good policemen. It is

          7  against the law for anyone to drink beer or any

          8  other alcoholic beverage on the street, so that is

          9  number one.

         10                 You have a Police Department that we

         11  have been told respond immediately. That is number

         12  one.

         13                 Number two, you do have a community

         14  planning board in that area, you do have an elected

         15  official in that area. I would suggest that every

         16  time there is disruption, that if someone is

         17  breaking the law, call them. Call the police. If

         18  they don't respond, then call the Mayor's Office or

         19  the Commissioner's Office because we were told this

         20  afternoon that they do respond.

         21                 MR. GREZINGER: I am calling the

         22  police approximately five times a day. Across from

         23  my property it says 30 foot by 100 foot

         24  privately-owned place, but somebody operates --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I am not trying
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          2  to argue that part. I am just simply saying this is

          3  --

          4                 MR. GREZINGER: The police does

          5  nothing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me.

          7                 I am suggesting that you reach those

          8  persons, get with your community planning board, get

          9  with your council members, go to your police council

         10  meeting, police council meeting and express that

         11  thought to them.

         12                 The Commissioner stated this morning

         13  how efficiently, effectively and quickly all calls

         14  are responded to. I have to believe him because it

         15  only took an hour and 45 minutes for them to get to

         16  my church after it was broken into after five

         17  telephone calls. So, I have to believe he was

         18  telling the truth, about how quickly they do it. But

         19  the point is that is the way I suggest you do it.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 MR. GREZINGER: Thank you, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ms. Grace

         23  Lawrence. Jane Weissman.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Mr.

         25  Chairman, I thought you were making a pitch to wrap
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          2  it up in that everyone was in favor of one or more

          3  of the resolutions and you are hearing from the two

          4  in opposition.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That is exactly

          6  what I am saying. I would like to do it like that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: They might

          8  have sidetracked you from your mission.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, no. Not at

         10  all, my friend. I would like to wrap it up but I

         11  don't want to wrap anyone out.

         12                 I am just asking Council Member

         13  Fisher how best to wrap this up.

         14                 And I will say again, anyone else --

         15  I don't want to walk out on you because you are

         16  going to hate me, but I do say that if you are in

         17  favor we have already voted for you, just come up

         18  and say I am in favor, just give us the written

         19  testimony and it will go in the record.

         20                 Thank you very much. Ms. Lawrence,

         21  please, and Ms. Weissman.

         22                 MS. LAWRENCE: My name is Grace

         23  Lawrence. I am a resident of the Borough of Queens

         24  and President of the East Elmhurst Civic Association

         25  and member of Community Board 3 in Queens.
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          2                 I am here today to speak very briefly

          3  for the sake of time against the destruction of

          4  community gardens because they are an positive asset

          5  to a community and New York City.

          6                 We have three gardens that I am

          7  concerned about in our community, and they are

          8  threatened.

          9                 Moving on, I just want to say that

         10  even though the gardens, some may have been removed

         11  from the auction sale in New York City, we feel that

         12  it is only a temporary measure and that there needs

         13  to be a fair process in place to protect gardens.

         14                 We support Intro. 522 sponsored by

         15  the Council, as well as Intro. 519, and we urge the

         16  support of resolution 631 which you have agreed to

         17  do.

         18                 We just would like to say that the

         19  courts have ruled that the Board of Estimate was

         20  unconstitutional and abolished, and the Board of

         21  Estimate should not be able to rule from the grave

         22  so-to-speak, and allow the properties to be sold.

         23                 We also feel that citizens have been

         24  denied due process by being excluded from the ULURP

         25  process. We are asking you to vote out of Committee
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          2  and to do whatever possible to stop the process of

          3  auction in order to save our community gardens.

          4                 I want to thank you for this

          5  privilege of coming to speak with you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know no one has

          7  worked harder than you and Ms. Weissman on this

          8  issue. I don't know how you have time to do anything

          9  else. All right, thank you.

         10                 MS. WEISSMAN: Good afternoon, Mr.

         11  Chairman, and distinguished members of the Council.

         12  My name is Jane Weissman, and I am here today

         13  representing the Neighborhood Open Space Coalition,

         14  which I serve as a Board member. NOSC is dedicated

         15  to improving the quality of life for all New

         16  Yorkers, by expanding or enhancing our City's parks

         17  and open spaces through advocacy, research,

         18  education and planning.

         19                 I am also a Board member of the Green

         20  Guerillas and from 1984 to 1998 I served as director

         21  as greenthumb.

         22                 I would just like to say that this is

         23  the first time in 14 years that the City has ever

         24  put community gardens up for auction without any

         25  restrictions. Gardens certainly have been taken back
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          2  for housing, sometimes they have been sold for a

          3  community purpose like a health center. But there

          4  was an unspoken agreement that if gardens were

          5  well-developed, well-maintained and actively used,

          6  they would not be put up for sale, and that has

          7  neither happened until now and that is the reason

          8  that we need procedure for fairly considering

          9  gardens for what ever purpose they may have.

         10                 I would just like to say that the

         11  previous gentlemen's comments about gardens that

         12  perhaps were not resources to the community, can

         13  best be reviewed by community boards. They are in

         14  the best position to review gardens, to say whether

         15  a garden should be preserved by being transferred to

         16  parks or perhaps sell it to the gardeners as land

         17  trusts, or perhaps they should be used for housing

         18  or for disposition.

         19                 Thank you very much, I am submitting

         20  my testimony.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 As I call your names, you may

         24  testify, if you must. But it is not necessary.

         25                 I repeat: As I call your name you may
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          2  testify, if you must. But just tell us you are in

          3  favor or against and we will hear you. Your name

          4  that is.

          5                 Emily Maswell. Is that said

          6  correctly?

          7                 Marsha Reiss. Kathy Diaz.

          8                 Let the record show that Ms. Marsha

          9  Reiss is in favor.

         10                 All right, Ms. Kathy Diaz. Are you

         11  going to testify? Give the copies to the sergeant,

         12  please. Thank you very much, Ms. Diaz. Could you

         13  find out if there are other people that would like

         14  to pass them out as well. Thank you.

         15                 Suzanne Chambers. Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Is anyone else desirous of leaving a

         18  statement instead of testifying? We would be more

         19  than happy to receive them.

         20                 MS. CHAMBERS: Council members, the

         21  New York City Garden Coalition respectfully submits

         22  their testimony.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         24  much. Would you give it to the sergeant?

         25                 Hernan Pagan.
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          2                 MR. PAGAN: I would like to read

          3  something.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Take a seat. I

          5  will call on you later to read. Sandra Robinson. She

          6  is gone. She is gone? Good. Nine o'clock this

          7  morning, I have had one candy bar and I have a

          8  banana downstairs waiting for me.

          9                 Melanie Rodriguez. Is she here?

         10                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good. Do you want

         12  to testify? We will receive the testimony. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: In favor.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: In favor.

         16                 Irma Badillo. We should testify. All

         17  right, sit down, please.

         18                 Dimas Cepeda. Is he here? Do you wish

         19  to testify or give a statement? All right, would you

         20  begin.

         21                 MS. MAXWELL: My name is Emily

         22  Maxwell. I will be testifying on behalf of the Moore

         23  Gardens Coalition. My colleague, Micheal Shenker,

         24  has already stated many of our concerns but I have a

         25  few more that I have been nominated to express and
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          2  we are a coalition of gardeners and community

          3  members from all five boroughs, so I feel it is

          4  important that these views are expressed.

          5                 I am not going to read my entire

          6  testimony, I will submit it. But I don't want to go

          7  on in redundancy, but there are aspects that are

          8  very important.

          9                 I am compelled to address the

         10  realities of the struggle in which we are engaged.

         11  In our City there is a dearth of both open space and

         12  low-income housing. Although the shortages of these

         13  fundamental human needs are created by the same

         14  systemic flaws, they compete only in the rhetoric of

         15  irresponsible politicians.

         16                 I shall give my whole-hearted support

         17  to any legislation which truly preserves community

         18  gardens and expect you will do the same to

         19  accurately represent the will of the people.

         20                 Yet, I must insist that the voters of

         21  this City shall not be duped by any piece of

         22  legislation pitting housing and open space against

         23  one another.

         24                 The people know that such legislation

         25  would not preserve community gardens in perpetuity,
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          2  and would additional allow our City government to

          3  advocate responsibility for rehabilitating the

          4  17,000 abandoned buildings and 14,000 vacant lots

          5  that plague our City. No informed individual who

          6  supports community gardens could pass such

          7  legislation with integrity.

          8                 We are working under time constraints

          9  - the specter of the upcoming auction haunts us.

         10  The garden I tend, Cherry Tree Garden in Mott Haven

         11  is slated to be auctioned this May. How may we

         12  induce this malevolent spirit to depart? Clearly

         13  this must be addressed, yet haste now may yield the

         14  slow death of community gardens in the future.

         15                 The concerns of the Moore Gardens

         16  Coalition are essentially that the legislation that

         17  has put out there which we are very thankful for

         18  just simply is not strong enough. It continues to

         19  perpetuate the myth of housing versus gardens.

         20                 The legislation introduced by Council

         21  Member Carrion is most distressing because it

         22  continues to say we can exchange community gardens

         23  for low-income housing and we sorely need both, but

         24  they are not antithetical.

         25                 On that note, I will submit the
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          2  testimonies of the members of the Moore Gardens

          3  Coalition.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. And if

          6  you are desirous of us revisiting this, see your

          7  Council Member, your Community Planning Board and we

          8  will do so, all right?

          9                 Did you hear me? I said if you are

         10  desirous of us revisiting this in the form that you

         11  presented it, see a Council Member in your community

         12  planning board.

         13                 MS. MAXWELL: I do. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

         15                 Ms. Badillo. Thank you.

         16                 MS. BADILLO: My name is Irma Badillo.

         17  I represent A. Badillo Community Rose Garden at

         18  163rd Street in the Bronx.

         19                 In 1959 I planted my first rose bush

         20  on a lot in front of my building that I lived at on

         21  Cultal Avenue and Westchester Avenue. When I was

         22  noticed, I was chased away.

         23                 In 1987 the building adjacent to our

         24  building was demolished and the words kept

         25  resonating from what the politician had been saying,
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          2  don't move, improve. And so this is what we have

          3  done. We have had our community garden for 12 years.

          4  We have worked in that lot for 15 years. We have

          5  cleaned it out like all of the other residents. A

          6  lot of people didn't know me in the neighborhood,

          7  but we created the A. Badillo Community Rose Garden

          8  it has become an oasas. We gather there. There are

          9  no drugs, no liquor. We do not take light from the

         10  City poles and we want to remain.

         11                 Now, the Melrose is due to be -- they

         12  are going to create the Melrose Commons in my

         13  neighborhood and what we are asking the Council is

         14  to please include us in the Melrose Commons and keep

         15  us there.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I represent the

         19  People's Garden in Brooklyn, and I am here as an

         20  angry citizen who feels he and the community have

         21  been cornered.

         22                 Mayor Giuliani does it again. Once

         23  again he has put profits before people. Everyone

         24  knows the importance of green gardens in our

         25  communities. Everyone, except the Mayor, who fails
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          2  to respect the will of his constituents by refusing

          3  to turn this beautiful oasis to the people who care

          4  for them the most. How can he contemplate the idea

          5  of ploughing our gardens, years of hard work and

          6  unconditional dedication bulldozed into debris by

          7  dysfunctional officials who are far removed from

          8  compassion and common sense.

          9                 Doesn't he understand the spiritual,

         10  cultural and educational value of this small plot of

         11  land in a City inundated with greed, cold-hearted

         12  politicians who in most cases have exchanged their

         13  souls to the devil for the next election for a few

         14  dollars more?

         15                 When I see the children playing,

         16  planting and learning the value of our earth, it

         17  breaks my heart to think that in a matter of weeks,

         18  these joy-felt pieces of land will be savagely

         19  raped. Democracy for whom? Who the hell does he

         20  represent?

         21                 If you take a ride to Carl Schulls

         22  Park where he lives, or to sections of Central Park,

         23  you can see and witness special areas carefully

         24  designed for dogs to happily play and do their thing

         25  in a control area. These dog walks, as they are
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          2  called are protected and welcomed by all of us who

          3  care and defend animal rights.

          4                 In my community there are no such

          5  walks and poor dogs parade up and down the streets

          6  without any animal rights. They go up and down the

          7  avenue with no place to gather and play.

          8                 Just as these poor creatures have

          9  been abandoned, so have the children of many poor

         10  communities that benefitted from the pleasant and

         11  peaceful environment created by our gardeners.

         12                 It seems that affluent dogs and their

         13  owners can enjoy a walk in the park in a warm summer

         14  day, but poor children in the ghetto are condemned

         15  to the sad notion that no one cares. The harsh

         16  reality of some drug infested streets will once

         17  again be an uninterrupted part of their daily

         18  routine. Some leaders are not leading, they are

         19  selling out to the highest bidder and in a way what

         20  they are auctioning off is their dignity, humanity,

         21  integrity and hopefully their future and political

         22  career.

         23                 And this is what they call democracy?

         24  A form of government that oppresses the poor? How

         25  can people vote for a heartless talent who eats away
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          2  our souls, like aphids devoured the green leaves in

          3  the garden?

          4                 At least we can fight the insects,

          5  but what repellant can we use against Giuliani?

          6                 We must work together to end his

          7  political career. We just defeat and put an end to

          8  his political aspirations so that he will not

          9  continue to infest and pollute the common decency

         10  and good will of all caring New Yorkers.

         11                 We must start an I hate Giuliani

         12  campaign to make sure --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me. That

         14  is out of order.

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Okay, I will

         16  skip that part.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: The point is,

         18  what you have against the Mayor, say that to him or

         19  outside, but right now we are simply talking about

         20  the Greenthumbs, all right?

         21                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: All right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Cepeda.
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          2                 MR. CEPEDA: Thank you. I will just

          3  ask you to support the 519.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

          5                 MR. CEPEDA: And 522 and 631.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 MR. CEPEDA: Okay. I am working for

          9  this country 32 years. I am a retired electrician. I

         10  got this garden and I put a monument of my son. He

         11  died last year. He fell out of a school bus,

         12  16-year-old kid. I prepared his own garden. So, I

         13  put a monument in memory of him. It is hard now to

         14  tell my wife, you know, that she has to suffer with

         15  this problem, to take this monument out. I got more

         16  than 60 citizens going into the garden, planting.

         17  Before I was in the room ten months looking at

         18  walls, because I was sick in the heart, I was in the

         19  bed. So, I went through this program now, and I

         20  appreciate that you approve all these laws.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I am hoping that

         23  what we do today and what we will do on the 28th

         24  will enable you to preserve that.

         25                 MR. CEPEDA: Thank you, Mr. Foster.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Let me

          3  continue. I want to make it clear that I am not

          4  opposed to free speech -- I am sorry, excuse me.

          5  Here is another one that has been here since early

          6  this morning, in this order.

          7                 Now, as I said before, we are trying

          8  to close this out.

          9                 You may speak, if you must, but it is

         10  not necessary.

         11                 Father Patrick Kenel. I called Ms.

         12  Rodriguez already, she is not here. She is not here,

         13  is that correct?

         14                 Jeanlee M. Poggi. Gloria Fashion.

         15  Gone.

         16                 Francine Rogers. Gone. Oh, no. Thank

         17  you, Ms. Rogers. For the record you are for it.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 Nancy Alusick.

         20                 MS. ALUSICK: Yes. I am representing

         21  Manhattan Neighborhood Council and they are in

         22  favor.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, Ms.

         24  Alusick is in favor and she is turning in her

         25  testimony.
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          2                 Thank you. Ms. Barbara Feldt. Are you

          3  desirous of speaking?

          4                 MS. FELDT: Three sentences.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, thank

          6  you.

          7                 Al Quinomes. Alice Morris. Diane

          8  Torr. Are you going to speak or just turn your

          9  testimony in?

         10                 MS. TORR: I will turn it in.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, thank

         12  you.

         13                 Sergeant, she is going to turn that

         14  in. Thank you.

         15                 Celestine Heard.

         16                 MS. HEARD: Two to three minutes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

         18                 Father, would you begin. Tell us who

         19  you are.

         20                 FR. KENEL: Good afternoon. My name is

         21  Father Patrick Kenel. I am the head of St. Mark's

         22  Orthodox Monastery, 419 East 117 Street in East

         23  Harlem, Manhattan.

         24                 I want to thank the members of the

         25  Council for their graciousness in hearing us this
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          2  afternoon.

          3                 Initially I wanted to read a short

          4  letter, a short notice from the Chairperson of

          5  Community Board Number 11. It is addressed to the

          6  Commissioner of the Department of Real Estate and

          7  Administrative Services. It reads Honorable William

          8  Diamond, Commissioner of the Department of Real

          9  Estate and Administrative Services.

         10                 Dear Commissioner Diamond --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Father, may I

         12  interrupt you a minute, please.

         13                 Now, if that letter is for the

         14  Commissioner, why are you reading it to us?

         15                 FR. KENEL: Well, the material in it

         16  is very apropos to the situation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I see. All right,

         18  thank you very much.

         19                 I wanted to get a clarification.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 FR. KENEL: Dear Commissioner Diamond:

         22  I write you this letter on behalf of St. Mark's

         23  Monastery Garden located at 415 East 117th Street,

         24  between First and Pleasant Avenues. Community Board

         25  No. 11 held a public hearing on community gardens
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          2  this month in which we heard from over 20 community

          3  groups in District 11, one of the groups was St.

          4  Mark's Monastery Garden.

          5                 Father Patrick who represents St.

          6  Mark's voiced his discontent of how the City is

          7  eliminating the community gardens. He made reference

          8  to the upcoming May 1999 auction in which eight East

          9  Harlem Community Gardens are scheduled to be

         10  auctioned, including St. Mark's.

         11                 Father Patrick requested support of

         12  Community Board 11 for his recommendation to have

         13  the City hold restricted sales of community gardens

         14  to not-for-profit organizations.

         15                 Community Board No. 11's position has

         16  been and continues to be the preservation of

         17  community gardens. If there is no possibility of

         18  removing St. Mark's from the May 1999 auction,

         19  Community Board No. 11 is requesting that the City

         20  consider restricted sales of community gardens to

         21  not-for-profit organizations, giving community

         22  residents, organizations and gardens the opportunity

         23  to purchase lots and convert them into permanent

         24  gardens.

         25                 Should you have any questions, please
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          2  do not hesitate to contact the Board office, Daniel

          3  E. Gibbons, Chairperson.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          6  much, Father.

          7                 The next person, please.

          8                 FR. KENEL: I wish to point out most

          9  respectfully to the members of the Council, there

         10  were 1,700 vacant City lots in the City of New York,

         11  only 700 of which are used for community gardens.

         12  These community gardens have served as a very, very

         13  useful place in the City of New York. I remember as

         14  a boy this area of East Harlem, which was at that

         15  time predominantly an Italian population, had a

         16  horrific demographics. Every square inch was built

         17  on, there are big families, there was virtually no

         18  open spaces, and these gardens, under the aegis of

         19  Operation Greenthumb, have helped to ventilate these

         20  neighborhoods, help to surburbanize, if you will,

         21  these neighborhoods, making these neighborhoods a

         22  much more pleasant place to live.

         23                 I want to protest the deceit in the

         24  part of the current Administration, and I hate to

         25  use the word, but deceive is the only one I can
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          2  think of, the media. They continually use the

          3  expression, well homes come first. Their own

          4  Departments, the Department of Housing Preservation

          5  and Development and the New York City Housing

          6  Authority could not go along with this deceit, and I

          7  am on record acknowledging they had no intention

          8  whatsoever to create any housing on these lots.

          9                 So now they have come around, taken a

         10  new tact, and they talk about commercialization and

         11  making jobs. None of the gardeners are against

         12  commercialization and making jobs, but there are

         13  1,000 garbage strewn lots all over the City of New

         14  York that could be sold off for commercialization.

         15  The current Administration, municipal

         16  administration, is as it were putting the cart

         17  before the horse in selling rose gardens --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I just want you

         19  to understand that there may be those here who may

         20  agree with your sentiment, except that I did not

         21  wish for this to be said, we turn this into a

         22  political forum against anyone. Do you understand?

         23                 FR. KENEL: I didn't mean to be

         24  unkind.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 FR. KENEL: Thank you. I am very

          4  sorry, sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Father, we have

          6  already voted on these issues already. We have

          7  already voted for it, all right?

          8                 FR. KENEL: Yes, sir.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And it will be

         10  heard in the Council on the 28th.

         11                 FR. KENEL: All right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: If you have any

         13  further information you want to bring to the

         14  Committee, please see your local Councilperson or

         15  your planning board.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 FR. KENEL: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, Ma'am.

         19                 MS. FELDT: Yes, good afternoon. My

         20  name is Barbara Feldt, and I am a community

         21  gardener, Parks and Recreation volunteer and

         22  neighborhood activist, and as Director of the 25

         23  Satellite Botanical Garden, I came here to read

         24  about the oldest garden that is up on the auction

         25  block, which is Albus Garden, 28 years old. It was
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          2  found in 1971.

          3                 I am going to hand this in for

          4  testimony. It is only one page. Housing is not the

          5  issue, and I implore the Parks Committee and all of

          6  our Council members to do everything in their power

          7  to stop the slaughter of really volunteerism at its

          8  best.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         11                 Thank you. You can rest assured that

         12  most of our Council members would agree with you.

         13                 All right, Ma'am. You first and then

         14  the gentleman. The woman first, if you don't mind.

         15                 MS. HEARD: Good afternoon. Thank you,

         16  Ken Fisher and all of the rest of the Council

         17  Members for passing this resolution. And Reverend

         18  Foster, I just want you to know that prayer does

         19  work, it took a lot of it. Thank you so much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You stayed within

         21  your two seconds.

         22                 All right, thank you.

         23                 Sir.

         24                 MR. QUINONES: Thank you for this

         25  opportunity. All of us that are here, who are not
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          2  here any longer, I kind of waited the whole day, but

          3  let me just read my statement very quickly.

          4                 Let me begin by telling you my name

          5  is Al Quinones. I am the founder of the Parks

          6  Department's little secret, 52 People for Progress.

          7  We are a 19-year park volunteer organization

          8  Community Board 2 in the Hunts Point Longwood area.

          9                 On January 14th, the Parks Council

         10  had invited us to the American Museum of Natural

         11  History for discussion on the Future Role For Open

         12  Space in the Urban Environment. One part of this

         13  lecture was on the power of parks and how well

         14  managed parks reduce crime and spur economic

         15  development, in Los Angeles, Baltimore and Austin,

         16  Texas.

         17                 The other lecture was on City

         18  Farmers, a Journey Through New York's meaner streets

         19  where Greenthumb gardeners tell their stories and

         20  feel the spirit that reshapes their broken

         21  landscape.

         22                 But we at 52 People for Progress

         23  Incorporated, Rainey Gardens, Bill Rainey Gardens,

         24  Block 2685, Lot 61, didn't really have to attend

         25  because we live those lectures.
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          2                 After 19 years of volunteer work at

          3  52 Park and Rainey Gardens and after 65,000 hours of

          4  volunteer time, and thousands of dollars of

          5  programming, we are the best examples of the

          6  utilization of open space is all about.

          7                 I am here today to let you know and I

          8  am asking my Councilman, Pedro Espada, Councilman

          9  Wendell Foster, Council Member Fisher and the Parks

         10  Committee to please support legislation, which you

         11  did.

         12                 Our volunteer organization, 52 People

         13  for Progress, Inc., have provided over 19 years of

         14  free volunteer work with the city helping change the

         15  quality of life for all. Ninety percent of our trees

         16  in our garden are over 10 feet tall, and a total of

         17  about 30, they bear hundreds of pounds of fruit

         18  which we share with the community. To destroy Rainey

         19  Gardens, would be simply arborside. Plain and

         20  simple: If it ain't broke, don't fix it.

         21                 This week I had the pleasure to speak

         22  with the landscaped architect who designed Rainey

         23  Gardens, Mr. Bernard Canovis. Fourteen years ago Mr.

         24  Canovis gave us a plan to develop Rainey Gardens

         25  with little hope that we would create this blueprint
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          2  he donated.

          3                 Bernardo said to me to tell all of

          4  the members of the community not to allow Rainey

          5  Gardens to be sold or destroyed.

          6                 He also told me that if the City

          7  wants to sell parcels, it should sell the 14,000

          8  other parcels available to them.

          9                 We don't need a parking lot, nor a

         10  mechanic shed or someone who will use our garden for

         11  a tax shelter. The upset price of 685 Beck Street is

         12  $19,000, but that is not the real price. The real

         13  price is the stability we created for the last 19

         14  years when no one cared about Block 2685, Lot 61,

         15  and the lot was filled with garbage, and we did

         16  something about it.

         17                 Will Bill Rainey ever rest in peace?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 MR. QUINONES: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: God bless. Thank

         22  you very much.

         23                 Alice Morris. Silvia Syracuse.  Any

         24  testimony you care to give in writing?

         25                 MS. SYRACUSE: I don't have testimony,
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          2  I just wanted to say that --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Wait a minute.

          4  Let me finish this, please.

          5                 Constance Lesold.

          6                 All right, did I omit anyone, or

          7  forget anyone? If I did, don't be hurt if I don't

          8  call you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Mr. Chairman,

         10  I just wanted to note for the record of the names

         11  that you called, the people who have previously

         12  left, the witness slips that they had submitted all

         13  indicated that they were testifying in favor of our

         14  action today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         16  much for your help.

         17                 I think Ms. Morris was the first

         18  called. In that order, please.

         19                 MS. MORRIS: Hello. Good afternoon. My

         20  name is Alice Morris. I represent Albert's Community

         21  Garden on Second Street, between Second Avenue and

         22  the Bowery, which is on the auction block for May.

         23                 Albert's Garden has been an active

         24  garden for almost 30 years, since 1971. Right now we

         25  have many flowers growing, a bright purple azalea,
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          2  orange and yellow jonquils, bright yellow daffodils

          3  and a soon to be blossoming hydrangea, bright yellow

          4  tulips and many others to bloom soon.

          5                 We also have an active compost pile

          6  and an active fishpond. Our fishpond has about 15

          7  goldfish who have made an additional ten baby fish

          8  in our pond. Two generations of goldfish tells us we

          9  are doing the right thing to help preserve the

         10  environment.

         11                 I also belong to two other community

         12  gardens, the Creative Little Garden on the Lower

         13  East Side, and the Lotus Garden, which is on the

         14  Upper West Side.

         15                 I support the preservation of

         16  community gardens and Introduction 519 and 522 and

         17  Resolution 686 and 631. I also support the

         18  referendum on community gardens for November, as

         19  mentioned earlier by Ms. Irene VanSlke.

         20                 One additional point about the

         21  Albert's Garden lot, it is less than 2000 square

         22  feet, and is therefore not commercially developable

         23  as stated earlier by Irene VanSlke who spoke earlier

         24  today and also by Borough President C. Virginia

         25  Fields.
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          2                 Thank you for hearing my testimony.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much. Our best to those productive goldfish.

          5                 MS. MORRIS: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ms. Syracuse.

          7                 MS. SYRACUSE: I am Sylvia Syracuse,

          8  from the Lower East Side Community Garden Coalition,

          9  and we support Intro. 519 and 636.

         10                 I ask you to please further

         11  investigate continued alternatives, I mean

         12  additional legislation and/or any other kind of

         13  assistance to gardens. I am a little worried if it

         14  doesn't fly particularly against the auction and the

         15  full Council.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Ms. Lesold, I am sorry to keep you so

         19  long.

         20                 MS. LESOLD: It's quite all right. I

         21  am here representing Community Board 8 at the

         22  request of its chairman, Bob Matthews, in order to

         23  continue being present at every single hearing to

         24  request that all six gardens in our community board

         25  be removed from the auction and to support all of
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          2  the Intros and resolutions that you have worked so

          3  hard to put forward.

          4                 I thank you very much. I have some

          5  pictures and a little bit of testimony about a

          6  location that never became a community garden. We

          7  have places where people wanted there to be a garden

          8  and didn't debate. And now we got these and worked

          9  hard and might not get to be. And they are in all of

         10  our Councilpeople's district and I want to invite

         11  all of you to a press conference in Pacific Street

         12  Garden, which is on Thursday at 3:00, Pacific

         13  Street, between Nostrand and Bedford, all gardeners,

         14  City Councilpeople, everyone is welcome.

         15                 I want to thank Councilwoman Annette

         16  Robinson for her interest, because it is difficult

         17  when you have community gardens that have mainly

         18  been built by elderly people and worked by them and

         19  then they are expected to come down to City Hall and

         20  do everything in addition. It is a little too much,

         21  but thank you very much. And we hope you will all be

         22  able to come, or some of you, on Thursday.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. And

         24  you commended a very nice, sweet, hard-working

         25  committed Councilwoman. She paid me to say that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Ma'am, what

          3  time was that on Thursday?

          4                 MS. LESOLD: Three o'clock.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Now, did we hear

          7  everyone that must be heard?

          8                 May I thank all of you for coming and

          9  thank you for your patience. Give yourselves a hand,

         10  you deserve it.

         11                 Thank you. I wish to thank Council

         12  Member Fisher and all of the Council Members,

         13  Council Member Robinson, who paid me for that

         14  commercial I gave her or will pay me; Council Member

         15  Helen Marshall, who is walking much better and

         16  faster, and we are going to have to walk to keep up

         17  with her since here operation, and I pray God will

         18  continue to bless all of us, and thank you for

         19  coming, and we stand adjourned.

         20                 (The following testimony was read

         21  into the record.)

         22                 Intro. No. 356. By Council Member

         23  Freed; also Council Member O'Donovan.

         24                 Title: In relation to a street name,

         25  Lin Ze Xu Square, Borough of Manhattan.
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          2                 Intent: This legislation would add,

          3  through the posting of an additional sign, the name

          4  Commissioner Lin Ze Xu Square, to East Broadway

          5  between Oliver Street and Catherine Street within

          6  Chatham Square.

          7                 Comment: Commissioner Lin Ze Xu,

          8  1785-1850, is a national hero of China for his fight

          9  against narcotics during the Ching Dynasty. He is

         10  considered to be the first person to have declared

         11  war against drugs.

         12                 In the 18th century, the British,

         13  after their conquest of India, found that certain

         14  areas of India were especially fertile for the

         15  growing of poppies from which opium is derived.

         16                 The East India Company was

         17  established to purchase the Indian poppies and sell

         18  opium in china. Between 1729 and 1832, the British

         19  sales of opium jumped from about 40,000 pounds to

         20  three and a half million pounds.

         21                 On December 31, 1838, Lin Ze Xu was

         22  appointed by Emperor Daoguang as the Imperial

         23  Commissioner to wipe out opium addiction in

         24  Guangdong. He confiscated 2,376,254 Jin,

         25  approximately 1,400,000 kilograms or 2,600,000
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          2  pounds, of opium altogether and supervised the

          3  destruction of opium during a 23-day campaign

          4  characterized as being "with the power of a

          5  thunderbolt and the speed of lightning" beginning on

          6  June 3, 1839, in Humen, China.

          7                 People from the coastal area as well

          8  as the foreigners residing in guangdong were invited

          9  to witness the destruction so as to serve as a

         10  lesson to them.

         11                 Commissioner Lin Ze Xu oversaw the

         12  destruction of the opium in Canton. This ignited the

         13  opium war with the British. Three years later, China

         14  had lost the war and Lin Ze Xu lost his job. He has

         15  become a symbol of moral resistance to the invasion

         16  of drugs wherever its source. The United Nations has

         17  declared June 26th the day after the completion of

         18  the opium destruction, as International

         19  Anti-Narcotic Day.

         20                 This local law will take effect

         21  immediately.

         22                 Intro. No. 519: By: Council Members

         23  Carrion, DiBrienza, Eisland, Koslowitz, Michels and

         24  Reed (by request of the Bronx Borough President);

         25  also Council Members Foster, Leffler and Quinn.
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          2                 Title: To amend the New York City

          3  charter, in relation to the sale of any city-owned

          4  property currently used as a Greenthumb Community

          5  Garden.

          6                 New York City Charter: Adds a new

          7  paragraph six to subdivision b of section 384.

          8                 Intro. No. 522: By: Council Members

          9  Fisher, DiBrienza, Malave-Dilan, Eisland, Koslowitz,

         10  Marshall, Michels, Reed and Rodriguez (by request of

         11  the Brooklyn Borough President); also Council

         12  Members Carrion, Leffler, Robinson, Quinn and

         13  Eldridge.

         14                 Title: To amend the New York City

         15  Charter, in relation to imposing a moratorium on the

         16  sale of Greebthumb Community Gardens and requiring

         17  disposition of Greenthumb Community Gardens to be

         18  approved by the New York City Council.

         19                 New York City Charter: Adds a new

         20  subdivision c to section 384.

         21                 Res. NO. 631. By: Council Members

         22  Carrion, Fisher, DiBrienza, Eisland, Henry,

         23  Koslowitz, Michels and Rodriguez; also Council

         24  Members Foster, Leffler, Marshall, O'Donovan,

         25  Robinson, Quinn and Eldridge.
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          2                 Title: Calling upon the Legislature

          3  of the State of New York to amend the New York City

          4  Charter in the relation to the disposition of real

          5  property owned by the City of New York which is

          6  occupied or used by non-profit entities as part of a

          7  municipal Greenthumb or community garden program.

          8                 Res. No. 686. By: Council Members

          9  Boyland, Leffler and Reed; also Council Members

         10  DiBrienza, Fisher, Henry, Marshall, Michels,

         11  Rodriguez, Sabini, Watkins and White.

         12                 Title: Calling upon the New York

         13  State Legislature to pass A.3669 and S.2127, both

         14  introduced on February 3, 1999, by Assemblyman James

         15  F. Brennan and Senator John L. Sampson respectively,

         16  which would protect community gardens in New York

         17  City from sale to developers by dedicating them as

         18  parkland of the City.

         19                 Analysis and Background:

         20                 Intro. No. 519 would prohibit the

         21  City of New York, or any agency or department

         22  thereof, from selling, auctioning, exchanging,

         23  leasing or otherwise alienating any real property

         24  within the jurisdiction of the Department of Housing

         25  Preservation and Development, or real property
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          2  transferred to any other City agency or Department

          3  from the Department of Housing Preservation and

          4  Development, where such real property is used as a

          5  Greenthumb Community Garden for which technical

          6  assistance is provided to a non-profit community

          7  group by the Department of Parks and Recreation.

          8                 As enactment of this proposed local

          9  law would infringe upon the power of the Mayor to

         10  dispose of such real property, a referendum would be

         11  required for this legislation to take effect.

         12                 Intro. No. 522 would define a

         13  Greenthumb Community Garden as an interim use

         14  program functioning on City-owned real property with

         15  the provision of technical assistance by the

         16  Department of Parks and Recreation for the purpose

         17  of neighborhood beautification and the provision of

         18  community programming.

         19                 Intro. No. 522 would impose a

         20  one-year moratorium on the sale or transfer of title

         21  to any real property in use as a Greenthumb

         22  Community Garden on or before January 1, 1998. The

         23  term such real property could not be sold or the

         24  title thereto transferred without prior joint review

         25  on a case-by-case basis by the affected Community
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          2  Board, Borough President and the City Council.

          3                 As with Intro. No. 519, since

          4  enactment of this proposed local law would infringe

          5  upon the power of the Mayor to dispose of such real

          6  property, a referendum would be required for this

          7  legislation to take effect.

          8                 Res. No. 631 calls upon the New York

          9  State Legislature to amend the New York City Charter

         10  to permit the City Council to re-visit Uniform Land

         11  Use Review Procedure designations related to real

         12  property on which Greenthumb Community Gardens are

         13  located where such designations were approved over a

         14  decade ago by the now defunct Board of Estimate. It

         15  is these ULURP designations through which the Board

         16  of Estimate has been able to reach out from the

         17  proverbial grave and permit these properties to be

         18  sold at auction.

         19                 The City Council has provided such

         20  draft legislation to the State Legislature and has

         21  requested that the Legislature expeditiously adopt

         22  same.

         23                 Res. No. 686. Calls upon the New York

         24  State Legislature to pass A.3669 and S.2127,

         25  introduced by Assemblyman James F. Brennan and
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          2  Senator John L. Sampson respectively, which would

          3  protect community gardens in New York City from sale

          4  to developers by dedicating them as parkland of the

          5  City.

          6                 A.3669/S.2127 provides that community

          7  gardens leased to community groups for at least one

          8  year prior to the effective date of this state

          9  legislation shall be dedicated as parkland of the

         10  City of New York. Such parkland would be prohibited

         11  from being developed or sold unless the Community

         12  Board within which the community garden is located

         13  approves the garden's withdrawal from the community

         14  garden program.

         15                 Greenthumb Community Gardens.

         16                 The Greenthumb Community Garden

         17  program began in the 1970s as a way of involving

         18  local communities in neighborhood beautification

         19  efforts utilizing abandoned City-owned vacant lots.

         20                 These lots were, in many cases,

         21  garbage filled, rat-infested eyesores which were a

         22  blight upon the communities in which they were

         23  located.

         24                 Through hard work, often with

         25  assistance of various City agencies, community
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          2  volunteers turned these properties that no one

          3  wanted into beautiful oases.

          4                 There are an estimated 750 community

          5  gardens, and as total of approximately 11,000 vacant

          6  lots, throughout the City of New York. The

          7  communities in which they are located have, in many

          8  cases, seen a dramatic resurgence so that these

          9  formerly worthless abandoned properties now have

         10  value as sites for municipal development or as

         11  locations to be auctioned off for private

         12  development at which point they would return to the

         13  tax rolls.

         14                 In April of 1998, jurisdiction over

         15  741 of the Greenthumb Community Gardens was

         16  transferred from the Department of Parks and

         17  Recreation to the Department of Housing Preservation

         18  and Development. Within HPD, the program is

         19  currently supervised by the Assets and Sales Unit.

         20  Reportedly, 36 other community gardens have achieved

         21  permanency.

         22                 The Division of Real Estate Services

         23  of the Department of Citywide Administrative

         24  Services has begun the public notice process. (see:

         25  The City Record, January 8, 1999) required for the
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          2  sale by auction of 112 of these Greenthumb Community

          3  Gardens. These properties all completed ULURP under

          4  the aegis of the now defunct Board of Estimate and,

          5  therefore, barring a change in the New York City

          6  Charter no further Council action is required for

          7  the transfer of these properties.

          8                 Appended to this report are six

          9  document:

         10                 1) A memo dated January 6, 1999, from

         11  Council Speaker Peter F. Vallone to all Council

         12  Members summarizing the process involved in selling

         13  these community garden properties.

         14                 2) A letter dated May 8, 1998, from

         15  Council Speaker F. Vallone to Mayor Rudolph Giuliani

         16  urging that the transfer of the community gardens

         17  program to HPD be delayed.

         18                 3) an article from the January 11,

         19  1999 edition of the New York Times entitled "Auction

         20  Plan for Gardens Stirs Tensions"  (page B1).

         21                 4) An article from the December 31,

         22  1998 edition of the Times/Ledger Newspapers' Bayside

         23  Times entitled "Little Neck Could Lose Community

         24  Garden" (page 12).

         25                 5) A copy of A.3669/S.2127 referred
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          2  to in Res. No. 686.

          3                 6) A copy of res. No. 377 referred to

          4  below.

          5                 Staff Comment:

          6                 Resolution No. 377 (introduced by

          7  Council Member Foster; also Council Members Carrion,

          8  Cruz, Eisland, Eldridge, Fisher, Leffler and

          9  Michels), which called upon the appropriate

         10  committee of the Council to hold a hearing on the

         11  issue summarized above was heard by the Committee on

         12  Parks, Recreation, Cultural Affairs and

         13  International Intergroup Relations on January 15,

         14  1999. That hearing having been held, Res. No. 377

         15  was coupled to be filed. The full City Council

         16  approved this designation on January 20, 1999.

         17                 Intro. No. 519. Introduced by Council

         18  Members Carrion, DiBrienza, Eisland, Koslowitz,

         19  Michels and Reed (by request) of the Bronx Borough

         20  President, also Council Members Foster and Leffler,

         21  read and referred to the Committee on Parks,

         22  Recreation, Cultural Affairs and International

         23  Intergroup Relations.

         24                 A Local Law.

         25                 To amend the New York City Charter,
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          2  in relation to the sale of any city-owned property

          3  currently used as a Greenthumb community garden.

          4                 Be it enacted by the Council as

          5  follows:

          6                 Section 1. Subdivision b of section

          7  384 of the New York City Charter is amended by

          8  adding thereto a new paragraph six to read as

          9  follows:

         10                 6) The City of New York, and agencies

         11  or departments thereof, shall not sell, auction,

         12  exchange, lease or otherwise alienate any real

         13  property within the jurisdiction of the Department

         14  of Housing Preservation and Development, or real

         15  property transferred to any other city agency or

         16  department from the Department of Housing

         17  Preservation and Development where said real

         18  property is used as a Greenthumb Community Garden

         19  for which technical assistance is provided to a

         20  non-profit community group by the Department of

         21  Parks and Recreation for the purpose of maintaining

         22  said garden.

         23                 2) This local law shall take effect

         24  immediately after it shall have been approved by the

         25  voters at the next general election held after its
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          2  enactment into law.

          3                 Intro. No. 522.

          4                 Introduced by Council Members Fisher,

          5  DiBrienza, Malave-Dilan and Eisland, Koslowitz,

          6  Marshall, Michels, Reed and Rodriguez, by request of

          7  the Brooklyn Borough President, and Council Members

          8  Carrion, Leffler and Robinson, read and referred to

          9  the Committee on Parks, Recreation, Cultural Affairs

         10  and International Intergroup Relations.

         11                 A Local Law.

         12                 To amend the New York City Charter,

         13  in relation in imposing a moratorium on the sale of

         14  Greenthumb Community Gardens and requiring

         15  disposition of Greenthumb Community Gardens to be

         16  approved by the New York City Council.

         17                 Be it enacted by the Council as

         18  follows:

         19                 Section 1. Declaration of legislative

         20  findings and intent. The Council hereby finds and

         21  declares that there are many communities in the five

         22  boroughs of New York City which have limited open

         23  space and are underserved by traditional parkland.

         24                 New York City has one of the lowest

         25  open space ratios for residents of any Metropolitan
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          2  area:

          3                 2.5 acres per 1,000 residents.

          4  Thirty-three of the City's 59 community districts do

          5  not even meet these meager standards. Community

          6  groups have responded to the dearth of open space by

          7  developing Greenthumb Community Gardens in

          8  City-owned vacant lots and trash strewn spaces that

          9  have been neglected. Neighborhood volunteers have

         10  contributed considerable effort to make Greenthumb

         11  Community Gardens a vital component of neighborhood

         12  quality of life.

         13                 Community of gardens have a long

         14  history dated from the 1800s when gardens first

         15  appeared to reduce economic social discomfort in

         16  difficult times. The concept spread rapidly

         17  throughout the United States and took a firm hold in

         18  New York City.

         19                 In 1978 the City's Department of

         20  Parks and Recreation began to coordinate a Citywide

         21  "Greenthumb Community Garden" program. By the 1990s

         22  there were over 500 Greenthumb Community Gardens

         23  throughout the five boroughs. Today there are over

         24  700 successful Greenthumb Community Gardens in New

         25  York City.
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          2                 The Council further finds and

          3  declares that many of the interim agreements under

          4  which the Department of Parks and Recreation

          5  provides technical assistance to Greenthumb

          6  Community Gardens have run for as long as 20 years

          7  and have therefore created expectations on the part

          8  of the communities in which these gardens have

          9  flourished, that they will continue to exist.

         10                 While the Greenthumb Community Garden

         11  properties that the City now proposes to auction

         12  have gone through the Uniformed Land Use

         13  Review Procedure, ULURP, in many cases the

         14  conditions underlying these land use reviews have

         15  changed in the 15 or more years since these land use

         16  reviews were completed.

         17                 Thus, while there is a need to build

         18  housing and for commercial development in the City

         19  of New York, there is also a need to preserve

         20  successful Greenthumb Community Gardens and to

         21  preserve as much open space as possible in

         22  communities which are underserved by the parkland.

         23                 Greenthumb Community Gardens should

         24  be protected and incorporated into Housing and

         25  Economic Development Plans.
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          2                 2) Section 384 of the New York City

          3  Charter is amended by adding a new subdivision C to

          4  read as follows:

          5                 C1. For the purposes of this

          6  subdivision, Greenthumb Community Garden shall mean

          7  an interim use program functioning on any city-owned

          8  real property with the provision of technical

          9  assistance by the Department of Parks and Recreation

         10  for the purpose of neighborhood beautification and

         11  the provision of community programming.

         12                 2) no City-owned real property in use

         13  as a Greenthumb Community Garden on or before

         14  January 1, 1998 shall be sold or the title thereto

         15  otherwise transferred for a period of no less than

         16  one year from the effective date of this

         17  subdivision.

         18                 3) no City-owned real property in use

         19  as a Greenthumb Community Garden on or before

         20  January 1, 1998 shall be sold or the title thereto

         21  otherwise transferred without prior joint review on

         22  a case-by-case basis by the effective community

         23  board, Borough President and the Council.

         24                 3) Severability. If any position of

         25  this local law or application thereof is adjudged by
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          2  a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid,

          3  such judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate

          4  the remainder thereof, and the remainder of this

          5  local law and the application thereof to other

          6  persons or circumstances shall not be affected by

          7  such holding and shall remain in full force and

          8  effect.

          9                 4) This local law shall take effect

         10  immediately after it shall be approved by the voters

         11  at the next general election held after its

         12  enactment into law.

         13                 Resolution No. 631. Resolution

         14  calling upon the legislature of the State of New

         15  York to amend the New York City Charter in relation

         16  to the disposition of real property owned by the

         17  City of New York which is occupied or used by

         18  non-profit entities as part of a municipal

         19  Greenthumb or community garden program.

         20                 By Council Members Carrion, Fisher,

         21  DiBrienza, Eisland, Henry, Koslowitz, Michels and

         22  Rodriguez; also Council Members Foster, Leffler,

         23  Marshall, O'Donovan and Robinson.

         24                 Whereas; the Greenthumb Community

         25  Gardens Program began in the 1970s as a way of
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          2  involving local communities in neighborhood

          3  beautification efforts utilizing abandoned mostly

          4  city-owned vacant lots; and

          5                 Whereas; these lots were in many

          6  cases garbage filled, rat-infested eyesores, which

          7  were a blight upon the communities in which they

          8  were located and through hard work, often with the

          9  assistance of various city agencies, community

         10  volunteers turn these properties that no one wanted

         11  into beautiful oases; and

         12                 Whereas; there is an estimated 750

         13  community gardens located throughout the City of New

         14  York; and

         15                 Whereas; the communities in which

         16  these community gardens are located have, in many

         17  cases, seen a dramatic resurgence so that these

         18  formerly worthless abandoned properties now have

         19  value as sites for municipal development or as

         20  locations to be auctioned off for private

         21  development at which point they would return to the

         22  tax rolls; and

         23                 Whereas, in April of 1998,

         24  jurisdiction over 741 of the Greenthumb Community

         25  Gardens was transferred from the Department of Parks
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          2  and Recreation to the Department of Housing

          3  Preservation and Development where the program is

          4  currently supervised by the Assets and Sales Unit;

          5  and

          6                 Whereas; reportedly 36 other

          7  community gardens have achieved permanency status;

          8  and

          9                 Whereas; the Division of the Real

         10  Estate Services of the Department of Citywide

         11  Administrative Services has begun the public notice

         12  process (see: The City Record, January8, 1999),

         13  required for the sale by auction of 112 of these

         14  community gardens, and as these properties have all

         15  previously completed the Uniform Land Use Review

         16  Procedure process, no further City Council auction

         17  is required for the transfer of title to these

         18  properties; and

         19                 Whereas; the now defunct New York

         20  City Board of Estimate approved ULURP designations

         21  for many of these community garden properties 15 and

         22  20 years ago; and

         23                 Whereas; the New York City Council

         24  has, through changes to the New York City Charter,

         25  made pursuant to a Judicial ruling that the Board of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            140

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  Estimate was unconstitutionally structured succeeded

          3  to the Board of Estimate's Land Use authority; and

          4                 Whereas; the Board of Estimate should

          5  not be permitted to reach out from the proverbial

          6  grave through the effectuation of ULURP decisions

          7  rendered by it decades ago; and

          8                 Whereas, as the legally constituted

          9  legislative body of the City of New York, this

         10  Council should be permitted to revisit those ULURP

         11  decisions by the Board of Estimate and have not

         12  since been implemented; and

         13                 Whereas; changes in circumstances,

         14  including community needs and environmental concerns

         15  demand that these issues and the disposition of

         16  these properties be revisited rather than blindly

         17  implementing decades old ULURP designations; and

         18                 Whereas; there are approximately

         19  11,000 vacant City-owned lots throughout the City of

         20  New York which are available for auction instead of

         21  these community gardens which contribute so much to

         22  the education environment and social fabric of the

         23  communities in which they are located; and

         24                 Whereas; New York City should

         25  encourage the establishment of additional community
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          2  gardens in this City which has insufficient

          3  quantities of available open public space; now,

          4  therefore, be it

          5                 Resolved; that the Council of the

          6  City of New York calls upon the Legislature of the

          7  State of New York to amend the New York City Charter

          8  in relation to the disposition of real property

          9  owned by the City of New York which is occupied or

         10  used by non-profit entities as part of the municipal

         11  Greenthumb or community garden program.

         12                 Referred to the Committee on Parks,

         13  Recreation, Cultural Affairs and International

         14  Intergroup Relations.

         15                 Resolution 686.

         16                 Resolution calling upon the New York

         17  State Legislature to pass A.3669 and S.2127, both

         18  introduced on February 3, 1999 by Assemblyman James

         19  F. Brennan and Senator John. L. Sampson respective,

         20  which would protect community gardens in New York

         21  City from sale to developers by dedicating them as

         22  parkland of the City.

         23                 By Council Member Boyland:

         24                 Whereas; opportunities for open space

         25  recreation in New York City are critically lacking
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          2  and continually shrinking; and

          3                 Whereas; for decades volunteers from

          4  many communities have cleaned up hundreds of vacant

          5  lots throughout New York City and transformed these

          6  areas of urban blight into areas of beauty and

          7  respite for local residents; and.

          8                 Whereas; these gardens are works of

          9  love, dedication and community spirit which are

         10  highly valued by the residents; and

         11                 Whereas; the City of New York

         12  currently intends to sell most of the lots on which

         13  community gardens are located to developers for

         14  housing and other construction projects; and

         15                 Whereas; dedicating these lots as

         16  parkland of the City will protect them from

         17  development which currently threatens their

         18  continued existence; and

         19                 Whereas; community gardens and parks

         20  are very important to the quality of life in an

         21  urban area and are therefore worthy of legal

         22  protection; and

         23                 Whereas; the City of New York has

         24  already sold many community gardens and intends to

         25  aggressively continue this policy of sale and
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          2  development; now, therefore,

          3                 Be it resolved, that the Council of

          4  the City of New York calls upon the New York State

          5  Legislature to pass A.3669, and S.2127, both

          6  introduced on February 3, 1999, by

          7  Assemblyman James F. Brennan and Senator John L.

          8  Sampson respectively, which would protect community

          9  gardens in New York City from sale to developers by

         10  dedicating them as parkland of the City.

         11                 The Council. Committee on Parks,

         12  Recreation, Cultural Affairs and International

         13  Intergroup Relations.

         14                 Council Member Wendell Foster,

         15  Chairman.

         16                 Intro. Number 323. By Council Member

         17  O'Donovan.

         18                 Title: In relation to a street name,

         19  Florence Semple Way, Borough of Staten Island.

         20                 Intent: This legislation would add,

         21  through the posting of an additional sign, the name

         22  Florence Semple Way on Bowen Street, between Sobel

         23  Court and Roff Street.

         24                 Comment: Florence E. Semple was born

         25  on August 14, 1922, in New Brighton on Staten
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          2  Island. She was raised in Thompkinsville and

          3  educated at Public School 16 in Curtis High School.

          4  She also lived in Stapleton in West Brighton before

          5  she moved to Clifton where she lived for three

          6  decades. Ms. Semple attended Staten Island and Kings

          7  Borough Community Colleges and worked for many years

          8  in the field of medicine as a medical records

          9  librarian. Her work and personality gained her the

         10  respect of her colleagues during the years she spent

         11  in this endeavor.

         12                 Indeed, her work in establishing a

         13  medical records system in a New York State facility

         14  earned Ms. Semple an award from the Governor as

         15  employee of the year.

         16                 Florence Semple's love of God and

         17  compassion for all people ranked high in her

         18  priorities in life. She was an active participant in

         19  church activities and held various church positions,

         20  including president of the Missionary Board at First

         21  Central Baptist Church.

         22                 Ms. Semple was also a member of the

         23  Board of Trustees at Fellowship Baptist Church, the

         24  Urban Affairs Unit of the Staten Island Division of

         25  the Council of Churches and affiliated with the
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          2  Black Ministerial Alliance of Staten Island.

          3                 Florence Semple followed the

          4  teachings of Jesus in feeding the poor, helping the

          5  unfortunate, visiting the sick and witnessing her

          6  faith.

          7                 Florence Semple was also a community

          8  activist. She began her civic involvement while

          9  living at the Fox Hill's apartment complex. During

         10  her time there she organized residents to push for

         11  drug-free buildings. She set up meetings with

         12  officials at the 120th Police Precinct to patrol the

         13  area, despite threats from drug dealers.

         14                 After the dealers moved on, Ms.

         15  Semple continued to work to keep her building and

         16  the surrounding community drug-free through her work

         17  as President of the Tenants Council and the 120th

         18  Precinct Community Council, and as Chairperson of

         19  Community Board No. 1, for the Concord Clifton Park

         20  Hill area community.

         21                 Florence was deeply committed to

         22  serving the most troubled people within the

         23  community and would give them time to be sure they

         24  had a voice, said Joe Vaszily, current Chairman of

         25  Community Board No. 1.
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          2                 Florence Semple also worked to

          3  promote positive race relations on Staten Island.

          4  She was involved for many years in the Staten Island

          5  branch of the NAACP and the Staten Island branch of

          6  the New York Urban League. Ms. Semple also served as

          7  a number of race relations advisory councils over

          8  the years, and most recently the Board of Race

          9  Relations Advisory Committee of the New York City

         10  Police Department.

         11                 "She was a very special lady and

         12  leaves a very strong legacy" said Borough President

         13  Guy V. Molinari.  "She is someone Staten Island is

         14  going to miss. She was a lady who exerted great

         15  leadership during the Ernest Sayon incident. She was

         16  a strong voice of reason who helped keep calm in the

         17  community. Mr. Sayon was a 22-year-old Clifton man,

         18  who died in police custody in 1994.

         19                 She was a member of the Ambassadors

         20  of Peace which was formed as a result of the Sayon

         21  incident.

         22                 Borough President Molinari named Ms.

         23  Semple Black American woman of the year in February

         24  1998 and she received the Staten Island Advance's

         25  Woman of Achievement recognition in 1989.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            147

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 She remained an active participant

          3  even after her retirement in 1991 as a medical

          4  secretary of South Beach Psychiatric Center.

          5                 She was a volunteer for the community

          6  agency for senior citizens, intergenerational

          7  program, and worked on its 24-hour senior citizen

          8  hot line.

          9                 Florence Semple died on March 25,

         10  1998 at age 75. Surviving are two brothers, Clarence

         11  and Stanley, three sisters, Rosetta Newcombe,

         12  Roberta Semple, Shirley Cary; and two grandchildren

         13  and two great grandchildren.

         14                 In recognition of the years of

         15  devoted service to the Concord Clifton Park Hill

         16  Communities and the rest of Staten Island, it is

         17  appropriate that Bowen Street, between Sobel Court

         18  and Roff Street be called Florence Semple Way in her

         19  honor.

         20                 This local law will take effect

         21  immediately.

         22                 The Council, Committee on Parks,

         23  Recreation, Cultural Affairs and International

         24  Intergroup Relations, Intro. No. 397.

         25                 By Council Member Cruz; also Council
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          2  Members Foster and Rivera.

          3                 Title: In relation to a street name,

          4  Wesley G. Janzen Place, Borough of Bronx.

          5                 Intent: This legislation would add,

          6  through the posting of an additional sign, the name

          7  Reverend Wesley G. Janzen Place, and at the

          8  Northeast Corner at the Intersection of White Plains

          9  Road and Gleason Avenue.

         10                 Comment: The following biographical

         11  material was supplied by the Janzen Family.

         12                 Reverend Wesley G. Janzen was born in

         13  Steinbeck Manitoba Canada on August 21, 1941. He was

         14  one of the nine children born to Earnst George and

         15  Minnie Marie Janzen, who were citizens of the United

         16  States then living in Canada. Young Wesley attended

         17  grade school and high school in the Niagra Falls

         18  District of Ontario where he graduated in May 1960.

         19  In 1961 he enrolled at Eastern Pentecoastal Bible

         20  College in Petersborough, Ontario, where he met

         21  fellow student Isabelle Fidia.

         22                 Mr. Janzen graduated from EPBC in

         23  1964 an ordained minister, and on May 23rd of that

         24  year married Isabelle Fidia. This marriage lasted

         25  for the rest of his life and produced two children,
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          2  Kimberly Joy, 1966 and Timothy 1968.

          3                 Immediately after college Reverend

          4  Janzen became a Pastor at Cortrich Pentecoastal

          5  Assemblies of Canada, where he served for two

          6  years.  From 1966 to 1970 he served in the same

          7  capacity for Blenhem Pentecoastal Assemblies of

          8  Canada. In 1970 Reverend Janzen came to the United

          9  States and attended Central Bible College in

         10  Springfield, Missouri, where he earned a Bachelor of

         11  Arts degree in Bible the same year.

         12                 After receiving his degree, Mr.

         13  Janzen became Pastor at Scottsdale First Assembly of

         14  God in Scottsdale, Pennsylvania. Here he stabilized

         15  the church's finances by paying off the mortgage and

         16  holding fund-raisers to build a Christian education

         17  building. He remained in Scottsdale until 1976.

         18                 In 1976 Reverend Janzen became pastor

         19  of the Grace Pentecoastal Church in Johnstown,

         20  Pennsylvania, where he would remain for the next ten

         21  years.

         22                 During his time at Grace he earned a

         23  master's degree from Trinity Bible College of

         24  Indiana, Illinois. Mr. Janzen accepted the call to

         25  minister to the congregation at Church of Revelation
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          2  in the Bronx, New York in 1986. This ministry was to

          3  last the balance of his life.

          4                 When Reverend Janzen arrived at the

          5  Church of Revelation in 1986, weekly attendance at

          6  Worship Services was approximately 250 and at Sunday

          7  School approximately 85. In his 11 plus years at

          8  Revelation he raised worship services attendance to

          9  1,027 in 1977, then to 1,376 in 1998. Attendance was

         10  still rising at the time of his death.

         11                 Wesley G. Janzen received many

         12  commendations for his work at the church in the

         13  community. It was in fact difficult to separate one

         14  from the other.

         15                 In 1987 he established the Royal

         16  Rangers and the Missionettes. These were ministeries

         17  created to address the needs of boys and girls in

         18  the church and in the community.

         19                 Also, in 1987 he engineered the

         20  purchase of a house adjacent to the church to serve

         21  as a Chapel and Sunday school classrooms. He founded

         22  a college scholarship fund for the church's youth in

         23  1988 and created a youth choir called Rhythm and

         24  Praize. Simultaneously, an outreach department was

         25  formed to not only preach the gospel but to also
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          2  give out food to those in need.

          3                 In 1989 a group of young and no so

          4  young married couples was formed called Home

          5  Builders, to help strengthen failing marriages in

          6  homes of need of Christian guidance. Other

          7  initiatives included Reborn, 1991, a support group

          8  for people faced with life-controlling problems. A

          9  single parents ministry, 1992, and a young adults

         10  ministry, 1994.

         11                 He also expanded the church's

         12  physical plant in 1996 and held a church dedication

         13  service.

         14                 Amid these many other innovations,

         15  Reverend Janzen also served as treasurer for the New

         16  York City section of the New York District of

         17  Assemblies of God, and on both the Administrative

         18  Board and the Board of Directors of the Berean Bible

         19  Institute of the New York District of the Assemblies

         20  of God. In his lifetime he touched and enhanced the

         21  lives of thousands of people in the United States,

         22  Canada, Europe Africa and South America through his

         23  ministries and his support of Missionary trips.

         24                 Reverend Wesley G. Janzen passed on

         25  April 12, 1998. He was survived by his wife,
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          2  Isabelle, two children, Kimberly and

          3  Timothy, two grandchildren, Travis Norris and Aaron

          4  Timothy, four sisters, Alma Tate, Wilma Dell, Fern

          5  Cleavely, Lillian Bert; and one brother, Cecil

          6  Janzen.

          7                 In view of Reverend Janzen's many

          8  years of dedicated service to his church and to his

          9  community, it is fitting that the Northeast Corner

         10  at the intersection of White Plains Road and Gleason

         11  Avenue be named Reverend Wesley G. Janzen Place in

         12  his honor. It would be an appropriate recognition of

         13  his outstanding community service.

         14                 This local law will take effect

         15  immediately.

         16

         17  Testimony of:

         18  New York City Environmental Justice Alliance

         19

         20                 Community Open Space Inventory. New

         21  York City has one of the lowest open space standards

         22  for its citizens in the Metropolitan area of the

         23  country, Only 2.5 acres per 1,000 residents.

         24  Thirty-three of the city's 59 community planning

         25  districts or 56 percent do not meet this meager open
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          2  space standard. Twenty-nine of them, 49 percent have

          3  less than 1.5 acres of open space per 1,000

          4  residents. Nineteen of the community districts with

          5  less than 1.5 acres of open space are communities of

          6  color where the non-white and Hispanic population

          7  exceeds 65 percent.

          8                 In order to address the open space

          9  needs of underserved communities and the inequitable

         10  distribution of green open space resources in New

         11  York City, legislation should be adopted requiring

         12  that.

         13                 - the City create an inventory of

         14  public open space in each community district, which

         15  must include the parks, playgrounds, community

         16  gardens and other sites used for public recreation,

         17  whether under the jurisdiction of the Commissioner

         18  of Parks or other City agency and all City-owned

         19  vacant land in each district.

         20                 - based upon this inventory, the

         21  commissioner of Parks shall identify the open space

         22  ratio, acres per 1,000 residents, in each community

         23  district.

         24                 - districts have less than 75 percent

         25  of the recommended open space standard of 2.5 acres
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          2  per thousand residents, shall be deemed underserved,

          3  and districts with less than 50 percent of the

          4  standard deemed greatly underserved.

          5                 - each community board in its

          6  statement of needs may recommend creation of new

          7  open space or preservation of an open space

          8  recreational use on city-owned sites in the

          9  district.

         10                 - in districts that are underserved

         11  or greatly underserved, the city shall obtain

         12  approval of the community board prior to disposition

         13  of any site recommended for the creation or

         14  preservation of open space of such site, if such

         15  site is to be disposed of for any purpose other than

         16  public open space and recreation.

         17                 - in a case where a site identified

         18  by the community district for the creation or

         19  preservation of open space in a greatly underserved

         20  community has already been ULURP'd for disposition,

         21  the City shall obtain a new ULURP authorization for

         22  use of the site for any purpose other than space or

         23  recreation.

         24                 I am writing to ask you to help save

         25  New York City's community gardens. The people of New
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          2  York City overwhelmingly do not want these gardens

          3  sold.

          4                 I ask you for a complete moratorium

          5  on the sale of all gardens and expansion of the

          6  community garden program. There is no reason for

          7  anything else. This is not an issue of low-income

          8  housing versus gardens. HPD is already declined to

          9  build on these lots. There has recently been a

         10  flurry of legislation introduced on the City and

         11  State levels and I think all of you have been

         12  involved for showing your support on this issue, but

         13  none of it is strong enough.

         14                 All of the gardens must be

         15  safe-guarded and the community gardens program must

         16  be expanded. I work every weekend in the Cherry Tree

         17  Garden in the South Bronx. It is my favorite place

         18  in the whole world. People come from the

         19  neighborhood and all 9over the City to rest in our

         20  peaceful green space. Some children from the

         21  projects across the street came over once and asked

         22  if we have painted the birch trees white. They had

         23  never seen them before.

         24                 Our children should not grow up

         25  without green space to play in and grow things in.
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          2  People who take the initiative and improve their

          3  neighborhoods should be rewarded, and as they have

          4  been in the past through the Greenthumb Program, not

          5  punished and hurt.

          6                 I meet gardeners now who look haunted

          7  and sick. They are scared for their gardens. There

          8  is no reason for this.

          9                 I ask you to ask the state senate to

         10  stop the auction. I have. They can do it, but they

         11  won't step in unless you ask them.

         12                 I thank you all very much for your

         13  crucial support for this issue. You have a chance to

         14  improve quality of life for New Yorkers in all five

         15  boroughs who live in neighborhoods which fall far

         16  below mandated open space requirements. Please save

         17  our gardens.

         18

         19  Testimony of:

         20  Sierra Club Community Gardens Committee

         21  Leslie Heathcote

         22  Co-Chair.

         23

         24                 Statement in support of Intros 519,

         25  522 and Resolutions 631 and 686.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            157

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2                 My name is Leslie Heathcote and I am

          3  co-chair of the Sierra Club Community Gardens

          4  Committee.

          5                 I want to express the Sierra Club's

          6  support for Intros. 519 and 522 and Resolutions 631

          7  and 638.

          8                 The Sierra Club has over 12,000

          9  members Citywide who are incensed about the threat

         10  to community gardens. We urge you to take active

         11  measures to preserve these valuable community spaces

         12  by passing these intros and resolutions.

         13                 The Sierra Club's position on this

         14  issue consists of three major points:

         15                 1) All community gardens should be

         16  preserved as permanent open space.

         17                 2) The City needs to develop an open

         18  space plan, which includes expansion of the

         19  community garden program in areas that are

         20  underserved by open space.

         21                 3) Responsible government agencies

         22  and elected officials must prevent any transfers of

         23  community gardens into the development process. We

         24  hope that the City Council will move rapidly on

         25  legislation that would protect the community gardens
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          2  before the May auction and before more gardens are

          3  fed into the development process.

          4                 New York City's community gardens are

          5  environmental treasures. The Sierra Club is watching

          6  to see how City Council members respond to the

          7  current crisis.

          8                 Again, we support Intros 519 and 522

          9  and resolutions 631 and 686 and urge the City

         10  Council to act rapidly on behalf of the community

         11  gardens.

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  Cynthia Nibbelink Worley

         15  Co-Director

         16  Project Harmony, Inc.

         17

         18                 Community gardens were created by

         19  people of goodwill who only wanted the best for

         20  themselves and their neighbors.

         21                 Community gardens sought to uplift

         22  their mostly ravaged, torn-up, neglected

         23  communities. Indeed for nearly two decades City

         24  government not only welcomed but forcefully

         25  encouraged these volunteers in their efforts,
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          2  getting them to plant everything from trees to the

          3  biggest tomato and the longest, most perfect bean.

          4                 Trees stand tall now cleaning the air

          5  where rubbish once toxified the entire neighborhood.

          6  And now with the thousands of City-owned lots still

          7  vacant, thousands of vacant buildings useless, we

          8  have a Mayor who has decided the gardens and

          9  communists and the gardens got to go. A Mayor who

         10  runs this City as only a despot could, in virtual

         11  isolation. A Mayor who, as former Mayor Koch has

         12  declared, "disembowels people". Yes, to destroy

         13  unnecessarily that which people of good faith and

         14  good will spent years struggling to give life to,

         15  that is to  "disembowell" people.

         16                 City gardeners cared for the

         17  neighborhood children, taught them, looked after the

         18  seniors, made life hopeful for many who had long

         19  forgotten their last hope.

         20                 On January 14, 1999, an editorial in

         21  the New York Times said that to bulldoze a working

         22  community garden is an act of neighborhood violence.

         23  If members of the Council of the City of New York

         24  understand at all what tireless efforts, what love,

         25  what faith and hope gardeners have put into their
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          2  communities, they would understand that to destroy a

          3  garden is to disembowel people. It is an act of

          4  violence.

          5                 For the City Council to not look at

          6  the reality that thousands of truly vacant lots and

          7  buildings, to not see the invaluable asset community

          8  gardens and gardeners, their hope, their care, their

          9  love, this is the infrastructure we need, are for

         10  this City is beyond me.

         11                 For the Mayor to call gardeners

         12  communists is not only some kind of political

         13  grandstanding from another planet, though one would

         14  hope life there is more humane, it is depraved.

         15                 It is frightening to think any of you

         16  can believe Giuliani is anything but a totalitarian

         17  administrator, it is frightening to think that you

         18  are getting monetary support from the same sources

         19  he is, is frightening to think we have officials in

         20  this City who are so gutless they dare not disagree

         21  with the Mayor's ruinous plans, it is even more

         22  frightening to think we have politicians too stupid

         23  to disagree with the Mayor's ruinous plans.

         24

         25  Testimony of:
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          2  Claire Doyle

          3  H. Wilson Company

          4

          5  Ref: Letter to Sandra at CUNY Campus.

          6

          7                 Hi Sandra:

          8                 I know that you are going to attend

          9  the City Council meeting on Monday and will be able

         10  to present E.mailed letters. I would like you to

         11  submit my opinions on the proposed sale of community

         12  gardens.

         13                 Community gardens, such as those that

         14  are due to be auctioned in May are a vital resource

         15  in neighborhoods that often have very little in the

         16  way of green spaces. They are also focuses for

         17  community involvement.

         18                 For instance, where I work in the

         19  Highbridge Section of the Bronx, there are few

         20  private gardens or parks. The community gardens here

         21  are maintained by volunteers who work there in their

         22  spare time and are places where neighbors can

         23  interact. In many cases these lots used to be

         24  garbage-filled eyesores that attracted drug dealers.

         25                 I understand that these lots were
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          2  leased out on a temporary basis. However, surely the

          3  time and effort that communities have devoted into

          4  turning these empty lots into beautiful gardens

          5  ought to be taken into consideration.

          6                 According to the New York Times, the

          7  City has 11,000 vacant lots, surely some of these

          8  could be auctioned off instead of auctioning the

          9  gardens.

         10                 I support the efforts of Speaker

         11  Vallone in the City Council to save these community

         12  gardens and hope that they will be successful.

         13

         14  Testimony of:

         15  Jeanlee Poggi

         16

         17                 My name is Jeanlee Poggi. I am a

         18  community gardener in Washington Heights and a

         19  public member of the Parks

         20  Environment Community of Community Board 12.

         21                 I am here to urge your support of

         22  Intro. 519, 522, and Reso 631 and 686 which would

         23  protect greenthumb gardens from destruction.

         24                 As you know, the Mayor plans to

         25  eradicate these volunteer-run gardens, which have
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          2  been mainstays for their communities. The gardens

          3  have made a positive difference in all of the

          4  neighborhoods where they are located, when many of

          5  our neighbors gave up hope in the eighties, we

          6  gardeners kept our faith in the City and the

          7  possibilities of change that people of goodwill

          8  could bring about.

          9                 We showed that formerly rat-infested

         10  filthy lots could be turned into places of beauty.

         11  We said no crime here, and we stood our ground when

         12  we were harassed by criminals and drug dealers.

         13                 We provided opportunities for our

         14  kids to learn about nature and to get together under

         15  the supervision of neighbors who care.

         16                 We brought life, beauty and cultural

         17  events to neighborhoods that were denying. Now the

         18  Mayor has decided we are worthless.

         19                 He is wrong. The gardens and our

         20  dedicated volunteers are an irreplaceable asset to

         21  communities.

         22                 I urge you to support the legislation

         23  to stop the bulldozing of gardens.

         24                 In many cases gardeners have appealed

         25  directly to members of the community for support for
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          2  gardens in their districts.

          3                 I understand from the attached letter

          4  written by Speaker Vallone that the legislation

          5  cannot stop the planned May sale of over 100

          6  community gardens.

          7                 As you know, that sale includes some

          8  of the most beautiful most highly honored gardens in

          9  the City. I believe that sale can be stopped. It

         10  will take strong, public action.

         11                 Who could believe that the only

         12  recourse gardeners now have is to do acts of civil

         13  disobedience. I intend to join in such acts and hope

         14  you will too.

         15                 I also urge you to write to Mayor

         16  Giuliani in support of community gardens in your

         17  district, send a copy to Deputy Mayor Joseph Lhota.

         18                 Thank you for your support and for

         19  holding this hearing. I would also like to thank my

         20  City Councilmen Councilman Michels and Councilman

         21  Linares, for their support for the gardens in our

         22  neighborhood, and these throughout our community.

         23  Testimony of:

         24  Dimetrius Gianarez

         25  Letter to Sandi at Cuny Campus
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          2

          3                 Dear Sandra: I understand that you

          4  are able to attend City Council hearings in regards

          5  to the Greenthumb Gardens. I wanted to express my

          6  support for the efforts to remove Greenthumb Gardens

          7  from the auction block. It does not make sense to

          8  dispose of Greenthumb Gardens that provide open

          9  space and a bit of beauty to a block on an

         10  unrestricted basis. It only makes sense to sell

         11  large Greenthumb Gardens where appropriate for

         12  housing development in areas where no alternatives

         13  exist by either bundling a combination of other

         14  empty lots and decayed housing or rehabbing sealed

         15  apartment buildings.

         16                 If other alternatives do not exist

         17  and Greenthumbs should be sold, or there be an

         18  auction with restrictions or by soliciting requests

         19  for proposals to ensure that housing does get built.

         20  The Greenthumb gardens are valuable to the people of

         21  the neighborhoods and provide a stabilizing force

         22  for people within those neighborhoods to be disposed

         23  of without more scrutiny.

         24                 Thank you for your hard work. Please

         25  keep me up to date when you can.
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          2

          3  Testimony of:

          4  Leslie Rubenstein

          5  Re: To Sandra at CUNY Campus

          6

          7                 Dear Sandra, I understand that you

          8  will be attending a meeting of the City Council

          9  regarding a proposed auction of 115 community garden

         10  sites on May 13th. Please add my name to the list of

         11  people who are most adamantly against such a

         12  proposal.

         13                 New York City has very little green

         14  space as it is, and the community gardens provide

         15  much needed contact with nature.

         16                 More importantly, the community

         17  gardens encourage more residents to get to know each

         18  other as they get together to improve their

         19  neighborhoods. In a City where it is far too easy

         20  lead any anonymous life devoid of contact with those

         21  who live around you, community gardens provide the

         22  opportunity to break through that anonymity and make

         23  New York City a friendlier and more livable place.

         24                 People have worked hard on these

         25  gardens and take a lot of pride in them.  To auction
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          2  them off now sends a message loud and clear that

          3  community spirit is wasted on any such efforts.

          4                 There are plenty of sites available

          5  for such development, aside from the community

          6  gardens.

          7                 Rehabilitating old abandoned

          8  buildings would be a much better choice than

          9  destroying a garden that is already treasured by a

         10  community.

         11                 Thank you for sharing this message

         12  with the City Council. Good luck.

         13

         14  Testimony of:

         15  Brenda Woodward

         16  To: Sandra at CUNY Campus

         17

         18                 Claire tells me that you will be

         19  attending a City Council meeting on the subject of

         20  the auction of community gardens that opinions will

         21  be welcome. What really makes me sad about the

         22  auction is that it seems a case of poor getting poor

         23  while the rich get richer, and the government, which

         24  should have the responsibility for helping those who

         25  can't help themselves is ripping them off instead,
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          2  taking away the wasteland that they have transformed

          3  by their own efforts from garbage dumps and needle

          4  drops into garden spaces where they can grow food

          5  and flowers and enjoy some respite from innercity

          6  lives.

          7                 The obvious result, it seems to me

          8  will be to increase the frustration, anger, apathy

          9  and cynicism that are the characteristic attitudes

         10  of people who are at the bottom of the economic

         11  pile.

         12                 I happen to work with Green Guerillas

         13  on the vacant lot they were helping to convert to a

         14  garden near the love garden that was bulldozed one

         15  morning with no notice, under the eyes of the school

         16  children who had helped to make it who went to

         17  school across the street.

         18                 It was a lovely garden, and the kind

         19  of mentality or lack of mentality that allowed that

         20  destruction to occur simply beneath contempt.

         21                 Unfortunately being beneath contempt

         22  doesn't keep it from going on.

         23                 I wish those who are allowing the

         24  community gardens to be auctioned would cast their

         25  minds back to the small group of protestors to try
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          2  to save Penn Station and ask themselves if the City

          3  wouldn't be better off if the priceless landmark had

          4  been allowed to stand. Not that these gardens are

          5  comparable in terms of the money or materials that

          6  have gone into them, but they are comparable to the

          7  ones we allow, comparable in that once we allow them

          8  to be destroyed, they are gone for good.

          9                 We can't undelete them or the effects

         10  their destruction will have on the people of this

         11  City. We should think long and hard before we allow

         12  that destruction to take place.

         13                 I really commend the City Council for

         14  focusing on this issue.

         15

         16  Testimony of:

         17  Tony Cesar

         18

         19                 To whom it may concern:

         20                 Please stop the sale of community

         21  gardens. It is imperative for the quality of life in

         22  this City to keep all gardens.

         23                 They enrich the lives of communities,

         24  it is well worth it for all City residents. We, as a

         25  City, have to value the green spaces. We need more
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          2  gardens. They are beautiful, clean the air, offer

          3  constructive outlets, enable us to get close to

          4  nature, teach ecology in all of these ways, as well

          5  as so many more increase the quality of life and

          6  upgrade our City.

          7                 Save all community gardens. As a

          8  taxpayer, I know that gardens are good for the

          9  health and wealth of the City. We need more

         10  community gardens.

         11

         12  Testimony Of:

         13  Leo Whitfield

         14  Memo in Support.

         15

         16                 We lobby in support of Introduction

         17  519, 522 and Resolution 631.

         18                 Intro. 519 amends the City Charter

         19  and if passed would prohibit the sale of community

         20  gardens. After adoption by the City Council, this

         21  amendment would have to be proved by the New York

         22  City voters on the next general election in

         23  November.

         24                 Introduction 522 amends the City

         25  Charter, and if passed, would impose a moratorium
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          2  retroactive to January 1998 and for one year

          3  thereafter on the sale of community gardens and

          4  would require approval of the City Council if the

          5  Mayor wants to sell greenthumb gardens.

          6                 The bill would also require a

          7  case-by-case review of the community board, Borough

          8  President and the Council prior to any change in the

          9  status of the community garden.

         10                 After passage by the Council, the

         11  bill will have to be approved by New York City

         12  voters at the next general election in November.

         13                 Resolution 631, calls upon the State

         14  Legislature to amend the City Charter. The

         15  legislation urges that the uniformed land use review

         16  procedures performed 15 to 20 years ago regarding

         17  the community gardens that are now for sale were

         18  approved by the Board of Estimate.

         19                 The Courts have ruled that the Board

         20  of Estimate was unconstitutional and abolished. The

         21  Board of Estimate should not be able to rule from

         22  the grave and allow the properties to be sold.

         23                 The resolution also urges that ULURP

         24  decisions made 15 and 20 years ago do not take into

         25  account changes in community needs, environmental
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          2  concerns and in general changes the circumstances.

          3                 It calls upon the State Legislature

          4  to amend the City Charter regarding the disposition

          5  of community gardens in the Greenthumb program.

          6  Resolution 686 calls upon the State Legislature to

          7  pass A.3669 and S.2127 which protects community

          8  gardens from sale to developers by dedicating them

          9  as parkland of the City.

         10

         11  Intro. 519, introduced by Carrion, DiBrienza,

         12  Eisland, Michels, Koslowitz and Reed; also by Foster

         13  and Leffler.

         14                 Intro. 522, introduced by Fisher,

         15  DiBrienza, Malave-Dilan, Eisland, Koslowitz,

         16  Marshall, Michels, Reed and Rodriguez; also by

         17  Carrion, Leffler and Robinson.

         18                 Reso 631, introduced by Carrion,

         19  Fisher, DiBrienza, Eisland, Henry, Koslowitz,

         20  Michels, Rodriguez, also by Foster, Leffler,

         21  Marshall, O'Donovan and Robinson.

         22                 Reso 686, introduced by Boyland.

         23

         24  Testimony of:

         25  Francine Rogers
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          2  Neighborhood Advisory Committee Garden

          3

          4                 My name is Francine Rogers and I have

          5  been a community gardener for over 16 years at the

          6  Neighborhood Advisory Committee Garden, Block 2397

          7  lot 213 at 360-362 East 151st Street in the South

          8  Bronx.

          9                 I am here to speak in favor of

         10  Resolution 631 which asks that the City Council be

         11  permitted to revisit ULURP decisions made by the now

         12  defunct Board of Estimate.

         13                 Intro. 519 which requires that any

         14  property being used as a Greenthumb community garden

         15  would not be sold, auctioned, exchanged, leased or

         16  otherwise alienated.

         17                 Intro. 522, which would stop the sale

         18  of gardens and require that any disposition be

         19  approved by the City Council.

         20                 The reason I am for Resolution 631

         21  and Intros 519 and 522 is very personal and based

         22  more on my experiences over years on East 151st

         23  Street with my fellow gardeners that on any analysis

         24  of the workings of City government, the Mayor's

         25  mindset or his political ambition.
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          2                 The transfers of garden leases, their

          3  non-renewal and then the massive listings of gardens

          4  for auction without any real consultation, inquiry

          5  or collaboration or neighborhood planning by City

          6  officials with the people of each neighborhood is

          7  unjust and insulting.

          8                 Instead of the City asking what the

          9  people of a neighborhood would want, they are

         10  telling us what we are going to get or lose.

         11                 So, I am here today to urge members

         12  of the Committee to quickly pass these intros and

         13  this resolution in order that they be moved into the

         14  full vote in the City Council.

         15                 It has been said that the Mayor does

         16  not respect the City Council but I would like to

         17  point out that the respect of the voters of the City

         18  is more important than the Mayor's.

         19                 I guarantee that any action to save

         20  the community gardens will be appreciated and

         21  remembered for a long time by all grateful City

         22  dwellers. You all know that gardens are a source of

         23  fresh air, beauty and stability in our

         24  neighborhoods. Blossoming fruit trees, spring

         25  flowers have always been a sign of hope to those
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          2  within our neighborhoods or just passing through our

          3  streets. Why are these symbols of hope being taken

          4  away from us and being replaced by bulldozed empty

          5  lots again? Do we not need these signs of hope,

          6  especially today?

          7                 Please pass Resolution 631, Intro.

          8  519 and Intro. 522 to send the message to City

          9  planners that we need and want the community garden

         10  program maintained and expanded.

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Manhattan Neighborhood Council

         14

         15                 We call on New York City to preserve

         16  and protect for future generations through the

         17  creation of the community garden land trust, the

         18  over 200 acres of open space in over 750 community

         19  gardens. These gardens are less than ten percent of

         20  the City's inventory of over 11,000 vacant

         21  city-owned lots and hundreds of abandoned buildings.

         22                 Community gardens are created by the

         23  community volunteers who donate thousands of hours

         24  to make their neighborhoods a cleaner, safer, more

         25  beautiful space.
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          2                 We urge the City to refer to the

          3  community gardens by name, rather than by block and

          4  lot number as is currently the case.

          5                 We call on the City Council Parks

          6  Committee and the City Council to pass resolution

          7  377, which currently is in front of the Parks

          8  Committee.

          9                 This resolution calls for the

         10  appropriate committee of the City Council of New

         11  York to hold hearings on the transfer of the

         12  Greenthumb Community Gardens from the Parks

         13  Department to HPD's assets and sales unit and

         14  further, calling upon the City to maintain and

         15  expand the community garden program based on its

         16  significant contribution to the revitalization and

         17  quality of life of New York City.

         18                 We oppose any transfer of any

         19  City-owned gardens to New York City Economic

         20  Development Corporation for an accelerated sale.

         21                 We urge the creation of new permanent

         22  community gardens to also be included under the

         23  community garden trust in response to the nation's

         24  highest asthma rates and the City's perennial

         25  failure to meet federal air quality regulations.
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          2                 We urge the City to analyze existing

          3  infrastructure, including open space, before the

          4  decision is made to build additional housing on any

          5  currently open space or vacant land which currently

          6  houses a garden.

          7                 Note: The 750 community gardens

          8  constitute a third community managed and maintained

          9  botanical garden at no cost to New York City.

         10                 All across the United States

         11  community gardens are flourished by municipal

         12  governments who recognize the numerous benefits of

         13  community volunteer designed and maintained gardens

         14  provide: Fresh air, safety, recreation, a healthier

         15  environment for all, educational opportunities,

         16  community cohesion, crime prevention, increased

         17  property values and tax receipts. Now is our chance

         18  to rethink our urban environment for the 21st

         19  century.

         20                 Intro. 519, introduced by Council

         21  Members Carrion, DiBrienza, Eisland, Koslowitz,

         22  Michels and Reed by request of the Bronx Borough

         23  President, also Council Members Foster, Leffler and

         24  Quinn.

         25                 A local law to amend the New York
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          2  City Charter in relation to the sale of any

          3  City-owned property currently used as a green thumb

          4  community garden.

          5                 Intro. 522, introduced by Council

          6  Member Fisher, DiBrienza, Malave-Dilan, Eisland,

          7  Koslowitz, Michels, Marshall, Reed and Rodriguez, by

          8  request of the Brooklyn Borough President, also

          9  Council Members Carrion, Leffler, Robinson, Quinn

         10  and Eldridge, a local law to amend the New York City

         11  Charter in relation to imposing a moratorium on the

         12  sale of Greenthumb Community Gardens and requiring

         13  disposition of Greenthumb Community Gardens to be

         14  approved by the New York City Council.

         15                 Resolution 631, by Council Members

         16  Carrion, Fisher, DiBrienza, Eisland, Henry,

         17  Koslowitz, Michels and Rodriguez, also Council

         18  Members Foster, Leffler, Marshall, O'Donovan,

         19  Robinson, Quinn, and Eldridge.

         20                 Resolution calling upon the

         21  legislature of the State of New York to amend the

         22  New York City Charter in relation to the disposition

         23  of real property owned by the City of New York which

         24  is occupied or used by non-profit entities as part

         25  of a municipal Greenthumb for community garden
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          2  programs.

          3                 Resolution 686, by Council Members

          4  Boyland, Leffler and Reed; also Council Members

          5  DiBrienza, Foster, Henry, Marshall, Michels,

          6  Rodriguez, Sabini, Watkins and White.

          7                 Resolution calling upon the New York

          8  State Legislature to pass A.3669 and S.2127, both

          9  introduced on February 3, 1999, by Assemblyman James

         10  F. Brennan and Senator John L. Sampson respectively,

         11  which will protect community gardens in New York

         12  City from sale to developers by dedicating them as

         13  parkland of the City Council Chambers, City Hall,

         14  Wendell Foster, Chairperson.

         15                 SLR 61. To support state legislation

         16  and S.2127, A.3669 by Senator Sampson to preserve

         17  community gardens by dedicating them as parkland in

         18  the City of New York. New York State, State Level.

         19  S.2127, A.3669- dedicates communities gardens as

         20  parkland of the City of New York sponsored by

         21  Senator Sampson, introduced by Senator Montgomery,

         22  Santiago, Seabrook, Smith, Waldron, Assemblymembers

         23  A. Brennan, Farrell, A. Cohen, Glick, Klein,

         24  Dinowitz, Stringer, A.B. Connolly, Cook, Lafayette,

         25  Lentil, Millman, Rivera, Scarborough, Wright.
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          2                 S211.A and A.4810A - makes

          3  non-for-profit corps eligible to apply for Clean

          4  Water Clean Air Bond Act funds to acquire or improve

          5  community gardens.

          6                 Introduced by

          7  Senator Montgomery, Markowitz, Nanula, Oppenheimer,

          8  Rosado, Sampson, Schneiderman, Smith, Walden,

          9  Assembly Members A. Millman, Van Cohen, A.B

         10  Connolly, D. Connolly, Espala, Jacobs, Lester,

         11  Scarborough, Settio, Stringer, E.C. Sullivan and

         12  Tokacs.

         13

         14  Testimony of:

         15  Bedford Mosholou Community Association

         16  Janice Flood

         17  Gardener

         18

         19                 Twenty years ago this was an

         20  abandoned lot of burned houses. This rat-infested,

         21  rubble strewn, abandoned lot was adopted with the

         22  support of community board member Barbara

         23  Stronseiger in the community.

         24                 These individuals provided a living

         25  respite for community residents for 20 years.
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          2  Through dedicated efforts of these community

          3  individuals, this garden was turned into a place

          4  where residents could feel hope for their labors,

          5  cherish and feel the strength of their neighborhood.

          6  A true horticultural site to look at for all

          7  passers-by young and old to stop and take in the

          8  sites and smells and views.

          9                 In 1981 and '82 the garden won prizes

         10  for their hard-won effects, two Molly Parnes Awards.

         11                 Through the years this garden has

         12  become a source of beauty supported by New York

         13  Botanical Garden Green Up Division, New York City

         14  Parks Greenthumb and the back-breaking labors of

         15  individuals.

         16                 I have been a gardener here for six

         17  years and the contact person for this garden. I work

         18  full time but make time to attend workshops for

         19  gardeners and in turn share with others the

         20  priceless joys of gardening and bringing children

         21  and others into this garden.

         22                 Our diverse gardeners range from a

         23  Korean grandmother and entrepreneur to a Bronx Dance

         24  Theater Science Class.

         25                 The zoning laws establish that
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          2  according to code this plot is not large enough to

          3  build or meet the minimum requirements to construct

          4  housing or a commercial building, since the

          5  community does not know the plans for this lot.

          6                 We can only conclude, therefore, that

          7  this site is also not zoned for a parking lot and

          8  that the only purpose for this lot is for a purpose

          9  for an individual to pursue this course of action.

         10                 However, this lot is not even two car

         11  lengths wide. In light of the code and zoning

         12  obstacles, it is understandable that rational people

         13  could believe there is some outside influence

         14  working to force a specific decision to be made.

         15                 In view of this line of pursuit, I

         16  feel this Committee is disregarding any and all

         17  opinions of individual communities relating to the

         18  disposition of these gardens as specifically this

         19  parcel within this community.

         20

         21  Testimony of:

         22  The Enchanted Garden

         23  John F. Kennedy High School

         24  Environmental Club.

         25
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          2                 Dear City Council Member, we, the

          3  members of the Environmental Club at John F. Kennedy

          4  High School, an organization of over 100 students

          5  and faculty members, urge you to support legislation

          6  as drafted by Ken Fisher and Adolpho Carrion that

          7  could stop the May auction of our community gardens.

          8                 We, ourselves, have learned firsthand

          9  the enormous benefits gardens can bring to the

         10  immediate communities. To say that our school has

         11  gained much from having access to the earth is to

         12  speak modestly.

         13                 We can understand how the garden

         14  slated for such auction also play a vital role in

         15  their communities, and it is our wish that the City

         16  evaluate the benefits the garden provides to its

         17  people before making executive decisions on the fate

         18  of the land in which the garden sits.

         19                 We are all following the community

         20  garden crisis closely, and it is our hope that the

         21  Council works on behalf of the community supporting

         22  the resolutions of Council members Fisher and

         23  Carrion.

         24

         25  Students and Kennedy Staff Members: Save Our
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          2  Gardens.

          3                 No, the Enchanted Garden is not going

          4  to get bulldozed tomorrow, nor is it projected to be

          5  auctioned off in the near future, yet many gardens

          6  in the City may be lost forever this spring and we

          7  never know when our turn may come, so it is in our

          8  interest to support fellow gardeners.

          9                 Mayor Giuliani is planning to auction

         10  off more than 100 of New York City's community

         11  gardens next month top private developers. Right now

         12  some members of the City Council are trying to draft

         13  resolutions that will prevent our Mayor from

         14  indiscriminately selling off these valued green

         15  spaces.

         16                 This Monday there will be a hearing

         17  in which various defenders of community gardeners

         18  will present arguments against the sale and will

         19  present petitions.

         20                 Please sign below indicating that you

         21  support legislation that could help stop the May

         22  auction and preserve community gardens in New York

         23  City.

         24                 This petition will be sent to City

         25  Hall, along with other petitions next Monday.
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          2                 I support legislation that could help

          3  stop the May auction of community gardens in New

          4  York City.

          5

          6  Testimony of:

          7  Manhattan Borough President

          8  C. Virginia Fields

          9

         10                 I am testifying today on behalf of

         11  four pieces of legislation that will protect

         12  Greenthumb Community Gardens. Calls for the removal

         13  of gardens from the May auction have thus far gone

         14  unanswered.

         15                 Last April I opposed the request by

         16  the Department of Housing Preservation and

         17  Development for the emergency hold and transfer of

         18  741 City-owned properties of which most were

         19  community gardens.

         20                 Over the last few months I have

         21  testified at the public hearings encouraging that

         22  these community gardens not be put up for auction.

         23                 On these many occasions I have stated

         24  that while the development of affordable housing for

         25  low and middle-income is one of my highest
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          2  priorities, I have serious concerns about the

          3  magnitude of this request and the lack of

          4  information on plans for individual sites. I also

          5  encourage that these sites should be a part of

          6  comprehensive planning initiatives for each

          7  neighborhood that include clear criteria for

          8  identifying development sites and preserving and

          9  expanding garden sites.

         10                 Members of the Committee in

         11  Manhattan's neighborhoods, as in Manhattan's

         12  clothing stores, one size does not fit all. City

         13  policies should recognize diverse community needs

         14  and interests and incorporate community input.

         15                 Many of these lots went through the

         16  ULURP process ten or 15 years ago. While the law

         17  says that once a property has completed the ULURP

         18  process it can be legally disposed of, common sense

         19  tells us that a community's needs change over a

         20  number of years and these decisions should be

         21  reviewed with the community input and

         22  representation.

         23                 And now time is running out as our

         24  requests have gone unheeded. The legislation we are

         25  considering appears to be our only alternative to
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          2  preventing the whole sale auction of these gardens.

          3                 These pieces of legislation are a

          4  step in the right direction. They send a strong

          5  message about our commitment to preserving these

          6  community gardens.

          7                 I applaud our efforts of the

          8  policy-makers who drafted this legislation. I am

          9  pleased that the resolutions in question address

         10  many of these issues I have raised.

         11

         12  Testimony of:

         13  Fernando Ferrer

         14  Borough President of the Bronx

         15

         16                 In support of saving community

         17  gardens, Borough President Ferrer's testimony on his

         18  proposal, Intro. 519.

         19                 Good afternoon, Chairman Foster. I am

         20  Fernando Ferrer, Borough President of the Borough of

         21  the Bronx.

         22                 For several months, New Yorkers

         23  throughout the five boroughs have clearly voiced

         24  their anger and dismay over the Giuliani

         25  Administration's proposed mass sell off of a
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          2  substantial percentage of community gardens under

          3  the jurisdiction of the Department of Housing

          4  Preservation and Development.

          5                 The harm to our neighborhoods from

          6  this ill-advised threat to scarce open space is

          7  greatly magnified by the proposed action's

          8  inexcusable failure to place appropriate

          9  restrictions on the use of the sites.

         10                 It should be clearly recalled that

         11  many of these gardens began as an important means of

         12  eliminating the poorly used lots, many of which were

         13  neglected and trash strewn. In its attempt to

         14  minimize the unusual nature of this extraordinary

         15  divestiture of a vital resource, the Mayor has

         16  completely ignored the rich historical legacy that

         17  community gardens have established both in New York

         18  and indeed throughout the United States.

         19                 For over a century, these miniature

         20  Edens which first appeared in Detroit in 1893 as a

         21  means to reduce economic and social discomfort have

         22  been a cherished American tradition. Whether called

         23  Liberty Gardens early in the century, or Victory

         24  Gardens during World War 2, or by any other term,

         25  they have been an irreplaceable wellspring of local
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          2  pride and fresh air in areas that urgently need

          3  those assets.

          4                 I initiated this legislation before

          5  you, Intro. 519, to safeguard community gardens, and

          6  all that they mean to New Yorkers. The measure

          7  introduced by Council Member Carrion amends the

          8  property of the City Chapter of the Charter by

          9  adding a new subsection to Section 384, which

         10  addresses the disposal of City property.

         11                 Specifically Intro. 519 would

         12  prohibit the sale, auction, exchange, lease,

         13  transfer or alienation of City property used as a

         14  Greenthumb Community Garden maintained by a

         15  community non-profit organization.

         16                 This legislation is an appropriate

         17  and necessary response to an unfortunate attempt to

         18  eliminate a successful long established resource

         19  with the proposal that provides no community input

         20  and no safeguards.

         21                 I urge the Committee to strongly

         22  support Intro. 519.

         23

         24  Testimony of:

         25  Howard Golden
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          2  Borough President of Brooklyn.

          3                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman. I want

          4  to thank you for the opportunity to testify on

          5  legislation regarding community gardens that has

          6  been introduced by Council Member Kenneth Fisher at

          7  my request.

          8                 If adopted by the Council, a

          9  moratorium would be placed on the sale of City-owned

         10  property utilized as community gardens.

         11                 We are all aware that community

         12  gardens began as interim uses of vacant lots at a

         13  time when the City was unable to advance development

         14  in certain neighborhoods. For as long as two

         15  decades, community gardeners have worked to maintain

         16  these sites, which were once trash filled vacant

         17  lots.

         18                 They turned them into garden oases,

         19  educational centers, sitting parks, meeting places

         20  and flower and vegetable gardens.

         21                 These community gardens serve as

         22  valuable open space assets to their communities

         23  which are often underserved. As echoed by the

         24  community gardeners, these are not vacant lots, they

         25  are gardens. It has always been my position that if
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          2  these sites are not needed for housing or economic

          3  development, then the gardens should either be

          4  transferred to the Department of Parks and

          5  Recreation or to a non-for-profit corporation for

          6  management.

          7                 The Hattie Carthan Memorial Garden in

          8  Brooklyn is an excellent example of this approach.

          9  This community garden was transferred to the

         10  Department of Parks and Recreation and is now a

         11  permanent garden.

         12                 The Administration's inclusion of

         13  community gardens in its May 12, 1999 auction sale

         14  is unacceptable. It has been my belief that many

         15  vacant City-owned lots remain a blight to

         16  neighborhoods even after they are sold to private

         17  owners.

         18                 Recently I directed my staff to

         19  conduct an in-depth analysis to determine the status

         20  of City-owned properties after they are sold through

         21  the City's auction process.

         22                 The results of the study demonstrate

         23  that many properties sold through auctions are

         24  dirty, underutilized, unreproductive and are in

         25  violation of the zoning resolution.
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          2                 Out of the 440 parcels of vacant land

          3  in Brooklyn auctioned in the City in the last five

          4  years, only six percent have been utilized for

          5  housing or economic development.

          6                 Over 60 percent of the vacant lots

          7  remain undeveloped dumping grounds for abandoned

          8  vehicles and garbage. Based on the study, there is

          9  no question that the sale of community gardens would

         10  result in the loss of valuable community facilities

         11  which will most likely become eyesores.

         12                 City-owned property should be

         13  developed to provide housing passive and active

         14  recreation space to foster economic development to

         15  build schools and to establish community facilities;

         16  therefore, I believe that new policies and

         17  procedures for the disposition of City-owned

         18  property should be established.

         19                 A new City Land Review Board should

         20  be created to review and recommend such procedures

         21  and allow qualified not-for-profit corporations to

         22  manage and purchase these properties, recognizing

         23  that the inventory of City-owned properties will be

         24  dwindling, I trust that the City Administration and

         25  City Council will review my recommendations outlined

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            193

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  in this study and take immediate action to ensure

          3  coordination and proper planning for the use of all

          4  City-owned property.

          5                 Recently the Administration visited

          6  the Gill Hodges Memorial Garden in Brooklyn and

          7  realized that it is an asset to its community. It

          8  was then withdrawn from the City auction.

          9                 I would welcome the opportunity to

         10  give the Administration a tour of the 51 Brooklyn

         11  Community Gardens that are scheduled to be auctioned

         12  in May so that their special values can be seen.

         13                 I urge all Council Members to call

         14  Mayor Giuliani and request that the gardens be

         15  withdrawn from the auction. I also trust that you

         16  will move forward with the legislation that council

         17  Member Fisher introduced at my request and support

         18  the other local laws and state legislation to save

         19  the future of community gardens.

         20                 Thank you.

         21

         22  Testiomony of:

         23  Brian Jost

         24  South Brooklyn Open Space Alliance

         25
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          2                 Dear Council members: Thank you for

          3  holding this public hearing today and including

          4  community garden legislation on the agenda. This is

          5  one of the very few positive developments, giving

          6  community gardeners hope at the most difficult time.

          7                 I would like to provide you a brief

          8  history of our efforts to address Mayor Giuliani's

          9  plans to auction community gardens.

         10                 In January of 1999, it was announced

         11  in the City Record, a publication used by the City

         12  to announce official actions and hearings in

         13  accordance with City law that the Department of

         14  Citywide Administrative Services would be offering

         15  for sale at public auction 371 parcels of which 126

         16  were community gardens administered by the

         17  Department of Parks and Recreation's Greenthumb

         18  Program.

         19                 Four public hearings were also

         20  announced in accordance with City law, at which

         21  people were invited to address many concerns they

         22  had regarding this sale.

         23                 This hearings held in January and

         24  February were well attended and hundreds of gardens

         25  spoke in opposition to the sale of community gardens
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          2  and explained the many benefits community gardens

          3  provide to the people of the City of New York. At

          4  the last hearing about 30 community garden activists

          5  were arrested after staging at sit-in at City Hall

          6  in an attempt to get the Mayor himself to listen to

          7  the concerns of community gardeners.

          8                 Although the Mayor was out of town

          9  this event was favorably covered by the press. A

         10  grassroots coalition of community garden activists

         11  organized a well-attended and publicized conference

         12  and rally for April 9th and 10th of 1999.

         13                 These events were attended by many

         14  state and City politicians who expressed their

         15  support for their community gardeners and their

         16  opposition to the sale, as well as over 1,000 garden

         17  advocates, many from as far as Philadelphia and

         18  Wisconsin.

         19                 The Brooklyn Borough President's

         20  Office also released a report showing that most lots

         21  sold on the public auction remain vacant eyesores

         22  rife with illegal vehicle storage and garbage

         23  dumping.

         24                 Mayor Giuliani has so far had no

         25  reaction to these legislative and grassroots

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            196

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  efforts. The trust for public land, in cooperation

          3  with many major New York City-based philanthropists

          4  has prepared a proposal to the Giuliani

          5  Administration that in exchange for 2 million and an

          6  additional capital fund for future  maintenance,

          7  that all gardens be removed from the May auction and

          8  that a number of garden properties be transferred

          9  immediately to TPL for inclusion in a land trust.

         10                 It is expected that at open sale the

         11  garden properties on the auction would raise between

         12  $3 million and $6 million for City coffers. Despite

         13  the efforts of a paid lobbyist, the Giuliani

         14  Administration has not shown any interest in

         15  accepting this proposal to date. The offer, however,

         16  has not yet been rejected out of hand and remains on

         17  the table.

         18                 Green Guerillas and a number of

         19  co-plaintiffs are poised to file a state and federal

         20  lawsuit in an effort to get an injunction placed

         21  stopping the May auction. The grounds are both

         22  procedural and based on the great harm that this

         23  sale will cause disproportionately to minority and

         24  low-income communities.

         25                 In an ongoing effort, hundreds of
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          2  letters and phone calls have been directed to the

          3  Mayor and other elected officials attempting to

          4  persuade them to remove gardens from the auction

          5  list.

          6                 To date, only two gardens have been

          7  removed from the auction list as a result of

          8  political pressure. A few others were removed

          9  because of procedural errors by DCAS.

         10                 Currently 115 community gardens

         11  remain on the auction list. Community garden

         12  advocates plan to stage protests and civil

         13  disobedience until the Mayor changes his mind on

         14  this policy. Unfortunatel6y, we expect many arrests.

         15  Because the City Council legislation will not stop

         16  the auction, even if passed there has been a

         17  parallel effort on the state levels.

         18                 Senator John Sampson has introduced a

         19  bill which would declare all community gardens,

         20  parkland under the state rules which would then

         21  require approval of the state legislators in order

         22  to be sold.

         23                 Senate Valmenette, Montgomery and

         24  Assemblywoman Joan Millman have introduced

         25  legislation which would make community gardens
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          2  eligible for funding through the New York State

          3  Environmental Bond Act possibly allowing their

          4  purchase by the community groups who care for them.

          5                 Neither of the state bills have been

          6  scheduled for a vote and it is doubtful that any

          7  state law will pass prior to the May 13th Auction.

          8                 At this point there is very little

          9  left for gardeners to do but stage civil

         10  disobedience. We are hoping that by your efforts

         11  today you will put pressure on the Mayor to call off

         12  this auction.

         13                 In addition, you will send a message

         14  to the full City Council that community gardens are

         15  an important resource that deserve special

         16  consideration for preservation.

         17                 In the last two years, according to

         18  HPD statistics compiled by the Brooklyn Alliance for

         19  Neighborhood Gardens, 115 additional gardens have

         20  been lost to commercial and residential

         21  developments. This often is a long, drawn-out

         22  procedure where HPD terminates a garden and then

         23  takes years to build on the site where the former

         24  gardeners watch the lot revert to the eyesore it

         25  once was.
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          2                 Let us stop the slow death of

          3  community gardening by once and for all establishing

          4  a review process that will make some gardens

          5  permanent, release some for development, In the

          6  absence of other vacant buildable lots and keep HPD

          7  to their word when they promise relocation sites to

          8  gardeners.

          9                 We have every confidence that you

         10  will hear us and do the right thing on this most

         11  important issue.

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  Green Guerillas

         15                 Neighborhood Treasures For Sale. 115

         16  Community Gardens for Sale at New York City's Public

         17  Auction May 13th, 1999.

         18                 Neighborhood Treasures for Sale. On

         19  May 13, 1999, 115 community gardens are scheduled to

         20  be sold to the highest bidder. This document is an

         21  attempt to portray what community gardeners already

         22  know if the auction takes place, much more than

         23  plants, trees and fences will be lost. These

         24  community gardens are vital neighborhood centers,

         25  providing of millions of dollars of free services to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            200

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS

          2  underserved neighborhoods.

          3                 Children will lose safe, accessible

          4  play spaces, seniors will lose places to rest in the

          5  shade, hungry people will lose access to fresh food,

          6  in a city where so much divides us, diverse groups

          7  of people will lose places to work together to make

          8  concrete improvements to their neighborhoods.

          9                 The City has continually painted a

         10  picture of community gardens as out of touch with

         11  reality.

         12                 These gardens, the City argues, must

         13  give way for revenue. We hope this document helps

         14  tell the real story.

         15                 The community gardeners are much more

         16  in touch than any group of people in New York City.

         17  They are in touch with what their neighbors need,

         18  places to learn, grow and build communities, and

         19  they roll up their sleeves and do something about it

         20  every day. They deserve a bright future.

         21                 About Green Guerrillas. Since 1973,

         22  Green Guerrillas' staff and volunteers have helped

         23  thousands of people realize their dreams of turning

         24  vacant, rubble-strewn lots into vibrant community

         25  gardens.
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          2                 In the coming year, we will help

          3  hundreds of grassroots groups strengthen underserved

          4  neighborhoods through community gardening. With our

          5  help people will grow food, plant flowers, educate

          6  youth, paint colorful murals and work to preserve

          7  their garden in vital community centers for future

          8  generations.

          9                 To find out how you can get involved

         10  in the Citywide effort to preserve New York City's

         11  community gardens contact us at 625 Broadway, 9th

         12  Floor, New York New York 10012, 212 674-8124, or

         13  www.greenguerillas.org.

         14                 Manhattan, from the Lower East Side

         15  to Harlem, community gardens have flourished.

         16  Manhattan neighborhoods once blighted by abandoned

         17  buildings and empty lots created by neighbors

         18  determined to revitalize their communities. The

         19  gardens are now threatened by their own success.

         20                 Rising real estate values have

         21  created a great demand for building space and

         22  gardens are being pushed out of already crowded

         23  neighborhoods.

         24                 268 Lower East Side People Care,

         25  271/63. This season the garden plans on donating all
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          2  of its vegetable and herb crops to the neighborhood

          3  soup kitchen. Eight foster children from the Jewish

          4  child care association will assist the members in

          5  building new vegetable beds.

          6                 The garden has hosted various holiday

          7  events for children, including Halloween and

          8  Christmas parties. The Lower East Side People Care

          9  Garden was established in 1991. This garden has the

         10  support of Community Board 3 to remain a permanent

         11  garden site.

         12                 269. Iglesia Pentecoastal

         13  Arcadesalvacion is a small garden which started in

         14  1980. It is composed of raised vegetable beds and a

         15  casita.

         16                 It is run by a small group of

         17  Spanish-speaking gardeners. The group is affiliated

         18  with a local church who shares the produce with

         19  church parishioners.

         20                 270-271 Parquede Tranquilidad,

         21  373/10, 11, 12, 11 is not up for auction. This neat

         22  and attractive garden is extremely well cared for, a

         23  reflection of the dedication of those who work on

         24  it.

         25                 In 1980, volunteers cleared three
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          2  lots of six foot high rubble and found a garden now

          3  noted for its romantic or English style, it has an

          4  overgrown lush and natural look.

          5                 Gardeners adhere to environmentally

          6  sound principles using mulch rather than pesticides.

          7  No disinfectants or chemicals and a minimum amount

          8  of plastic.

          9                 As a result, this garden has a wealth

         10  of birds, butterflies and insects. The garden

         11  provides music, drama and visual arts workshops for

         12  children and poetry readings and science classes for

         13  local school children.

         14                 It is a meeting place for block

         15  associations, environmental groups, housing

         16  organizations and labor groups.

         17                 This garden has the support of

         18  Community Board 3 to remain a perfect garden.

         19                 272. All Peoples' Garden. 373/59, 59.

         20  This garden was created in 1978 by former

         21  Vista volunteer Olean for in an effort to unite her

         22  block against heavy drug trafficking in her

         23  neighborhood.

         24                 The garden is a meeting ground for

         25  neighbors to exchange and learn new skills. Special
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          2  holidays and events are celebrated, including an

          3  annual August block party and gift contribution for

          4  children at Christmas.

          5                 This season students from a local

          6  school and Head Start Pre-schoolers from Escula

          7  Hispana Day Care Center are scheduled to begin

          8  planting and participating in garden workshops.

          9                 The garden's color mural was painted

         10  by a homeless man who used to work in the garden.

         11  This garden has the support of Community Board 3 to

         12  remain a permanent garden site.

         13                 272 Coradon Evaden Garden. 394/67.

         14  Begun in 1982, this small, narrow, well kept garden

         15  with communnal ornamental plants and fruit vines and

         16  trees in the front and individual vegetable plots in

         17  the back, many of varieties of fruits are grown in

         18  this small space, which include kiwis, grapes,

         19  peaches, nectarines and black berries.

         20                 The gardeners have reached out to the

         21  handicapped neighbors in the building next door.

         22                 The Coradon Evaden gardeners help the

         23  disabled neighbors get some recreation by bringing

         24  them to the garden and teaching them their craft.

         25                 274. 11th Street Block Association.
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          2  438/19. This formerly overgrown litter strewn lot

          3  was converted into a garden in 1982 and was tended

          4  by neighborhood volunteers. It contains mature

          5  plantings of trees, shrubs and perennials, a

          6  sheltered picnic area and brick paths.

          7                 Every weekend in the summer the

          8  community comes together for barbecues and poetry

          9  readings. Over 60 members help maintain the numerous

         10  flowers, vegetables and herbs. This garden has the

         11  support of community board 3 to remain a permanent

         12  garden site.

         13                 257. Albert's Garden. 458/40, 41.

         14  Started in 1971, this unique Manhattan Garden, is an

         15  ideal spot for travelers, commuters and visitors to

         16  take a break.

         17                 This garden is open to any children

         18  interested in learning horticulture. The Bowery

         19  Group frequently sends volunteers to help prune and

         20  plant. The garden has also hosted ceremonies and

         21  celebrations for area residents. This garden has the

         22  support of Community Board 3 to remain a permanent

         23  garden site.

         24                 276. Pleasant Park Garden. 1708/29,

         25  129. Lot 20 is not up for auction.
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          2                 Over 50 volunteers have helped plant

          3  and maintain this garden's many flower beds. The

          4  garden was started in 1996 by local volunteers.

          5  Members open the garden to the community during

          6  holiday and neighborhood events. This garden has

          7  been essential in uniting this diverse neighborhood.

          8  Unfortunately, due to the City's auction and

          9  development plans, many of the garden's members have

         10  become discouraged and are losing interest and

         11  planning for this next season.

         12                 277. St. Mark's Orthodox Monastery.

         13  1711/8911, lots eight and nine are not up for

         14  auction.

         15                 This garden is basically a private

         16  yard for the Monastery. It does not involve the

         17  community. Currently the Monastery is investigating

         18  ways to purchase the lot.

         19                 278. East Harlem Council, 1711/13.

         20  The East Harlem Council Garden was started in 1985.

         21  The Council runs the East Harlem's Head Start

         22  Program and have integrated gardening into the

         23  children's regular curriculum.

         24                 Gardening provides the teachers with

         25  an ongoing outdoor hands-on activity that is perfect
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          2  for the summer months, when, unlike schools, the

          3  Head Start Program is still in session.

          4                 Community members are working with

          5  the Council to make the garden safer and easier to

          6  use for small children. They have begun construction

          7  for the season which will include repairing the

          8  summer house and building raised beds.

          9                 279. Los Amigos Garden. 17176/50.

         10  This is a small vegetable garden with a casita. It

         11  was started in 1992.

         12                 280. Harlem Crossroads Neighborhood

         13  Association. 1753/67, 68 and 168. Started in 1995,

         14  this garden has been a positive influence on this

         15  Harlem Neighborhood. Over 30 dedicated children help

         16  plant corn, watermelons and peppers. In the past

         17  members join Police Precinct 25 in neighborhood

         18  spring clean-up activities.

         19                 Senior citizen members from the All

         20  Saints Church also offer time and help to the

         21  children.

         22                 Last Halloween members designed a

         23  haunted house and each April the garden holds an

         24  annual easter egg hunt as incentive and reward for

         25  their laborious duties, children are fed hot dogs,
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          2  hamburgers and soda at the end of each work day.

          3                 This year the garden is planning on

          4  teaming with children's Store Front, an area school

          5  for planting and harvesting activities.

          6                 281. Papos Garden. 178337/38. Papos

          7  Garden started over eight years ago and became part

          8  of the Greenthumb Program in 1993.

          9                 The garden has over 60 members of all

         10  ages. Many community groups, including two classes

         11  from PS 96, Puerto Rico and Pentecoastal Church and

         12  senior citizen group used as the garden's 50

         13  vegetable plots. The gardeners hold regular events,

         14  including birthday parties and barbecues and a

         15  recently held food and clothing drive for Central

         16  American hurricane victims.

         17                 Papos Garden is open every Monday

         18  through Saturday from 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.

         19                 282 La Casita, 1784/11. La Casita

         20  works closely with Papos Garden to serve as a

         21  community activity center for different church

         22  groups and an after school program named Upward

         23  Bound, Inc.

         24                 La Casita has many informal

         25  neighborhood parties and barbecues for the children
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          2  and community groups. It was established in 1990.

          3                 283. Carver Community Garden.

          4  1788/30, 31, 32, 34. This large four-lot garden has

          5  grown vegetables for 11 years.

          6                 The garden is used by a local day

          7  care center as a play area.

          8                 In harvest season the children come

          9  to pick tomatoes and ask the gardeners questions

         10  about planting.

         11                 This garden is also host to an annual

         12  Independence Day Celebration which the whole

         13  neighborhood enjoys. All is given to elderly and the

         14  needy.

         15                 La Perla Garden, 1840/61, 63, lot 63

         16  is not up for auction. In three short years, a drug

         17  and prostitution hang-out became Manhattan Valley's

         18  Mother Garden. Nurturing its own members, it has

         19  also inspired the birth of other gardens. Now,

         20  silver vine squash and rosing impatients, point the

         21  way to this garden's numerous pieces of art.

         22                 From its inception the garden has

         23  been an active participant in the community. They

         24  are open to the public from spring to early Autumn.

         25  They have sponsored a variety of events for the
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          2  benefit of the community, including a Mother's Day

          3  party, a Halloween party for children, as well as

          4  the number of local concerts and comedy shows.

          5                 The highlight event is our annual

          6  summer festival and barbecue which is open to the

          7  public and features free food and live musical

          8  performances.

          9                 La Perla has provided gardening space

         10  for residents of a local home for the mentally ill

         11  and hosted visits from local elementary school

         12  classes.

         13                 More informally they have provided a

         14  learning experience for the neighborhood's children.

         15  Many of whom have come in off the street and

         16  volunteered to help with their projects.

         17                 Community Board 7 supports the

         18  preservation of this garden site.

         19                 285. CEP/CASES Community Garden.

         20  1953/28, 29. Lot 29 is not up for auction.

         21                 In April 1992, participants in the

         22  Community Service Sentencing Project began clearing

         23  two rubble-strewn lots on the corner of 126th Street

         24  and Frederick Douglas Boulevard.

         25                 Over the past seven years, 2,200 CSSP
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          2  participants have worked 7,150 hours to create and

          3  maintain the garden. In the summer mostly senior

          4  citizens plant trees, flowers and vegetables in the

          5  garden.

          6                 Youth who participate in CEP, Court

          7  Employment Project, plant in the garden as well.

          8  This summer the Education Unit at Cases plans to use

          9  the garden in a series of lectures about herbal

         10  medicine. The garden is home to a beautiful mosaic

         11  mural created with the leadership of Cases young

         12  people last summer.

         13                 286. Bradhurst Avenue Tenants

         14  Association. 2046,35. This Block and Tenant

         15  Association has worked with the neighborhood youth

         16  to build a picnic area and vegetable garden in the

         17  corner of the Frederick Douglas Boulevard in 152nd

         18  Street.

         19                 Founded in 1978, this garden contains

         20  mature trees and shrubs, as well as permanent

         21  in-ground benches and chess tables.

         22                 287. West Harlem's Group Assistance

         23  Program. 2074/29. Started in 1983, this garden has

         24  provided the needy harvest for over 15 years. These

         25  community activists work closely with Cases, a group
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          2  that places people who have been sentenced to

          3  community service to plan and build a picnic area

          4  and vegetable garden for the community. Many of the

          5  vegetables and fruit harvest are given to the local

          6  Catholic Church.

          7                 288. Community Group of 500, 146th

          8  Street, Block 2077/43.

          9                 Teachers from public school 153,

         10  which is located across the street from the garden,

         11  bring these kindergarten classes to plant and care

         12  for the raised beds assigned to them.

         13                 The garden is also used by local

         14  residents as a meeting place. Neighbors founded the

         15  garden in 1991.

         16                 289. Mopals. 2079/11. More than 20

         17  senior citizens maintain this vegetable flower

         18  garden. Accompanied by their teachers, students from

         19  PS 153 assist the seniors in planting and

         20  harvesting. The garden opened in 1992 with the help

         21  of neighborhood volunteers.

         22                 290. West 150th Street, Block

         23  Association. 2082/127. This garden started in 1982,

         24  it is small and very shaded. Tended by a group of

         25  senior citizens. The garden is used by the
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          2  pre-school on the corner of Amsterdam and West

          3  150th. Teachers from the school supplement their

          4  curriculum with garden activities.

          5                 Additionally the gardeners plan an

          6  easter egg hunt for the school children.

          7                 Besides the formal partnership with

          8  the school, there are many informal gatherings held

          9  by neighbors, including cookouts and birthday

         10  parties.

         11                 Queens: Most, if not all, of the

         12  community gardens in Queens are on very small lots

         13  in residential areas dominated by single-family

         14  homes. The gardens have arisen on sites that are

         15  either too small or irregularly shaped to build

         16  housing.

         17                 Instead of allowing the sites to

         18  remain as eyesores, many neighborhood and civic

         19  associations at Queens have transformed them into

         20  gardens.

         21                 Southeast Queens, where most of the

         22  gardens are located, is perfectly ill-served with

         23  traditional parks, making these sites even more

         24  important as outdoor recreational areas.

         25                 291. McIntosh Neighborhood
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          2  Association. 1650/2. McIntosh Neighborhood

          3  Association started their garden in 1978. This large

          4  site contains over 20 raised beds for growing

          5  vegetables and flowers and many mature trees. The

          6  garden provides a much-needed open space for crowded

          7  immigrant communities in Corona, and also maintains

          8  a relationship with PS 127.

          9                 Neighbors of many different ethnic

         10  groups and ages had a chance to meet here and share

         11  knowledge brought with them from diverse homelands.

         12  Use of this property is restricted by zoning to open

         13  space uses only. This garden has the support of

         14  Community Board 3 to remain a permanent garden site.

         15                 292. Malcolm X Day Care Center.

         16  1726/14. Malcolm X Day Care started this garden in

         17  1980 in order to provide an outdoor space for

         18  children attending the center to play.

         19                 Formerly children were forced to use

         20  the roof of the day care building. The day care

         21  center, in conjunction with local schools, provides

         22  educational programs in the garden through the

         23  Greenthumb Education in the Gardens Program.

         24                 The day care center has advocated

         25  strongly to retain their playground garden space and
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          2  has widespread political and institutional support

          3  in Corona.

          4                 This garden has the support of

          5  Community Board 3 to remain a permanent garden site.

          6                 293. Van Nostrand Court Association,

          7  826/81. Van Nostrand Court Association Community

          8  Garden has been used as a garden at a playground

          9  area since 1925.

         10                 The homeowners in this Queens

         11  development used to own this piece of land but it

         12  was seized for a sewer assessment in 1970.

         13                 After being briefly sold to a private

         14  individual at auction, the parcel returned to City

         15  ownership in 1973 for non-payment of taxes. The

         16  garden has been a part of the Greenthumb Program

         17  since 1993. It has a long grassy strip with

         18  ornamental plantings and removable play equipment.

         19  Thirty families have a legal easement to use the

         20  site for recreation.

         21                 The Van Nostrand Court Homeowners are

         22  active in their community and well connected

         23  politically. Van Nostrand Court is a private street

         24  within a development. However, all of the adjacent

         25  home-owners have access and the gardeners are
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          2  willing to provide open hours.

          3                 294. Dunton Block and Civic

          4  Association. 10072-18. Since 1984, young and old

          5  from the Dunton Block and Civic Association have

          6  worked to turn a vacant lot into community gardening

          7  where neighbors can relax and socialize.

          8                 Saturday afternoons play host to

          9  children's board games, and at night the adults have

         10  social meetings. The garden is tended by senior

         11  citizen neighbors and serves as a town square for

         12  the area.

         13                 Community Board 12 opposes the

         14  auction of garden sites in its district and foremost

         15  their long-term use as community gardens.

         16                 295. Garden of Eden, Lakewood Avenue

         17  Garden. 10078/43. Since 1984 this garden has

         18  provided area residents and the needy with fruits

         19  and vegetables.

         20                 After 15 years, many area children

         21  who helped build the garden continued to help

         22  maintain it. Some gardeners who are now college

         23  students or married bring their children to visit

         24  the garden as well.

         25                 Community Board 12 opposes the
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          2  auction of garden sites in its district and promotes

          3  their long-term use of community gardens.

          4                 296. The Cambria Heights Civic

          5  Association. 113227/1. In 1979 area residents began

          6  this garden in hopes of assisting the area's needy

          7  elderly and children. The garden members are mostly

          8  senior citizens.

          9                 Squash, raspberries and pumpkins are

         10  grown and distributed throughout the community. In

         11  fact, over 300 pounds of sweet potatoes were grown

         12  last year alone.

         13                 This once rubble-strewn vacant lot

         14  now has a sitting area complete with brick footpads,

         15  picnic table, benches and a barbecue pit.

         16                 297. Baisely Park Community League.

         17  12356/21. Baisely Park Community League Garden has

         18  been active since 1992. It is a small triangular lot

         19  running alongside railroad tracks. It contains

         20  raised planting beds and a few picnic tables and

         21  serves as an informal park for this residential

         22  area.

         23                 The site is irregularly shaped and

         24  unbuildable and would make an excellent small

         25  sitting park with a little more emphasis on its
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          2  development.

          3                 Community Board 12 opposes the

          4  auction of garden sites in its district and promotes

          5  their long-term use as community gardens.

          6                 298. Merrick Mardsen Neighbors

          7  Association. 12371/332/333. Merick Mardsen Neighbors

          8  Association Garden, was developed by a local

          9  development corporation as a community

         10  beautification project in 1980. It is a large site

         11  with raised beds of vegetables and flowers and many

         12  mature fruit trees.

         13                 The garden is located across the

         14  street from an early childhood development center.

         15  Community Board 12 opposes the auction of garden

         16  sites in the district and promotes their long-term

         17  use as community gardens.

         18                 299. Locust Manor Neighborhood Civic

         19  Association. 12375/62,220. Locust Manor Neighborhood

         20  Association transformed this small oddly shaped lot

         21  into a community garden in 1988.

         22                 The site is filled with brightly

         23  painted planting beds and benches. The gardeners

         24  have installed a concrete chess table. The garden

         25  serves as a recreation space and gathering area for
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          2  seniors living in nearby single-family homes.

          3                 Community Board 12 opposes the

          4  auction of garden sites in its district and promotes

          5  their long-term use as community gardens.

          6                 300. Association for the advancement

          7  of the blind and retarded. 12401/40.

          8                 Association for the Advancement of

          9  the Blind and Retarded is a non-profit agency

         10  providing housing and social services for blind and

         11  developmentally disabled youth and adults. The

         12  organization recently received permission from the

         13  Department of Transportation to build a park-like

         14  garden for the use of its clients on a large

         15  triangular piece of land adjacent to the

         16  Association's building.

         17                 The garden is currently being

         18  developed the parcel on the auction is a 574 square

         19  foot portion of a larger site. The Association would

         20  like to prevent this small area from being sold

         21  because they fear that it will be used to park

         22  vehicles or other uses incompatible with the park

         23  they are constructing. The garden opened in 1991.

         24                 Community Board 12 opposes the

         25  auction of garden sites in its district and promotes
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          2  their long-term use as community gardens.

          3                 301. St. Albans Local Development.

          4  12599/6. This site was started as a memorial garden

          5  in 1980, however, there has not been an active

          6  community group gardening on this site for several

          7  years. Greenthumb considers this site currently

          8  inactive. Community Board 12 opposes the auction of

          9  garden sites in its district and promotes their

         10  long-term use as community gardens.

         11                 302. Seagirt Community Group,

         12  15806/4.

         13                 Seagirt Community Group started this

         14  large vegetable garden located in an undeveloped

         15  area of Far Rockaway in 1992. It produces large

         16  amounts of fruits and vegetables to be used by

         17  mostly elderly gardeners and their neighbors,

         18  providing an important source of health food for

         19  seniors on a limited income.

         20                 The Bronx. Many gardens flourished in

         21  the South Bronx during the years of New York City's

         22  Fiscal Crisis, despite urban decay neighbors refused

         23  to abandon their communities and instead united to

         24  clean up dozens of vacant lots thereby transforming

         25  them into unique oases that reflected the myriad of
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          2  ethnicities and gardening traditions of Bronx

          3  residents.

          4                 Today's revitalized economy has

          5  jeopardized many Bronx Community Gardens, as new

          6  Housing and Economic Developments are built.

          7                 In response to these threats the

          8  community boards of the South Bronx are reviewing

          9  their garden sites in order to determine which

         10  gardens should be recommended for permanent

         11  preservation as gardens.

         12                 303. Congregational Church of North

         13  New York 228/1, 2, 3, 4. In 1997 this garden was

         14  created by members of the Congressional Church of

         15  North New York. In its first season, members

         16  witnessed the community unite as neighbors and

         17  volunteers helped clean up the once vacant and

         18  trash-filled lots. Today the garden is used and

         19  tended by members of congregation and members of St.

         20  Mary's Episcopal Church.

         21                 Plans for this year include adding

         22  benches and hosting a neighborhood block party.

         23                 The garden is open three hours a day

         24  for residents of the community and whenever

         25  gardeners are present.
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          2                 Community Board 1 has issued a

          3  statement opposing the auction of this garden.

          4                 304. Neighborhood Advisory Committee.

          5  2307-13. Neighborhood Advisory Committee Garden was

          6  founded in 1983 by volunteers from the community

          7  resource center for the developmentally disabled, a

          8  not-for-profit agency that operates eight group

          9  homes for persons with developmental disabilities.

         10                 The garden is designed to be

         11  wheelchair assessable. It includes mature planting

         12  of fruit trees, vegetables and flowers. The garden

         13  is used by local residents, as well as the scouts of

         14  America, Pack No. 139, the Immaculate Conception

         15  School and Head Start Program, Teen Youth Group from

         16  the New York Foundling Mott Haven Prevention Center

         17  and the Marcus Garvey Child Development Center.

         18                 The volunteers of the Neighborhood

         19  Advisory Committee are well organized and have

         20  extensive political support. This garden is located

         21  in the Melrose neighborhood which is already

         22  scheduled to lose many gardens through the Melrose

         23  Commons Development Plan.

         24                 Community Board 1 has issued a

         25  statement opposing the auction of this garden.
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          2                 305. Dilia Group. 2402/4. Students

          3  from PS 29 join senior citizens every spring to

          4  plant in this five-year-old garden founded in 1994.

          5  Most of the tomatoes and peppers of the garden are

          6  distributed to the needy and also shared at the many

          7  summer picnics the garden hosts.

          8                 The garden is well maintained with a

          9  small section of greenery accompanied by a small

         10  tree in the front section of the site and an open

         11  gathering space with play equipment in the rear.

         12                 The garden is used as a meeting point

         13  for summer field trips for neighborhood children,

         14  while local residents and friends from outside the

         15  neighborhood frequently gather in the garden for

         16  domino matches and barbecues.

         17                 Community Board 1 has issued a

         18  statement opposing the auction of this garden.

         19                 306. Grant Avenue Neighborhood

         20  Association. 2448/11. In 1990 this former dumping

         21  ground was converted into a beautiful community

         22  garden. This garden caters mostly to area senior

         23  citizens. Last summer 51 seniors came together for

         24  their annual barbecue. The gardeners distribute

         25  their harvest to less fortunate neighbors.
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          2                 Gardeners at Grand Avenue work

          3  closely with the New York Botanical Garden, Bronx

          4  Green Up Program. This garden has the support of

          5  Community Board 4 to remain as a permanent garden

          6  site.

          7                 307. Sherman Avenue Association.

          8  2455/37. Sherman Avenue Association was started in

          9  1987. This popular garden is very active in

         10  community affairs. The garden volunteers sponsor a

         11  block party every year that is attended by hundreds

         12  by community residents and children.

         13                 Gardeners also participate in the

         14  neighborhood watch programs and serve on the 44th

         15  Precinct Community Council. Due to their careful

         16  stewardship of the garden and block, Sherman Avenue

         17  Association was able to have street trees planted on

         18  their street.

         19                 The garden serves children from PS

         20  166 and several day care centers and also serves as

         21  a gathering space for area senior citizens.

         22                 This garden has the support of

         23  Community Board 4 to remain as a permanent garden

         24  site.

         25                 308. Roberto Clemente Garden.
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          2  2506/87, 88, 91. Roberto Clemente Garden was started

          3  in 1984. Operated in conjunction with several other

          4  community gardens on Shakespeare and Woodycrest

          5  Avenues. The Garden group is attempting to clean up

          6  an entire neighborhood by transforming vacant lots

          7  into community gardens.

          8                 Roberto Clemente Garden produces

          9  fruit in raised beds and is filled with colorful

         10  flowers. A large mural graces the side of an

         11  adjacent abandoned building. The tenants

         12  associations of neighboring buildings on the

         13  Anderson Avenue HDFC are instrumental in maintaining

         14  these community parks.

         15                 309. Blue Jays Community Garden.

         16  2508/13. Blue Jays Community Garden started in 1997

         17  and was one of the most recent additions to the

         18  community garden network located on Shakespeare and

         19  Woodycrest Avenues. Although still a few years from

         20  featuring mature planting, it represents an

         21  important neighborhood clean-up effort and is

         22  bursting with annual flowers in season.

         23                 310. Mosaic Center. 2529/25, 28, 30.

         24  Mosaic Center had a greenthumb license since 1992.

         25  Gardeners have created a modest garden on this large
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          2  lot. Well maintained and kept clean of debris, the

          3  garden contains a few raised beds and a simple

          4  casita.

          5                 311. CherryTree Garden Block

          6  Association. 2564/10. CherryTree Association Garden

          7  was started in 1982 by a well organized group of

          8  activists focused on addressing environmental issues

          9  in the South Bronx. The group works with local

         10  children and the South Bronx Clean Air Coalition on

         11  a variety of projects, including a bike repair   and

         12  resell business, a kids camp out program, an arts

         13  and ecology workshop, including storytelling and

         14  puppetry.

         15                 CherryTree Garden Association also

         16  supplies free food to Mott Haven neighbors in need

         17  through a weekly soup distribution.

         18                 The garden is used by PS 30 and the

         19  congregation of St. Luke's Church. Members of the

         20  CherryTree Association have helped to organize other

         21  South Bronx Gardeners and activists and has started

         22  the More Gardens! Coalition.

         23                 The gardeners at CherryTree are known

         24  for their support, are known for their direct action

         25  legal tactics which have generated a good deal of
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          2  support for the preservation of community gardens in

          3  the City.

          4                 Community Board 1 has issued a

          5  statement opposing the auction of this garden.

          6                 312. Eagle Avenue Group. 2619/18.

          7  Eagle Avenue Group Garden, Palmas Del Caribe, was

          8  founded in 1995. Located on an unbuildable corner

          9  lot with a precipitous change in grade, Eagle Avenue

         10  Group Garden contains well-maintained decorative

         11  plantings of flowers and shrubs, raised beds for

         12  growing vegetables and a casita used as a meeting

         13  space. No housing exists on the garden side of the

         14  block. The garden serves a small group of neighbors

         15  in a semi-industrial area with little access to

         16  traditional parks.

         17                 The groups members are almost

         18  exclusively Spanish-speaking. Community Board 1 has

         19  issued a statement opposing the auction of this

         20  garden.

         21                 313. Cauldwell Youth Garden. 2623/58.

         22  Senior volunteers started this garden in 1976 and

         23  today over 25 continue to harvest vegetables for the

         24  community.

         25                 Students from PS 5 help plant seeds
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          2  and residents utilize the garden for community needs

          3  and block parties in the summer. The garden contains

          4  vegetable and flower planting, a small Casita and a

          5  children's play area.

          6                 Community board 1 has issued a

          7  statement opposing the auction of this garden.

          8                 314. 52 People for Progress. 2685/61.

          9  Started in 1985, over 65 volunteers now help

         10  maintain this garden and fruit trees with have

         11  matured to over 10 feet in height. The harvest is

         12  distributed to people throughout the community. The

         13  garden provides an adjacent green space to a

         14  playground used by neighborhood children. In the

         15  summer neighbors enjoy the cool shelter of the

         16  garden on Wednesday evenings, while listening to

         17  live jazz and sultan music.

         18                 315. Fort Apache Youth Center.

         19  2718/52, 53, 54. Fort Apache Youth Center was

         20  founded in 1981 as a part of a police athletic

         21  league program. This site contains a large mural,

         22  many picnic tables and large trees, which provide

         23  shade and space for gatherings.

         24                 316. Garden of Eden. 2746/53. Garden

         25  of Eden, is a large City farm with extensive
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          2  plantings of corn, green and other vegetables. It

          3  has a play area for children and a large casita

          4  which serves as a community meeting space. The

          5  garden is across the street from a school and is

          6  frequented by students on a regular basis. Garden

          7  membership consists of mostly Spanish-speaking

          8  residents who reside in several large buildings

          9  which overlook the gardens. The Garden of Eden was

         10  started in 1985.

         11                 317. Claremont Homeowners and Tenants

         12  Civic Improvement Association. 2887/12, 13, 198.

         13  Claremont Homeowners and Tenant Civic Improvement

         14  Associations, the Lord's Footstool Garden, began in

         15  1986 as a neighborhood improvement project. This

         16  small garden contains many evergreen shrubs and

         17  provides a space of green in a neighborhood

         18  dominated by hi-rise public housing.

         19                 The garden also produces food for the

         20  public housing tenants who join the garden during

         21  the summer months.

         22                 318. Young Mothers. 2923/5, 6, 8, 10

         23  and 12. In 1995 this site was leased for community

         24  gardening, however, the sponsoring group has not

         25  developed the site. Greenthumb currently considers
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          2  this garden inactive.

          3                 319. Tremont Community Senior

          4  Citizens Center, 3060/42. Tremont Community Senior

          5  Center started their garden in cooperation with

          6  South Bronx 2000 in 1983. It is used by all age

          7  groups of neighbors from infants to seniors. The

          8  garden is used for holiday picnics, birthday parties

          9  and neighborhood club meetings. The gardeners have

         10  sponsored regular community clean-up campaigns and

         11  run educational workshops on gardening for children

         12  and adults. Shade trees, vegetables and flower beds

         13  and a picnic area adjoin this attractive garden.

         14                 320. Belmont Little Farmers, 3078/69.

         15  Belmont Little Farmers was founded in 1975 and

         16  became a greenthumb garden in 1987. It is heavily

         17  used by about 30 members from the surrounding

         18  neighborhood, as well as parishioners of the local

         19  church.

         20                 Community gardeners distribute the

         21  produce grown in the garden between all garden

         22  members to ensure that each family gets a fair

         23  share.

         24                 The garden includes Hispanic and

         25  Italian immigrant families who share vegetable
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          2  varieties and growing practices from their

          3  homelands.

          4                 The garden holds regular barbecues

          5  and is open during the day for neighbors and nearby

          6  hospital employees to enter to have lunch.

          7                 321. Clinton Avenue Block

          8  Association, 3094/63. With the help of students from

          9  PS 234, this garden has grown into a resource for

         10  nutrients, fresh vegetables for the community senior

         11  citizens.

         12                 Started in 1985, the garden is one of

         13  the only area meeting points for local senior

         14  citizens. The garden is also host to tenant

         15  association meetings in the summer months.

         16                 322. 2120 Mapes Avenue, HDFC. 311/78

         17  and 2120. Mapes Avenue HDFC was started in 1990. The

         18  tenants of this building purchased an adjacent lot

         19  to use for parking and use the lot on the other side

         20  of the building for a garden. They have built a

         21  large barbecue area with picnic tables which are

         22  used for recreation by building tenants. The tenants

         23  association decided to paint a large decorative

         24  mural on the side of their building facing the

         25  garden.
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          2                 323. Concerned Tenants Group of Daly

          3  Avenue. 3125/35. Concerned Tenants Group of Daly

          4  Avenue Garden was founded in 1992. It contains a

          5  well-built gazebo over 20 raised beds and mature

          6  fruit and shade trees. This active garden group

          7  holds regular barbecues for local Fire Department,

          8  Police and Sanitation employees. The gardeners

          9  donate baskets of vegetables for local senior

         10  citizens and are trying to organize the local teams

         11  and after school activities.

         12                 Classes from PS 57 visit the garden

         13  and during the summer groups of children use the

         14  garden's small play pool and swingsets daily. The

         15  gardeners also organize field trips for area

         16  children.

         17                 324. Anthony Avenue Homeowner and

         18  Tenants Association. 3156/55. Kindergarten through

         19  Fourth Grade students from PS 96 and PS 121 ensure

         20  that this garden stays litter free. This park is a

         21  frequent lunch and meeting point for senior

         22  citizens. Many of these seniors help plant and

         23  harvest the garden's cucumbers, corn, eggplants and

         24  pumpkins, which are given to the needy.

         25                 The garden started in 1997.
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          2                 325. Association from Fordham to

          3  Burnside. 3163/5. In 1995, after a long struggle,

          4  this large lot was finally cleared of the mounds of

          5  trash that made this space a neighborhood eyesore. A

          6  new fence made it possible to finish the clean-up

          7  with the help of teens from local summer youth

          8  programs and neighborhood volunteers.

          9                 According to greenthumb, this garden

         10  is currently inactive.

         11                 326. Concerned Citizens of Davidson

         12  Avenue. 3199/46. Started in 1995, this creatively

         13  designed garden is located near the Bronx Zoo. It

         14  contains decorative plantings of flowers and

         15  vegetables and several large trees. The garden is

         16  used as a recreation space by local children. The

         17  gardeners provide workout equipment and other

         18  recreational opportunities for the kids.

         19                 Children designed and painted two

         20  murals in the garden. The garden provides much

         21  needed recreation space for local youth who,

         22  although they live adjacent to a large Bronx green

         23  space, are excluded from using it by the admission

         24  fees of the Bronx Zoo.

         25                 327. Bedford Mosholu Community
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          2  Association. 3292/86. This garden was started in

          3  1978 by area residents interested in growing

          4  vegetables to help feed their families. The NIDC,

          5  Neighborhood Initiative Development Committee After

          6  School Program sends its students to help maintain

          7  and keep the garden litter free.

          8                 The program helps the kids learn the

          9  fundamentals of gardening and teamwork through

         10  planting, watering and harvesting activities.

         11                 328. Manor Avenue Block Association.

         12  3176/59. Over 20 years this garden has shared its

         13  harvest with the local residents. Members of this

         14  garden work closely with the members of the block

         15  association to coordinate a neighborhood block watch

         16  program that provides security to residents.

         17                 This garden was started in 1980 and

         18  through the years residents have witnessed their

         19  community become a safer, friendlier place to live.

         20                 329. Zerega Avenue Civic Association.

         21  3989/9, 10, 11. Zerega Avenue Civic Association

         22  Garden is located on a small triangular-shaped lot

         23  at the intersection of two streets in the capital

         24  hill neighborhood, on a block of mostly one and

         25  two-family homes. The garden was started as a
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          2  community beautification project in 1982 by the

          3  Zerega Avenue Civic Association. It is located

          4  directly across the street from a school and

          5  provides a colorful view, as well as a learning

          6  opportunity for children.

          7                 330. 211 Street and Carlisle Place

          8  Block Association. 4660-34, 38. This garden was

          9  founded in 1983. The garden's core group of five

         10  volunteers grow a variety of herbs and vegetables

         11  and tend the garden's fig and pear trees.

         12                 A grape arbor with 15 fruiting vines

         13  is located in the rear of the site. Community Board

         14  12 has issued a statement opposing the auction of

         15  these gardens.

         16                 331. 1100 Block Association, 223rd

         17  Street, 4901/23. 1100 Block Association 223rd Street

         18  was founded in 1987. It is immaculately maintained

         19  garden located on a narrow lot between single family

         20  housing.

         21                 It is planted with mature trees, a

         22  lawn, flower borders and shrubs.

         23                 Raised beds located in the rear of

         24  the garden are used for growing vegetables.

         25                 The garden is surrounded by a three
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          2  foot high fence and serves not only as an extension

          3  of the backyards that surround the homes, but as a

          4  public meeting space for all to enjoy.

          5                 Community Board 12 has issued a

          6  statement opposing the auction of the garden.

          7                 Staten Island. Due to its suburban

          8  character, very few community gardens exist in

          9  Staten Island.

         10                 332. St. George Community Garden,

         11  31/3. This site was leased for community gardening

         12  in 1995. For the last several years there has been

         13  little gardening activity at this site. Greenthumb

         14  considers this garden currently inactive.

         15                 Brooklyn. Some of the oldest gardens

         16  in New York are located in Brooklyn's Brownstone

         17  Neighborhoods. These mature gardens provide much

         18  needed recreational space in a borough which is

         19  greatly in need of parkland for a large population.

         20                 Brooklyn's gardens reflect the

         21  diversity of the many immigrant and ethnic groups of

         22  the borough.

         23                 33. PS 141K. Miracle Garden. 108/1,2.

         24  PS 141K Miracle Garden is a small corner lot

         25  directly adjacent to the Manhattan Bridge entrance
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          2  ramp. The garden was founded in 1995 as a part of

          3  the curriculum of PS 141K, an elementary school

          4  across the street.

          5                 The garden contains vegetable beds

          6  which are assigned to various classrooms of the

          7  school and mature trees. It is used every year to

          8  teach science.

          9                 The garden provides an important

         10  respite from the noise and fumes generated by the

         11  heavy traffic on the Manhattan Bridge. This property

         12  is restricted by zoning to open space usage only.

         13                 Community Board 12 supports the

         14  permanent preservation of this site as a garden.

         15                 334. 200 Bergen Street Block

         16  Association. 383/38, 39. Started in 1981. This

         17  garden is integral to its neighborhood's identity,

         18  providing a space for the annual watermelon and

         19  Octoberfest sponsored by its block and neighborhood

         20  associations.

         21                 The new lattice summer house provides

         22  ample space for gathering ceremonies and

         23  celebrations. This garden has hosted the annual

         24  neighborhood pride rally, and served as a staging

         25  ground for the community's participation and the
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          2  national night out against crime demonstrations.

          3                 In 1995, the Association awarded

          4  three local three local youths $100 scholarships,

          5  the first in their families to attend college. This

          6  property is restricted by zoning to open space uses

          7  only.

          8                 Community Board 2 supports the

          9  permanent preservation of this site as a garden.

         10                 335. Warren Street Garden. 934/66 and

         11  St. Mark's Garden, 1144/63. These gardens, both

         12  located between Fourth and Fifth Avenues, have

         13  recently been joined to create a single block

         14  through garden, unique to this and other

         15  neighborhoods.

         16                 St. Mark's portion is over 30 years

         17  old, predating even the City's Greenthumb program,

         18  while the Warran Street portion is over 20 years

         19  old. The gardeners have hosted numerous block

         20  association gatherings, sponsored activities for

         21  children, created educational opportunities in

         22  association with Brooklyn Botanical Garden's

         23  Greenbridge Program.

         24                 Community Board 6 supports the

         25  permanent preservation of this site as a garden.
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          2                 336. Lincoln Berkely Garden. 950/16.

          3  This group has turned a vacant lot into a lovely

          4  garden, complete with flowers, a rock garden,

          5  climbing vines, rose bushes and nine fruit trees

          6  planted among the periphery.

          7                 Started in 1979, Lincoln Berkely

          8  Community Garden is one of the oldest gardens in

          9  Brooklyn. The garden is a park-like oasis, welcoming

         10  the community as well as wildlife for peaceful

         11  enjoyment and is surrounded by a wrought iron fence

         12  funded by donations from local merchants banks and

         13  the Parkslope Civic Council.

         14                 Gardeners have coordinated a program

         15  with PS 282 and Park Place Middle School to use the

         16  garden as part of their art and science curricula.

         17                 The gardeners and their neighbors are

         18  convinced that the garden has contributed

         19  significantly to the property values on the block.

         20  The garden serves as a small vest pocket park

         21  overlooked by many buildings on a heavily

         22  residential block.

         23                 Community Board No. 6 supports a

         24  permanent preservation of this site as a garden.

         25                 337. President Street Garden. 955/49.
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          2  President Street Greening Committee Garden has a

          3  distinctively Hispanic flavor that is reflective of

          4  the neighbors who have been tending this garden

          5  since 1987. It has hosted numbers block association

          6  gatherings and served as served as a safe haven and

          7  educational center for the neighborhood children.

          8                 The site has also been host to

          9  gardening workshops and a composting project in

         10  conjunction with the Brooklyn Botanic Garden's

         11  QueenBridge Program.

         12                 Gardeners work with local youth on

         13  arts projects during the summer. Community Board 6

         14  supports the permanent preservation of this site as

         15  a garden.

         16                 338. 12th Street Community Garden,

         17  1028/7. 12th Street Garden has been proposed as a

         18  site of a group home for six medically frail and

         19  developmentally disabled youth sponsored by the

         20  Mercy Home, a religious charity.

         21                 An agreement has been reached between

         22  the gardeners and the sisters of Mercy Home to

         23  develop the residence, but keep an area of the

         24  garden site as a garden which would be used as an

         25  activity for the group home's residents.
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          2                 Community Board 6 has been assisting

          3  Mercy Home in gaining site control for this project,

          4  and has issued a resolution in favor of the garden

          5  housing joint project. Although this site received a

          6  greenthumb lease in 1997, it had been a garden and

          7  playground since the early 1980s.

          8                 339. St. Mark's Block Association.

          9  1144/63. This garden has been a part of the Prospect

         10  Heights Community for over 25 years, providing a

         11  place for children to play, adults to socialize and

         12  seniors to relax outdoors.

         13                 The garden's presence has helped to

         14  turn around a block that was once plagued by drug

         15  dealers and illegal dumping.

         16                 The garden has recruited over 50

         17  members since 1998. Community Board 8 supports the

         18  preservation of this site as a community garden.

         19                 340. Unified Lincoln Place Block

         20  Association. 1178/65. Unified Lincoln Place Block

         21  Association community garden is a well-established

         22  garden founded in 1992 with a wrought iron fence,

         23  many mature trees, benches and planting areas.

         24                 However, the garden was closed in

         25  1997 due to construction on the Franklin Avenue
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          2  Shuttle Train trench.

          3                 The gardeners have recently regained

          4  access to the site from the MTA, and would like to

          5  revitalize this area as a community park.

          6                 Community Board 8 supports the

          7  preservation of this site as a community garden.

          8                 341. Pacific Street Gardeners,

          9  1200/700. Started in 1984, a core group of seven

         10  gardeners grow a variety of flowers, fruits and

         11  vegetables today. One of the care-takers of the

         12  garden is involved in a Washington Masonic Temple.

         13  The garden is maintained with the help of many

         14  neighborhood children and men from the nearby

         15  Bedford Homeless Shelter. Each year members of the

         16  garden hold a Labor Day barbecue at which the

         17  harvest produce is shared with the neighbors.

         18                 Community Board 8 supports the

         19  preservation of this site as a community garden.

         20                 342. Momma Dee's 1225/10. Since 1994

         21  this has been a vegetable garden that provides food

         22  for its members and the community. The garden is

         23  used for summer picnics and barbecues. Groups of

         24  neighborhood children often join the eight core

         25  garden volunteers working at the site.
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          2                 The garden received money from the

          3  Brooklyn Borough President's Office to construct a

          4  chainlink fence around the garden. Community Board 8

          5  supports the preservation of the site as a community

          6  garden.

          7                 3433/344. Imani Community Housing and

          8  Revitalization Corp. 342/3-5. The Director of Imani

          9  House says that there is no longer a garden on this

         10  site. Greenthumb considers this site currently

         11  active.

         12                 346-346. St. John's Renaissance

         13  Garden. 1387/34 and Ralph Lincoln Service Center

         14  1387/39, 40. Lot 39 is not up for auction.

         15                 Ralph Lincoln Service Center. St.

         16  John's Place Renaissance Garden are two garden sites

         17  founded in 1991 and 1994, maintained by the Ralph

         18  Lincoln Service Center. A non-profit community

         19  development group focused on youth programs,

         20  recreation help and senior citizens' welfare.

         21                 St. John's Renaissance site, lot 34,

         22  has a long-term lease with Greenthumb which is not

         23  supposed to expire until 2004. However, DCAS

         24  recently cancelled this lease without explanation or

         25  notification to the gardeners. These two gardens are
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          2  used for children's programming and as a playground

          3  and ecology learning center for the day care center

          4  located in Ralph Lincoln Service Center's adjacent

          5  building.

          6                 This sponsoring organization has

          7  purchased one to two lots, making up the Ralph

          8  Lincoln Service Center Garden. Only one-half of the

          9  garden, the remaining lot 40, is on for auction.

         10  Community Board 8 supports the preservation of these

         11  sites as community gardens.

         12                 347. The Holy Deliverance Community

         13  Temple. 1533/49, 53. Holy Deliverance Community

         14  Garden is one of the two garden sites developed in

         15  1993 by this neighborhood church.

         16                 Although the garden was used as a

         17  resource for the congregation today, its primary

         18  constituents are senior citizens. The other Holy

         19  Deliverance Garden site was recently included in an

         20  HPD housing development plan.

         21                 348. LDC of Broadway. 1582/21. LDC of

         22  Broadway, this tiny 620 square foot site, was

         23  transformed into a garden in 1983 by Local

         24  Development Corporation of Broadway, a

         25  non-for-profit group focusing on economic
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          2  development of the Broadway commercial strip in

          3  Brooklyn. The LDC cleaned and fenced the lot with a

          4  wrought iron fence and planted several trees and

          5  ornamental plants. The LDC also repaired the

          6  sidewalk in front of the garden and furnished the

          7  site with lighting at night in order to deter

          8  illegal dumping and crime.

          9                 John The Baptist Community Center,

         10  1586/41. Fifteen regular volunteers maintain this

         11  garden that is utilized by over 500 people. PS 274

         12  and PS 81 students take various after school classes

         13  in the garden.

         14                 Every year members of the Traveling

         15  Theater of Puerto Rico perform on the garden's

         16  stage. The garden maintains ties with Police

         17  Precincts 79, 81, 83 and 90, and utilizes volunteers

         18  from the juvenile delinquent protection program, as

         19  well as a methadone program for recovering addicts.

         20                 Each year this garden is host to

         21  numerous holiday parades and activities for

         22  children, including an Easter Parade, a Halloween

         23  Parade and an Easter Egg Hunt. The garden was

         24  started in 1982.

         25                 350. Greene Reid and Patchen Block
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          2  Association. 1622/5,6. Greene Reid and Patchen Block

          3  Association started a vegetable garden on this large

          4  lot in 1981. The garden produces large qualities of

          5  fruits and vegetables which are shared with

          6  neighbors, particularly senior citizens.

          7                 The garden sits on a lot which abuts

          8  the back yards of the adjacent buildings from

          9  Lexington and Greene Avenues. The garden provides

         10  security and a pleasing view to these neighbors.

         11                 351. Greene Block Association.

         12  1622/32. Greene Block Association is a small 25 by

         13  100 mixed vegetable and flower garden started in

         14  1980 by Greene Avenue Block Association.

         15                 The garden is used to produce food

         16  which is shared with local senior citizens and the

         17  homeless. This garden and another community garden

         18  on the block, Greene Avenue Cedar Tree, provide

         19  important recreational activities and meeting and

         20  greeting spaces for area senior citizens to help

         21  keep this immaculate brownstone block looking good.

         22                 This is probably the oldest

         23  consistently active community garden in Bedford

         24  Stuyvesant.

         25                 352. Patchen Avenue United Block
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          2  Association. 1623/4. Patchen Avenue United Block

          3  Association started their garden in 1981. A new

          4  group of gardeners took over the venerable garden in

          5  1995 from the original elderly block residents.

          6                 The new group painted the fences and

          7  raised beds of fresh bright white and constructed a

          8  tidy gravel walkway.

          9                 The garden contains a picnic area,

         10  raised vegetable and flower beds, and many

         11  ornamental shrubs. It serves as a meeting area for

         12  block residents, particularly seniors.

         13                 353. Central Bainbridge Block

         14  Association-1683/90, 91. The garden, started in

         15  1982, provides the community with a variety of fresh

         16  vegetables, including sweet potatoes, lima beans,

         17  sweep peas and collards.

         18                 Twelve volunteers from the

         19  Neighborhood Block Association manage the garden

         20  activities and host regular visits for students from

         21  PS 40 to teach them how to grow vegetables.

         22                 354. The 900 Bedford Block

         23  Association. 1762/18, 19. For 11 years this garden

         24  has helped improve safety and quality of life in

         25  this Brooklyn neighborhood. The garden is primarily
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          2  used to grow vegetables. Most of the harvests are

          3  used by gardeners themselves while some is shared

          4  with the needy.

          5                 355. Hart Street Community Gardening.

          6  1768/65,66. Started in 1984, this small garden has

          7  been a dependable source of produce for its

          8  gardeners and the community. Last year growers

          9  donated much of their harvests to a local family of

         10  five who couldn't afford fresh vegetables.

         11                 Local volunteers teemed up with the

         12  Center for Alternative Sentencing and Employment

         13  Services, CASES, for the last year's spring

         14  cleaning.

         15                 356. Hancock Neighborhood Block

         16  Association, Garden of Hope. 1841/14. Hancock

         17  Neighborhood Block Association, Garden of Hope, was

         18  started in 1982. It is a narrow space between two

         19  brownstone buildings. It is planted with a lawn and

         20  some ornamental shrubs and is divided by a paved

         21  path with a seating area in the rear.

         22                 The site is fenced with a low wrought

         23  iron picket fence and serves as a casual meeting

         24  area for block residents.

         25                 356. United Herkimer Garden Club.
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          2  1860/62. United Herkimer Garden Club was established

          3  in 1981. Members of this garden club have succeeded

          4  in planting three flourishing gardens in an area

          5  which stands nearly two blocks. Many area students

          6  use this garden as a quiet refuge to work on

          7  homework. All of the vegetables grown in the garden

          8  are given to the needy. Community barbecues are

          9  frequent on summer weekends.

         10                 358. Clifton Place Block Association.

         11  1952/3. This community garden holds various

         12  festivals each summer for children, including

         13  painting T-shirts and mask making. Most of the

         14  vegetables are grown for use by the garden members.

         15  The extras are given to the needy.

         16                 Over the years this garden has hosted

         17  many different kinds of gatherings, including

         18  memorial services for neighbors and a flea market.

         19  The garden was founded in 1988.

         20                 359. South Second Street Family and

         21  Friends. 1953/41 and Franklin Avenue Community

         22  Garden, 1953/42.

         23                 These gardens lost a lot of mature

         24  trees to the Asian long-horned beetle last year and

         25  there was really no gardening activity on the site,
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          2  except for the tree removal.

          3                 GreenThumb considers these sites

          4  currently inactive.

          5                 360. Classon Family Greene DA,

          6  1953/57,58. Thirteen years after its opening in

          7  1986, this garden's mostly senior citizen volunteers

          8  continue to share their harvest with the needy.

          9                 The garden's five apple trees provide

         10  energy and shade to overheated children in the

         11  summertime.

         12                 361. Hollandback Community Garden

         13  Association. 1962/69. Situated in the Clinton Hills

         14  section of Brooklyn, Hollandback is the only public

         15  green space in the neighborhood.

         16                 The majority of the people at this

         17  garden are senior citizens, three of which were

         18  involved with starting the garden 19 years ago.

         19                 The garden is also used by children

         20  from PS 11 and PS 287. After the news about the May

         21  auction, children from both schools wrote letters to

         22  City Council Member Mary Pinkett and the Mayor on

         23  behalf of their garden, attended the public hearing

         24  and decorated the garden's fence with ribbons and

         25  signs.
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          2                 Three classes from PS 11 are planning

          3  and designing their garden plot for this season. A

          4  second grade class from PS 287 have planned an

          5  experiment to study the effects of the sun on plant

          6  growth.

          7                 For their experiment the class plans

          8  to grow the same plants at two different community

          9  gardens, one with full sun and one with shade. The

         10  gardens they plan to use for this experiment are the

         11  Hollandback Garden and the Children's Garden.

         12  2099/43. The garden was started in 1980. Community

         13  Board 2 supports the permanent preservation of this

         14  site as a garden.

         15                 362. Classon Fulgate Block

         16  Association, 1984/62. Since 1984 the garden has been

         17  host to numerous neighborhood arts and crafts

         18  festivals.

         19                 Each year the gardeners sponsor

         20  Independence, Memorial and Labor Day celebrations.

         21  The garden members grow shrubs and flowers and

         22  vegetables that are shared with anyone in need. A

         23  neighborhood day care center uses the garden daily

         24  for a children's play area. An impressive mural

         25  featuring community members from the past represent
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          2  the intergenerational nature of this 25-year-old

          3  garden.

          4                 363. Group of South Oxford/South

          5  Portland Block Association. 2099/43. Mrs. Murray

          6  from the second grade class from PS 287 has been

          7  working very hard to save their garden. Their

          8  efforts have not gone unrecognized.

          9                 The class was featured in a Daily

         10  News article in March. The children have learned

         11  about community gardening through a cross

         12  disciplinarian approach, they have used math skills

         13  to measure and record the temperature in the garden.

         14  They have learned about City government with their

         15  Campaign to Save the Gardens. They have used their

         16  writing skills to write letters to their elected

         17  officials, and they have planned many scientific

         18  experiments to start this growing season. The garden

         19  was started in 1992.

         20                 364. Marcy Garden Association,

         21  2240/40,41. Marcy Garden Association, which was

         22  established in 1980, maintains this garden which is

         23  home to vegetable beds, a sitting area and a small

         24  casita. This site has been selected as a housing

         25  site over two years ago by the New York City
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          2  Economic Development Corporation. The gardeners have

          3  been fighting to keep their garden but have been

          4  discouraged by the slow pace of the development

          5  project.

          6                 365. Happy Hour Garden. 2240/47.

          7  Happy Hour Garden was founded along with Marcy

          8  Garden by a small group of neighbors in 1980. The

          9  garden is a small lot located in a semi-industrial

         10  area with very few houses.

         11                 The garden provides a recreational

         12  activity for the mostly elderly residents of the

         13  adjacent buildings.

         14                 Recently new housing was developed on

         15  a large lot adjoining the garden and the garden

         16  remains as one of the only green spaces in this

         17  area.

         18                 Happy Hour Garden and Marcy Garden

         19  are two of the oldest gardens in the Greenthumb

         20  inventory. A large portion of this garden's produce

         21  is donated by Trinity Human Services, an

         22  organization that helps the poor.

         23                 366. Northside Community Development

         24  Council, Inc. 2337/1. Northside Community

         25  Development Council started their small corner
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          2  community garden in 1980 as a neighborhood

          3  beautification project. Today the garden contains

          4  mature trees and decorative plantings and is used by

          5  neighborhood children and seniors for relaxation and

          6  education.

          7                 The Northside Community Development

          8  Council is an incorporated, non-profit organization

          9  actively involved in many neighborhood issues,

         10  including environmental protection and affordable

         11  housing.

         12                 367. Williamsburg Garden. 3043/13,

         13  14. Williamsburg Garden was begun by a

         14  multi-cultural group of neighbors in 1986. It is a

         15  large grassy site across from a paved schoolyard

         16  playground in a heavily residential area. The garden

         17  maintains a formal design, with planting areas on

         18  either side of a grassy path, leading to an archway

         19  and a flagpole.

         20                 The rear of the garden contains a

         21  barbecue area and picnic table which are used for

         22  neighborhood gatherings. The garden makes a nice

         23  place and compliments its neighbors and appears to

         24  be almost an extension to the nearby playground and

         25  school.
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          2                 368. Flushing Avenue Tenants

          3  Association. 3155/20. Started in 1986, the garden

          4  consists of a narrow lot on a commercial street,

          5  between two of the few remaining apartment buildings

          6  in the semi-industrial area.

          7                 The garden has very elaborate and

          8  brightly painted wooden fences and gazebos, a large

          9  decorative planting area in front, and raised beds

         10  for vegetables in the back. The gardeners have

         11  created a permanent barbecue area for roasting pigs,

         12  which are shared with neighbors during summer

         13  celebrations. Gardeners place all produce grown on a

         14  table in the garden for visitors to sample and

         15  share.

         16                 This block is already overburdened

         17  with the fumes and noise of heavy truck traffic and

         18  will be quite desolate if this garden is eliminated.

         19                 369. Peoples Park/Youth City Little

         20  League, 3283/1, 3, 4. This large and

         21  well-established garden located on the busy Broadway

         22  commercial strip in Williamsburg provides an

         23  important play space for local children. The garden

         24  has been designed with many areas for running and

         25  play, as well as mature trees and shrubs to provide
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          2  shade and relief from the noise of the traffic and

          3  adjacent elevated train.

          4                 The gardeners host frequent events in

          5  the summer including Puerto Rican cultural festivals

          6  and sponsor the local little league team. The garden

          7  was started in 1984.

          8                 Community Board 4 supports permanent

          9  preservation of this site as a garden.

         10                 370. Woodbine Street Association,

         11  3359/28. Woodbine Street Association Garden was

         12  established by a block resident, Nippy Green, in

         13  1985, and is now named in his memory.

         14                 The garden is a small immaculately

         15  tended garden between two houses. It contains mature

         16  trees and shrubs and a covered sitting area.

         17                 This is one of the few community

         18  gardens left in a densely populated Bushwick

         19  neighborhood. Recent construction of housing in the

         20  area has eliminated many mature gardens in the area,

         21  which is poorly served by traditional parkland. This

         22  garden serves as a quiet weekend oasis for neighbors

         23  on the crowded residential block.

         24                 371. Madison Street Block

         25  Association. 3366/23. This garden is a small lot
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          2  between two houses on a residential street. The

          3  garden, which was started in 1985, contains mature

          4  trees and decorative planting.

          5                 GreenThumb considers this garden

          6  currently inactive.

          7                 372. Decatur and Bushwick

          8  Association. 3433/14. For 12 years this garden has

          9  served neighborhood children and parents and

         10  provided the needy with vegetables and grapes.

         11                 Many area residents take advantage of

         12  the space for annual garage sales and block parties.

         13  The garden volunteers continue to help senior

         14  citizens maintain their homes by assisting them with

         15  difficult garden chores.

         16                 373. Cooper Street Gardeners,

         17  3438/24. This small garden was volunteers of all

         18  different ages, provides mostly vegetables and some

         19  flowers. Crops are shared with those who ask.

         20                 Summer card games and barbecues are

         21  frequent activities among the garden's senior

         22  citizen members. Cooper Street Garden was started in

         23  1982.

         24                 374. Contented Garden. 3457/3.

         25  Contented Garden was started in 1993 by the Bushwick
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          2  Information Coordinating Action Committee, an

          3  umbrella group of block associations in the Bushwick

          4  area involved in housing youth groups and senior

          5  citizen activities.

          6                 The garden consists of a small tidy

          7  lot with raised beds and ornamental planting between

          8  two houses on busy Bushwick Avenue. The site is used

          9  by the Committee to run various programs and is also

         10  used by the neighbors to grow food.

         11                 375-376. Aberdeen Street II Garden

         12  Project. 3467/27 and Infant Jesus Garden, 3468/22.

         13  These two gardens were started in 1989 and run by

         14  the Sisters of Mercy, and order of Catholic nuns who

         15  follow the teachings of Mother Theresa.

         16                 The nuns in this convent are a

         17  contemplative order and use the garden primarily for

         18  meditation.

         19                 The two gardens are located on a

         20  block dominated by a large Catholic school and a

         21  rectory of Our Lady Lourdes, RCC.

         22                 Adjacent to the Our Lady of Lourdes

         23  at rectory is a large church-owned property which is

         24  used as a community garden and a playground for the

         25  children attending Catholic school. Together these
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          2  parcels form a large park-like area.

          3                 377. Shaw Block Association. 3682/50.

          4  This garden is one of the two formerly located on

          5  the residential block in the midst of the East New

          6  York industrial park.

          7                 The garden across the street from

          8  Shaw Block Association Garden was taken in 1998 by

          9  the New York City Economic Development Corporation

         10  as a part of the redevelopment plan for the

         11  industrial park.

         12                 The mostly Spanish-speaking residents

         13  of this block began developing this narrow lot in

         14  1989 as a vegetable garden and children's play area.

         15                 This site contains a shaded sitting

         16  area, as well as a kiddy pool and other children's

         17  toys. Outside of this block there are very few

         18  houses, most of the surrounding properties in the

         19  area are currently scheduled for industrial and

         20  commercial development.

         21                 378. Powell Street Block Association.

         22  3694/16. Powell Street Block Association is a very

         23  large site across from City Park near the elevated

         24  train tracks. It contains a picnic area and a large

         25  number of vegetable beds which are well used by
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          2  community members. The gardeners at Powell Street

          3  have joined the Brownsville Garden Coalition, and

          4  are helping their neighbors lobby the local

          5  community board for preservation of the gardens in

          6  the area.

          7                 The garden provides a recreational

          8  space for neighbors who have moved into the newly

          9  built affordable housing on the adjacent blocks.

         10                 The garden was started in 1991 and

         11  has received an influx of many new gardeners,

         12  plantings and activity in the last couple of years.

         13                 379. East New York Urban Youth Corps.

         14  3956/51. This site was leased for gardening in 1996

         15  but it was never developed as a garden. GreenThumb

         16  considers this site currently inactive.

         17                 380. Block Association of Hendrix

         18  Street. 4058/121. For the past two years this

         19  garden's caretaker has been sick. Efforts to recruit

         20  new members have not been successful. GreenThumb

         21  considers this site to be currently inactive.

         22                 381. Sheffield South Block

         23  Association, 4298/65. For five years this garden has

         24  had regular visits from children from the nearby day

         25  care center. From tomatoes to pumpkins, a group of
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          2  eight adults grow all varieties of vegetables. This

          3  garden's new patio has witnessed countless domino

          4  and checker matches between local senior citizens.

          5                 The patio is also used for summer

          6  weekend barbecues and holiday festivals.

          7                 382. Euclid/Pine Street Association.

          8  4461/9. Eighteen years ago neighbors came together

          9  to turn this small corner lot in East New York into

         10  a thriving community farm. Today the garden boasts

         11  harvests of fresh vegetables from tomatoes to

         12  collard greens, as well as fresh cherries, pears and

         13  flowers.

         14                 Membership is mostly made up of

         15  senior citizens, many of whom have lived in the

         16  neighborhood since they were children. Last year a

         17  new gazebo was built to shelter neighborhood

         18  gatherings. Children from local PS 242 lived at the

         19  garden to help with clean-up activities and to learn

         20  about planting vegetables and fruits.

         21                 This property is restricted by zoning

         22  to open space uses only.

         23                 383. Lincoln Road Block Association.

         24  5030/23. This is an attractive vegetable garden

         25  founded in 1992 and used by senior citizen residents
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          2  of this community of Caribbean immigrants.

          3                 There are very few parks in the

          4  densely populated Flatbush area and Councilwoman Una

          5  Clarke has requested that this site be drawn from

          6  the auction in order to construct a combination

          7  senior citizens' park and children's playground in

          8  cooperation with the gardeners.

          9                 384. Rogers/Tilden/Veronica Place

         10  Block Association. 5128/70. Rogers/Tilden/Veronica

         11  Place Block Association is an attractive vegetable

         12  garden founded in 1983 and used by several area

         13  churches as a meeting place and a place to grow

         14  vegetables which are shared with area seniors and

         15  the needy.

         16                 Councilwoman Una Clarke had also

         17  requested that the site be removed from the auction

         18  as Flatbush greatly needs more parks and open space.

         19                 385. Green Island Garden. 7066/23.

         20  The garden lot is part of a large piece of open land

         21  in Coney Island which is scheduled for development.

         22  There are only a couple of gardeners who use the

         23  site, however they have renewed their license to

         24  garden every year.

         25                 The garden contains a casita and a
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          2  few vegetable planting beds. The garden was started

          3  in 1992 and is one of the few Coney Island gardens

          4  which have not been eliminated by development plans.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:45 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 19th day of April 1999.
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